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CHAPTER 1
THEN AND NOW

E story of Labuan in those forgotten years
fore Queen Victoria received the island as a

aifuddin II of Brunei is unknown except for
incidents in the days of the East India
pany. But after the Queen’s government
ken possession, much interest was aroused.
was one hundred and ten years ago, and
¢ visited the island now and then for fifty
of that time.
set foot on its palm-lined beach in 1905,
ng from a German Lloyd steamer. The
| was noted for its ponies and its post office.
raced on the plain by the sea shore. The
fice sold rare stamps and sorted the
lon mail for a dozen destinations in Borneo.
pught the Chartered Company’s district

1” said M. W. H. Beech, ““there are no
nters here!” Passengers stepping out of
on Labuan airfield still ask that same
“(o where you like and see yourself,”
added hurling a heavy mail bag on to a
r twenty feet away and laying his hand on
, while every jack man of his staff ducked
eads. Men were gluttons for work in
s. They had to sort the London m
two or three hours.

8




8 LABUAN STORY

trade. The name Labuan is derived from the
Malay word laboh-an, meaning anchorage. The
association of Brunei and Labuan is a close one,
and the splendid and safe anchorage has always
been attractive to Malays, as it became later to
the British.

The right pronunciation of the names gives
equal weight to each of the three syllables:
La-bu-an, though often an accent is wrongly
thrown on the second syllable.

A map of the world will show Labuan as a
mere dot on the north west coast of Borneo.

Labuan is 35 square miles in area. It is
distant 40 miles by sea and river from the town
of Brunei. Temperatures range from 70 to 92
degrees Fahrenheit, The climate is largely
influenced by the prevailing monsoon. The

A house in Labuan today
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e rainfall is about 130 inches a year. The
in 1951 recorded a population of 8,784.

is made up of some 5,000 Kedayans and
s, 3,000 Chinese and 750 others.

* * *

e earliest map of Labuan is that prepared by
n Sir Edward Belcher of HM.S, Dido. It
ted 1884 and it can be seen in volume 2 of
Expedition to Borneo of H.M.S. Dide for
Suppression of Piracy” by Captain Hon.
“Keppell which was published in 1847.
map contains only a few names: North
e (now Bethune Head), North Bluff,
Pomt and Victoria Bay on the island,

oundings to the south and east.
mes were spelied differently in those days.
a pxty that more sailors’ names have not
ing capes, h
ys after them. Collier Head is named
dmiral Sir Francis Collier, whose head-
rs were at Singapore, (where Collyer Quay
ed after someone else) and Bethune Head
ed after Captain C. Drinkwater Bethune,
.N. of H.M.S. Driver who represented the
Government in some of its dealings with
Omar Ali.
iune is pronounced Beeton—Beeton Head.
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Brunei Bay was called Thunder and Lightning
Bay by naval men and it well deserves that name
because scarcely a day passes without some heavy
squall sweeping down from the mountains while
lightning flashes and thunder rolls and re-echoes
amongst the mountains.

The island’s scenery presents nothing bold or
grand and is a relief from the massive mountains,
the steaming swamps and the turbid rivers of the
mainland of Borneo. Frank Marryat, Midship
man, writing in 1843 about the appearance of the
Bornean coast from the deck of H.M.S. Samarang
(a ship whose name will often appear in these
pages ), complained that he had never been on a
coast which on inspection through a telescope
promised so much and on landing caused such
disappointment.  Disillusion need not hurt a
visitor landing on a sandy beech at Labuan.

Walking almost anywhere inland from a beach
he will see white pigeon orchids spraying like a
waterfall from a tree trunk, with ferns, palms
and tangled creepers about him. The estuaries
of the streams are fringed with mangrove and-
nipah swamp, and are best avoided.

No people lived permanently on the island
when the Sultan of Brunei ceded it to Queen
Victoria a hundred and ten years ago. A few
fisher-folk had built huts along the beach and
stayed a few days at a time to repair their nets
and fill their jars with fresh water.

The coconut and fruit groves belong for the
most part to Kedayans, a Muslim people, who
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come from the mainlard. |n the early dass
of these comers were slaves who fled from
Brunei masters to seek British protection.
were free men seeking land of their own.
edayans are industrious folk and good
3, and are engaged in rice planting, copra
tion fruit growing and rubber tapping.
also are fishermen.

* * *

¢ people on the mainland opposite are very
mixed. None knows whence the tribes on
inland of Borneo originally came.  There
curly-haired negrito like the Semang of
1yd, no fossil man and no prehistoric man.
anks. for twenty years Curator of the
m at Kuching, thought that these tribes
o scattered and altered by foreign and
s influence, were the original occupants of
Whether Dayak, or Kadayan, they are

Ploughing ricefield with buffalo
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held in every house, and neighbours invite each
other to share the good things. They have other
festivals. A burial holds the attention of a village -
for a day or two, and a wedding will stop all work
for a fortnight.

The Malays build wooden houses standing on
stilts over the water or in shade of trees. They
till their fields without undue exertion. They
prize leisure above wealth. They prefer family
lite at home to pioneering for gain in foreign
places. They wait patiently for a new life in the
arms of Allah, and meanwhile their island home
has the sad beauty of a neglected garden.

Everybody, who can, lives on a ‘floor elevated
a few feet from the ground, for there is too much
damp to live level with the earth.

These people belong to another world, a world
little understood by ourselves, but amongst them
are a few of the most honest, and most gentle
people in any station of life. Their thoughts may
be few, but so much the better.

* * *

Labuan is as healthy as any other place in this
part of the world. How bad its climate was in
the past may be read in the pages which follow,
but there is little to fear now. Perhaps the only
man to complain was the coffin maker who
watched his trade slacken because the Colonial
Surgeon raised the expectation of life so high.

“ Tolong-lah! Help! help!” said the old coffin
maker to the Doctor as he handed him the
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inary present of a bottle of Scotch whisky
ped loosely in a sheet of Chinese newspaper.
re you sick?” ask the Doctor.

0,1 am well”, replied the coffin maker.
Tolong! Tolong-lah!” The Doctor knew
he meant and laughed at the old villain,
e coffins could get no tenants.

ctors of the Rockefeller Foundation have
ed the island and organised treatments. The
e have benefited much from its generosity
cularly since the 1925.

* * *

herever Chinese settle there are always
y of babies to be seen, and Labuan is no
on. A mother can be seen carrying a
pole on her shoulders in the time-honoured
with baskets slung at either end. In one
t are vegetables for sale and in the other
t, to make the balance even, are one or
babies. Their wide open eyes watch the
by the roadside in panoramic style as the
et.circles on its string.
elfare societies look after family life in the
s and organise bazaars and lotteries
ise funds. Tickets in the lotteries are eagerly
‘ip.  One lady in charge was lecturing to
nt mothers about a lottery and paused for
ant to recover her breath. An expectant
~‘already mother of three, took advantage:
ment. :
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“] have no money to buy a ucke( in the
lottery,” she wailed, wiping her eyes with the
fringe of her cartwheel hat.

“Take this baby, and give me a ticket!” she
cried, ‘Dl sell her for a dollar!”.
That family ties can be loosened by lotteries
came as a new thought to the lecturer.
X X

One of the first sign posts the visitor will see
is a board pointing to McArthur Road. It is
named after M S. H. McArthur, a Malayan civil
servant, who was appointed Resident of Labuan
in 1906 and earned the distinction also of being
the first British Resident at the court of Brunei.
General .Douglas MacArthur, the famous
American General who commanded the allied
armies of the Pacific in the war against Japan
wisited Labuan. He had used Labuan as a
stepping stone to the conquest of the rest of
Borneo, and he landed two days after the Australian
Ninth Division get ashore. He saw the road
signpost standing solitary in a scene of devastation.

“MacArthur Road”! He exclaimed. *“Quick
work! Thanks alot!”
The roads in Labuan were re-named when
the Australian army landed in 1945 to dispossess
the Japanese. Each road was given a name in
alphabetical order. In old days before the war,
the British phonetic alphabet had a splendid and
traditional ring about it. ‘A’ for apples, ‘B’ for
Beer, and ‘L’ for London  They were all

pically British allusions, but after weeks of
gellberatlons during the war a committee, sitting
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said in Washington, decreed a new alphabet.
ture ‘ A’ should stand for Able, ‘B’ should
d for Baker, and ‘L’ was to stand, of all
gs, for love. So amongst the new names of
s in Labuan were Able, Baker, Charlie, Fox,
e, and of course McArthur. A few of these
es still survive, but most of the old names
been repainted on the road posts.

* * *

beach in Labuan is not a place where a man
puffing a pipe and looking seawards. At low
ery man, woman and child searches for
tle bivalve shells an inch or two below the
The little animal inside makes good bait.
igh tide the fisherman ashore throws his
while those in boats drag their nets, At
the fisherman holds a flaring torch in one
 and a three-pronged spear in the other, and
ries a basket on his back. The reefs and
are lit up as he spears the fish and the
s reflected far in the pools left by the
ng tide. -
isit to the beach at Layang.layang-an seven -
rom port is worth while for the traveller.
ived at the beach he has a choice of right
The right leads northwards and as he
along the sands he may see the frigate
58 overhead in the sky at a great height
nless wings. They nest in Mantanani
hundred miles to the north egst. _
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Layang-layangan means a place, or a flight, of
swiftlets but it is long since any swiftlets were
seen in any caves, cliffs or rocklets along the
coast. Layang-layangan is a scene of blue waters,
golden sands, green coco-palms, cool winds and
gorgeous sunsets. In faces the south-west.

Sand and Sunshine

Standing on the beach there in the sunset the
visitor can realise how Borneo came to be
separated from Malaya, Out there in the ocean
lie the Natuna Islands and between the North
and the South Naruna Islands there flowed a
great river many thousands of years ago. It cut
Borneo off from Malaya, and prevented the
elephants and tigers and many other Malayan
animals from getting to Borneo. The channel
between Malaya and Borneo may perhaps grow
deeper year by year, for the coconut palms on the
beach at Layang-layangan often fall into the sea,
*and only at a few points does sand collect. The
whole coast line may be sinking.
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wirrels jumping about the coconut fronds
evost’s squirrels.  Mr. Banks says that
ve passed through an unusual transform-
They used to be a very rare form of
squirrel, but when most of the jungle in
n had been felled, Prevost’s squirrels
d their home and went into coconut
Here they ousted plantation squirrels,
d much more gentle nature, and became
ion squirrels themselves. They do a lot
e nipping young coconuts.

* * *

n the beach a visitor may sit on a log
dred feet long. There is such a log
alf a mile northward of the puint where
meets the beach.
itor can measure his own stature against
imagine its height in the forest. Here too
veller can see some of the curious penaga
preading over the beach and displaying
riously curved branches, fashioned by
r the ribs of boats. The boat builder
he shape and size by eye, cuts the branch
s it to fit his dug out.
ognize penaga trees is not difficult. Look
ose mantle of dark green leaves. As
riot there is a boat shed beneath it. The
e easily recognised. The leaf is oval
ooth of edge. It is from six to eight
The front has a dark green metallic
€ back has a light green dull surface.
ntral rib is without obvious side ribs, -
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but if you hold it up to the light you will see a
thousand delicate ribs in the texture.

The penaga trees supply also the heavy mortars
in which padi is pounded. A little study of these
trees will add greatly to the interest of a siroll
along the beach.

Beneath the Casuarina tree, the fisherman
listens to whispers but beneath the penaga tree he
works,

The fruit of the penaga is of the shape and
colour of a grape, but has quite another taste.
An old penaga stands outside the round about at
the end of the wharf, so the visitor need not go
all the way to Layang-layangan to see one.

* * *

The rambat or casting net can be seem in use
almost anywhere and at any time zlong the beach.
It is bell-shaped and has a small mesh woven at
home with much patience. The diameter of the
net is about ten feet, when spread out, and its
edge is weighted with small rings of lead.

The figure of a fisherman poised in the bow of
his boat or standing firmly on the sand at the sea
edge with the rambat resting on one arm is
worthy of a scuptor ~ With an easy swing he
casts the net and it sinks with a soft splash to the
sand bed of the sea. The net is drawn up by a
string attached to its centre, while the edges
weighted with lead draw slowly together and
?r;tangle any fish which lay beneath it when it

ell.
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tlow tide it is possible to walk across the
beach to the rock opposite Layang-layangan.
an adundance of cat’s-eyes, a vitreous variety
uariz, can be found, by digging in the sand
eath stones and rocks

hen the tide is at the right level in the rock
parties gather to press poison out of the
oot and stupefy the fish who suspect nothing
at sort in nature.

l’le beach is the people’s work ground and the
their source of livelihood. It is a sea as
as anv in the world

ge logs float across from Brunei Bay and
shed up on the coast. Boat builders {ashion
nto dugouts, some about thirty feet long
ve feet wide, pointed bow and stern so that
yollers on the bars of rivers overtake them,
rollers pass har nlessly by. -

Chinese Coffin maker shapes drift wood
s own purpose beneath the overhanging
house builders cut with axe and saw the
of the wood into planks and posts, and the
wife is never short of fuel.

bout a mile along the beach, where a little
juts out amongst the rocks, there is a Muslim

ather stained tombs mouldering through
ars. Why do these cemeteries set along
ore affect a visitor more than cemeteries
side the ducly roads? It may be due to the
st. . The view from this Muslim cemetery
es from earth to sky, from land to sea,
eath to Lif e,
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Near the point where Hamilton Road meets
ihe beach, about fifty yards to the south, the
visitor will find the concrete footings of the
flagstaffs which mark the site of the headquarters
of the Australian 9th Division. Here on 9th
September 1945 the Japanese General commanding
the 32nd Japanese Southern Army surrendered his
sword to Major General G. F. Wootten, C.B.,
C.B.E. on the termination of the war with Japan.

The tablet is set in concrete and reads:—

HERE ON TH SEPTEMBER 1045
THE COMMANDER OF THE
9TH DIVISION AUSTRALIAN IMPERIAL FORCES
RECEIVED THE UNCONDITIONAL SURRENDER
OF THE 32ND JAPANESE SOUTHERN ARMY
IN NORTH BORNEO AND SARAWAK

The Japanese General surrendered his sword
and signed the documents in a small wooden
bungalow standing close to the sea-shore under
the shelter of coconut palms, about fifty yards
south west of the stone, The bungalow was a
prefabricated building sent out from Australia to
house its General.

Near here in another small house the Japanese
Colonel Suga committed hara-kiri with an
Australian table knife rather than face his trial
for the torture of a thousand prisoners in the
camp at Kuching. Two hundred yards on,
beyond a solitary Casuarina tree towering into
the sky, the traveller will stand upon the site
where the earliest war-crime trials were held on
British territory. .
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in a couple of tents erected above
officers and men of the Japanese army
trial for the murder of the Australian
of war. Labuan was the first British
ecovered. Labuan was some months
Malaya in the tide of reconquest, and
r-trials were the first in south east Asia.

* * *

ny Labuan beach look for turtle tracks.
tommon, but boys often cut imitations
tracks in smooth sand to cheat you.
ks are_about two feet wide. On each

k leads up to soft white sand above high
k, and buried in sand you will find a
turtle eggs — unless someone has been
ore you.

hairman of one of many commissions
from England to report on affairs had
he island in a motor launch. Turtles
iscussed and cook was sent ashore in the
0 look for a turtle fit to make into soup.
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He found one, turned it over on its back, and
went further along the beach. The Chairman_
came ashore a little later and strolling along the
beach saw through his dark glasses what
supposed to be a convenient sione to sit upo
The turtle did’nt mind. 1t was exactly what he
wanted to regain his feet. For when the Chai
man stoed up, the overturned turtle clung to the
seat of his trousers and slid down his legs. The_
turtle landed on his flippers and waddled out to_
sea. The party on board lost their soup for:
dinner and the Chairman lost most of what he
wore behind. -
Green turtles like high tide and night-fall,
when they can leave the sea. They swim in on
high tide and craw! up the beach, ready to take .
alarm at the slightest sound or smell and escape
to sea. They lever their heavy bodies weighing
up to two hundred weight up the beach to the
top of the slope. The female turtle lowers her |
head into sand, and excavates a crater with |
her fore-flippers. In it she setties herself below
sand.]evel. With her hind feet she excavates a_
hollow about six inches wide beneath her tail ]
and for twenty minutes or so she ejects eggs; a
hundred or more, soft, round and leathery, and
- very like ping-pong balls. She returns to the ]
sea a few hours later. i
If a seacher be lucky enough to meet her:
on her way he can flash his torch on her, sit on
her back and ride her along the beach back to
sea. But usually her nests are hard to find, for
she fills the place where she lay with sand and.
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her has a laborious task poking his
o every conceivable nook to find the
lace.

e millions of eggs are sold every year from
tes of Labuan and the mainland. They
salty fishy taste and act, people say, like
st soup or sharks fin soup, and other
jacs. A gourmand eats them boiled
or thirty at a time at a cost of about two
each. Malays never kill a turtle.

yese think that the sight of a turtle will
ood luck. Authoritative accounts of edible
by Mr. Tom Harrissen, Curator of Kuching
m, appear in the Museum Journal of
iber '51 and December 54,

ace to collect turtle eggs costs $20 and
obtained from the Customs Office. It holds

able with a heavy fine. She may not be
‘whilst ashore for the purpose of laying

atch a turtle requires a small fee of one
to be paid for a licence which holds good
“end of the year of issue. The use of line
ker to catch turtle is prohibited and no
with a shell, or carapace as it is called, less
o feet in length may be caught.

me to catch a turtle is when he or she
ded to leave the beach and return to
To catch a turtle as it waddles back to
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the sea. a stout bamboo pole and a rope are
needed. The job is to turn the turtle over on
its back.

This is not as simple as it sounds, if the turtle
is big. It has a surprisingly long neck, at the
end of which is a sharp beak set with powerful
jaws, Having succeeded in turning the turtle
on its back you have to rope it skilfully in such
a way as to make sure that it cannot bite the
rope. You then turn it over again and invite it
to enter the water. Make the rope fast to the
stern of a boat and tow the turtle back alive to
town. The cook at the Airport Hotel is not yet
aware of the advantages of turtle soup, but
he might learn, A few years ago, before the
war, any good hotel in Hongkong would pay up
to $HK 200 for a good sized turtle and give the
man who brought it a dinner into the bargain.

South West Monsoon

Surting is good sport in the south west moosoon,
at times, but often, too often, surfers must lie
down on their boards in the shallows while feeble
frothings wash past them. But at right times
- the sea will swirl about their manly armpits,
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ve rollers will bear down, and each wave
ve a mightier wave behind it. The surfer
y. to time it and then be bome bravely
ards.

ongs, looking like long fences built of
or bamboo, stretch out from the shore
cep water. Fish striving to pass from the
o the open sea with the tide are caught in
le maze at the end, and can be taken out

the innermost chamber.
* * *

st of the boats drifting off-shore belong to
as Labuan people call the pirates’
ors. Binadans hovering off the coast may
need of water and provisions, for they will
sailed a long way from the Sulu Islands
“five or six hundred miles to the east. They
‘been fishing as they came slowly across the
hanging their fishing ground day after day.
have been collecting turtle eggs, beche-de-
a kind of sea slug) sea weed, sharks’ fins
ther sea stuff to sell to Chinese to make the
us soups of which they are so fond.
But Binadans are not welcome ashore. They
that women are watching their movements
h anxious eyes through slats in the walls, If
boat turns towards the shore, voices will be
d in alarm, women will scurry to and fro .
men will bunch together to meet these .
lcome foreigners as they step from their
onto the beach.
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These men are cousins of the Illanuns, Balag-
nini and others from the Southern Philippines.

Their ancestors were far-famed as pirates.
They set sail from the Sulu Islands towards the
end of the year, when the norih-east moonson
was blowing. They sailed round the northern
coasts of Borneo with a fair wind. They attacked
trading vessels, landed on the coast and islands
to capture or kili the inhabitanis, and carried off
loot and slaves., They visited countries as far
distant as Java, Banca and Malaya. They
sailed in squadrons of frem five to ten boats and
returned home passing Labuan in June or July
with the south-west moconson blowing hard 0o
give them a quick retreat home laden with
plunder. Such was the pirate’s choice of wind.

Their descendents are more peace-abiding than
those ancestors of theits, but even now every
person along the coast of Labuan-—and the
mainland — views their approach with alarm,
The visitors boast that there are seven thousand
islands in the Philippines, a number approximarely
correct, and they defy the dwellers on Labuan to
pursue them.

The terror in which these foreigners are held
is not without justification. The crew of a single
boat may do little worse than refuse payment for
coconuts or grain they have taken, or threaten
the seller with a bomb pulled out of the folds of
their pantaloons, but the crew of a fleet of boats
can do much mischief. The Sulu islanders
learned a lot from the Americans in the last war.

* P -
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ats hovering off-shore may be Bajau
ing from Tempasuk, a district north of
The Bajaus are intrepid seamen.
ver leave their boats, and have never set
re. They are called Sea-gypsies. They
ibious, being as much at home on water
however, have settled ashore in the
district, have learned agriculture and
ttle and ponies.
rigin of the Bajaus is of interest.  Their
y say was in Johore, in Malaya. Some
words are high-court Malay, such as are
Sultans. They left their home because
cess’ love match.
undred of years ago, they say, their
he Sultan of Johore, received offers from
Sultan of Brunei and the Sultan of Sulu
and of his daughter in marriage. This
was not given any chance of choosing
the two suitors, and her father settled
ce for her. She herself preferred the
Brunei, but her father thoughs that the
“of Sulu would be the better match.
igly, her father fitted out a fleet of war
nd sent her under a strong escort on a
s voyage to Sulu.
uitan of Brunei heard of this and when
- passed Labuan within easy reach of
he sailed out to give battle for her.
g his war-prahu alongside that of the
e took her aboard and sailed for Brunei.
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The crew of the fleet from Johore were dismayed.
They had lost the princess whom they had pro-
mised to protect with their lives. They could
sail neither forward to Sulu nor homeward to _
Johore. Death awaited them at either place.
So they became sea-gypsies cruising about ¢
these waters fishing for food and plundering .
villages for their women. Some settled ashore
on islands and their villages are found all the -
way from Jesselton to Tawau, but not west of _
Jesselton because they feared the strength of
Brunei. That is the story which the Bajaus tell |
about their origin and it may well be true.
Powerful raiding parties are not seen near
Labuan nowadays, and only a few wandering
marauders cause alarm to villages on the coast.
Salt and seabreezes, sunshine, warmth and the |
pure clean life on the surface of the ocean are
increasing the numbers of the Bajaus, Suluks and
other seatolk. -

X X X

For anyone who likes a walk in the jungle, _
the best route to take is the graded foot-path
leading from a point about halfway along
Hamiton Road between its junction with McArthur
Road and Layang-layangan. This path is called
the Timbalai or the Kamseng Road. Tt leads
southwestwards.  For the first mile or two it
passes through native plantations and then for
the last three miles or more through forest.
Reaching the beach beyond Bukit Timbalai, the
walker can turn northwards along the sands and
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so reach Layang-layangan. A guide will be
ded and one can generally be picked at
houses bordering the path in the firet mile.

ere is little forest left in Labuan, and this
is a forest reserve. The tracks through the
are often obliterated by fallen timber,
cially near Bukit Timbalai, and it is interest-
to watch the guide pick his way through
Note that a native guide does not find
ay by recognising tracks on the ground, but
by recognising the shapes of tops of tall
bove him. He keep his eyes on the leafy
above rather than on the ground at his
Each tree top has its own shape, and the
recognises the top and knows his position.
lling of a tree takes a new aspect when it
the loss of a familiar landmark. There is
nger of yetting lost, but beware of bare legs
gle pools or flooded rice fields, where the
us blood-sucking leeches, known as lintah,
a meal. A lighted cigarette, or wet
o, will dislodge them,

ncer St. John wrote in 1850 that Labuan
d one of the finest forests he had seen

hor and Damar were the main products.
t trees rise with a tall stem, a hundred
‘before throwing out a branch. Few if
t now.

* * *
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A walk with a spice of venture in it leads from
the north end of McArthur Road southward
along the coast of Layang-layangan, about three
miles. It is better to go in that direction rather
than the other way about, for two reasons. A
bus on request or a taxi can find its way to the
end of McArthur Rosd and set walkers down,
and can then go to Layang-layangan and await
their arrival there. Layang-layangan is a bus
terminug and boasts a small shop, making a
definite point of meeting, whereas it is not easy
to fix a definite point for a rendezvous at the end
of MacArthur Road. Also a guide can be much
more readily picked up at Pohun Batu than at
the Layang-layangan end.

The first mile and a quarter along the beach,
past Pohun Batu, is easy enough and so salso is
the circuit of the small Magindau Bay. This
name is a corruption of Mindanao Bay in the
Philippines. The difficulty for the newcomer is
to find his way up from the south end of Magindau
Bay to the top of the cliff. The path up the cliff
is near a small gully with running water. The
path is steep and narrow with rock to be scambled
over. The path rises to easy walking at a height
of about eighty feet with extensive views of the
sea. Before reaching the cemetery on the tanjong
the path overhangs a precipitous cliff. Here are
two or three vantage points with trees to cling

" to and a view can be got of the fish pools below.
These pools fill at high tide and are beyond the
reach of surf at low tide. Fish can be seen in
the clear sparkling water of the pools. The
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ere is magnificent. The swelling surf,
ing fish-pools, the rocklets and the steep
semble the coasts of Cornwall rather than
ore of a tropical island.

cks lead into the Muslim cemetery to
er stained tombs. The jungle is rather
d ‘here but there should be no difficulty in
g 8 way down to the beach and so along
nds to Layang-layangan. The walk should
de at low tide for convenience sake, at high
might well be impassable.

highest point of the island is Bukit Kalam
280 feet high. It is without interest. But
uda further north has a healing spring in
y spot on a hill side. The local people
and drink a lot of it.

* * *

ill be a disappointing walk if at some time
o nét see the tracks of wild pig or a troupe
nkeys and if you do not hear the bark of a

a hornbill. Pigs are hunted
Crocodiles infest lagoons
treams as far inland as Hamiiton Road.
is a fierce little crocodile called buaya-
(frog crocodile) who may attack bathers at

ark.

ng the period of waiting for transports to
Australian troops home after war, dances
to pass the time. Warm work in this
I One of the officers driving along the
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beach near Layang-layangan on his way back to
camp after mid-night, stopped for a cool swim.
Close to the edge a buaya-kotak came from the
sea and attacked him. The crocodile held him
by the thigh, but had not the weight or the
strength to pull him into deeper water. The
officer beat him in the face with his bare hands
and got clear, but his thigh was badly lacerated
and he lay in hospital for a month. Bathing by
night is a dangerous pastime.

Crocodiles live mostly on dogs, pigs and
monkeys, and if ever a native catches a crocodile
and cuts him open, he expects to find one or two
brass dog-licences in the stomach. Monkeys are
inquisitive and pay the price. Flies often infest
a crocodile’s mouth and a2 monkey thinks that
where there are flies' there may be fruit, but
instead he finds teeth. .

River Gangarak on the north east coast is
infested with crocodiles and is accessible to a
hunter.

The stream has low-lying muddy banks, covered
with dank and thorny growth, fit abode for
crocodiles and snakes.

* * *

Sharky Taylor used to hunt for sharks slong -
these coasts as his nickname shows. His motor
boats were based on Labuan and Mempakul and
elsewhere. He had his good seasons, and as a
side line he carried goods between Labuan and _
the mainland. His motor-boats ran up and down _
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rivers, Padas, Membakut, Kimanis, Bonga-
and Papar, 1f shark-oil or shagreen did
y, this traffic did, and he soon showed up
eakness of fifty miles of railway along the
Labuan was hailed as a natural entrepot
he railway management grew anxious as the
boats instead of railway vans carried the
T cases.

e advice of the Chairman of the Singapore
our Board, then Mr, Trimmer, was sought.
re a few motor boats to be allowed to
the railway system of the coast?”. The
to that was “no”.  “And the remedy?”
ecial wharf due, almost imperceptible in
was charged on wharfage on goods
in motor boats plying between the rivers
buan. The traffic in and out of the rivers
led and Sharky sold his motor-boats to
ersaries. Labuan’s natural vantage-ground
fully disregarded in this case and Sharky
d'to his home land in Australia.

® * *

ets round Labuan are delightful. Many
ted with coconut palms and all are covered
ter’s edge with a dense foliage of varied
They have their own little headlands
s, and a few have tiny islets and rocks
n dependencies.
d, or Madang-nmadang, lies off Rancha-
tgomontoty near the harbour. Eno s
na rock. History relates that the
e scene of battle three hundred years
Sultan Abdul Jalil-ul-Jebar sat on
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the throne of Brunei, the abode of peace, his
half-brother Pengiran Abdul waged war on him.
Pengiran Abdul was a man of great courage and
strength, and himself was the father of a Sultan,
but he failed to oust his half-brother from the
throne. He met his death in 2 fight on the little
island of Madang-madang which got its name
from the number of pedang left ownerless after
the battle.

Pappan Island has a lighthouse, it lies close to
the town and visits can be made easily.

Pulau Burong, island of birds, in the bay west
of Hamilton Point is an old haunt of pirates.
Every Eden has its serpent, and in it there are
amphibian snakes with black and white rings and
flut tails.

There were uther varieties of serpents too.
Lawyer Harold C. Johnson says that when he
first went there, snakes were visible all over the
island, He could hear them whistling! People
used to shoot them. When the Japanese invaders
came, several Malays went to live on the island.
When the Malays left, the snakes left too.

Kuruman Island gives excellent bathing, and a
fine view can be had from the lighthouse. 1

Rusukan Besar has a coconut plantation of
about forty acres.

Rusukan Kechil les close to the larger Rusukan. -
It was here that Lawyer Johnson lived for many
years, and carried on his practice from it. It
took anything from twenty minutes to two days
to sail or row from Victoria to reach it. All
depended on the weather.
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I his client went by sail, or rowed his boat, he
ight find the weather too bad to return soon,
d the interview might last a week.

isitors can see it on their way to Brunei and
recognize it by its peculiar shape. Approached
om the north it looks like a mummy lying on
back.

ften Mr. Johnson's dugout was engaged
where and then Mr. Johnson would swim out
client’s steam or motor launch and confer
his client in a bathing suit. He would swim
k to his island office carrying a roll of
ments in his teeth as a dog carries a stick.
Johnson was never late for any case whether
abuan or Jesselton, though the High Court
to comment more than once on the condition
ocuments produced before it. Mr Johnson’s

lau Daat, another island lying about five
east of Labuan is one of its dependencies.
s island of several hundred acres is held free
t in perpetuity. Dr, J. G. Treacher, Colonial
on and brother of William Hood Treacher,
tary to the Government, planted it a hundred
ago.

uggling from Daat over to the mainland
rife when Labuan was a free port. Pulau
as well sited for the purpose of smuggling.
ntral hill is 175 feet high with a prospect of

all round. S lers with a tel

watch till the coast was clear. When
lost its status as a free port and paid the
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same dues as the mainland, smuggling ceased.
Daat now exports cattle and copra.
. * *

Malays are excellent sailors, fishermen and
lighth ! Ayo ter readily follows
in father’s footsteps and the keeper of a lighthouse
holds a post of honour. Only once has a keeper
failed in his duty. When the British Military
Administration took over from the Japanese,
they sent a large quantity of kerosene oil to omne
of the lighthouses along the coast, but the keeper
gave way to temptation and sold it on the black
market. The lighthouse was not lit again for

ears.

v The Rajah of Sarawak was wrong in mistrusting

one of his lighthouse keepers before the war. The

late Mr. Archer told me the story. The Rajah

- was steaming along the coast and looked anxiously

for the flash of a new lighthouse he had recently
ordered to be built on & cape in Sarawak.

He could not see the flash. He anchored his
ship.

“Go ashore,” he ordered Archer. “Those
light-house keepers are all asleep. Give 'em hell.
Give "em six months each!”

Archer’s boat got away quickly in the dusk,
and as his boatmen rowed, he could hear the
Rajah’s voice still declaiming and see arms
gesticulating, ’ |

“Make it a year !”” roared the Rajah. and then _
with a final shout, “Make it two!”

The Rajah might have made it life, but Archer
was out of ear shot.
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Ashore there was no lighthouse at all. Fisher-
nen in a boat told Archer he would find the
ighthouse all right round the corner on the next
e. Archer returned, the Rajah ordered full
ed on his ship and sure enough round the
t corner, the new lighthouse was flashing
{liantly.

* * *

n Labuan no catastrophe such as earthquake
yphoon has ever been experienced. Tiny
ds have been known to rise from the sea
n sight of people on the shore and then to
pear again. Volcanoes have spouted mud
e sight of passengers on ships.
Pulau Tiga, a group of three islands about
ay between Labuan and Jesselton, a mud
no erupted and smothered seventy acres of
with liquid mud, It was boiling hot and
gle trees, a hundred or more feet high,
ed in the scorching flow. Trees have begun
there since. The eruption was heard
listance of one hundred miles. That wasin

en'Labuan and Mempakul on the main-
tle island, 45 feet high and 250 yards
d in 1897, when a slight earthquake
The island is still there. But these
8 ‘are very rare and no visitor need fear
11 rain upon him. or that the ground
under his feet.

* * *
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The town of Victoria is mean. If Ged made
the island, man made the town. Old buildings
at the far end of the main street show the style
of former days and these have a charm of
their own. They are two-story houses, abutting
on the street in front and backing on to landing
stages over the sea, where the trader’s tongkang
can draw alongside to discharge its cargo of
copra, getah percha or damar from across the
Bay, while women from the upper story can
watch the movement of boats in the inner harbour.
Old bricks and tiles from China were the materials
from which these houses were built. But the
new shop buildings are mean.

* * *

Curios are hard to find in the shops, and the
island has never had any industry of its own.

On the mainland the making of weapons
became the chief art owing to force of circum-
stances. Knives and swords sometimes offered -
for sale by hawkers from Brunei are of all shapes: _
curved, angled, wavy or straight. Some are .
hollow ground with handles of carved bone and
tufts of human hair. These are parang or gaiang
of the kind used in headhunts of old days.
Blowpipes are sometimes offered for sale. These
are made from strzight logs the thickness of a
man’s thigh. The log is fastened by strips of |
cane to rafters of a house at a convenient angle
and every inmate has a stab at the end of the log
with a chisel until a hole is pierced from end to
end. It may take a month or two to do this.
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e bore is then smoothed by running strips of

of finely split bamboo and fitted at the end
a tiny arrow-head, saturated with upas poison
ch does not retain its virulence for long).
sold to visitors are not poisoned as a rule,
wvery batch of darts should have a series of
coloured rings somewhere along it to be
e fashion and to distinguish the owner’s
3 from others in a shoot.

ie wavy kris was the standard weapon of
on in old days in Brunei. Iis point was ~
down the hollow between the neck and
ler of the victim, and a twist of the blade
practised hand of the executioner ruptured

‘Brass ware from Brunei

y on their trade in most villages in
“in Labuan. They make weapons
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such as krises, swords, executioners’ knives and
parangs for sale. The parang ilang, or long
sword, and the kris, or wavy sword, sold nowadays
are not stained with the blood of slaves. Blood
stains can be copied, and the human hair fitted
to the haft of a sword to day was never fondled
by the hand of a head-hunter.
* * «
* The most popular ware for sale are pieces of
finely wrought silver ware, made in Brunei.
Silversmiths are skilful tradesmen.  Formerly
they made their silver utensils out of old silver
s, dollars melted down, but since Goverpments
debased silyer coin, and incorporated copper and ¢
other base metals into so-called silver coins, the
silversmiths discarded coins in favour of strip |
silver of good quality.

Brass oil lamp and gallon measure
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trip silver requires less labour to beat into
pe and gives more silver for the price. The
ersmith’s workshop is a small hut with reed
s, split palm floor, and attap roof built over
ater. He squats on the matting, showing
feet and thin brown legs. He, like the
ations of silversmiths before him, wears
i P les. he impl ts of
craft surround him, silver, wax, resin,

nts the silver shape from buckling when the
rn is being put on. Putting on the pattern
much thought, patience and care. The
taken may extend to weeks, He uses tools
most elementary kind, but he produces
s of beautiful and delicate shapes. In the
s the princes at the court of Brunei were
st customers of the silversmiths, but now
k mostly to visitors to buy their silver
nd boxes. In a few shops in Victoria,
d silversmiths of Chinese nationality may
at work, and they produce buttons,
baagles and rings popular amongst
adies, but to get Brunei silver bowls and
a visitor must search for a tradesman
mei, or find a shop or hotel counter

gongs and kettles are sold in Labuan,
tinders in Brunei are said to be men of
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independent character and if they were not their
own employers they would always be on strike.
They are reputed to be men of rough voice and
fierce demeanour. They are proud of their
“ancestors who forged brass cannon for the Sultans’
wars. They wear their hair short and sweat
_ profusely at their job. Foundries are built over
the water, and fireclay is readily got from the

‘Massive brass gong with dragon decoration
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rrounding country. Brass-founders have their
guild and trade secrets are handed down
m generation to generation.

How are elaborate dragon-gongs made?

irst of all the brass-founder chooses a dragon-

pattern embossed on the clay. Oa this clay
lays a mixture of wax and resin, covering the
and top of it, to the thickness of the metal
gong to be, He models the wax and resin
exact pattern to be the core to shape the
g. Having completed the modelling of the
ind resin, he covers it with an outside skin
y, and sets the-whole model aside to dry.
re then made in the skin of clay as outlets
wax and resin core to escape when heated.
‘model is placed on a furnace and the wax
in core is melted out. Molten brass is
into the mould to fill the empty space.
nd faults are rectified or filled in later.
rectification of gaps and faults are
le from this method of casting gongs

uan airfield in a north east direction
Mount Kinabalu, rather less than a
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hundred miles away. It is 13,455 feet high and
is supreme between the Himalayas and New
Guipea. It is crowned with a great mass of bar
rock. It juts out like a tooth of granite from
which all the softer rock has crumbled away
Stunted trees stop at 12,000 feet.

As you approach it by sea in the early morning
the pinacles shine in the eastern sun, and ofte
in the evening the pinacles reflect the red sunse:
glow. The streaks of white are foaming water
falls plunging a thousand feet or more. This
mountain standing in isolated grandeur, fills the
natives with awe, and is the paradise of the |
Dusun dead. If you stand on the streams below i
and cup your hand to your ear you may, if you |
know the sound, distinguish the sound of spirits’
footsteps tapping their way gently across the
river towards their home of rest. Aged Dusuns |
wear their finger nails long, so that their spirits -
car more easily climb Kinabalu’s steep slopes to
paradise on top. .

To the Dusuns of the mainland, Kinabalu is
an ‘object” of awe and veneration, but to the
Kadayans of Labuan Kinabalu is merely a name. -
The Dusuns of the mainland are mostly pagan
but the Kadayans of Labuan are Muslim, and
their paradise is elsewhere.

Other mountains round the Bay tower to lesse
heights, Mount Lemaku~—-9,000 ft. and Mount _
Siguntang — 8,000 ft.

.

* -

Women folk in Labuan hold a very deep
respect for the memory of Queen Victoria. They
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it was to Queen Victoria that the
asented the island; they know too some-
her history and of her large family.

n nowadays look upon her as a wise and
& old lady, the greatgrandmother of
Prince of Wales whom they have seen,
hope that some of her gcod fortune
e their way. Note if you can, without
ng to be inquisitive, the gold sovereigns
adies of Labuan wear as brooches or
when riding in a bus or walking in town.
overeigns are nearly all of Queen Victoria’s
They are heirlooms. Sovereigns of King
d-VII or George V were plentiful enough
ime, but the ladies of Labuan have no use
s of either of those kings. The price of

And further, it is not the
howing the head of the young Queen
|at the beginning of her reign, noris it
in showing her as Empress of India in her
cence that the ladies of Labuan covet so
Tt is the sovereign showing her as an old
wearing her widow’s weeds that they
The coin showing ber as a wise woman
d suffered in her lifetime—that is the
ey have revered and have treasured all
ears,
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Old Government House, a famous house in _
early days, has long since disappeared. Bombs -
destroyed it during the landing of the Australian
Army in 1945 because Japanese had made it a |
pocket of resistance to defend the airfield close
by. Its former site is now a public park on North
Road about a mile from the town. [

Somerset Maugham, the well known story- -
writer who discovered so many intrigues in the
private lives of civil servants in the east, hes left
a description of this house as it appeared 10 him. |
Somerset Maugham visited Labuan about 1925. |
He describes Government House in his story
“A casual affair”, one of several entertaining
stories in his boek “Creatures of Circumstance”. _
It was an imposing house, wrote Somerset _
Maugham. The Governor of Labuan had formerly
lived in it with satisfaction, but the Residents
who succeeded later lived in it grumblingly 3

0Old Government House: Bombed and destroyed in 1945
From a sketch by Mrs. Marie Dodd
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of its unnecessary size. It was =

house to stay in, with an immense
coom, a dining room large enough to
uests, and lofty spacious bedrooms.
od it was shabby because the Govern-
Singapore very wisely spent as little
it as possible.  All guests liked it and
official furniture gave it a sort of

ning table is still used and now adorns
ency, a less pretentions house, half a

wvernment house was built about 1852,
low on brick pillars about five feet from

Broad verandahs shaded the inner
The floors were of polished ironwood
oof was of Chinese tiles. The park
consibts of about two acres. The roof

ses of those days. Now nothing remains,
velled site. The bricks were swept up
nery after bombing and spread upon the
Even the pillars at the gates were

er.

15 of the Royal Family have visited the
King Edward the VIIIth (as Prince of
in March 1922, King George Vth (as
York) and the former Duke of Kent
as a naval officer on H.M.S. Hawkins,
of the China squadron).
ral Lord Louis Mountbatten, coming
n Singapore as Supreme Allied Com-
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mander in south east Asia after the armistice in
the second world war saw only its ruins.

* * *

The park is haunted, people say, by the ghost
of a lady. Part of the story is told by Sir Hugh
Clifford under the title “ A Tale of Old Labuan”
ip his book “In the Days that are Dead”. He
names no names. Hugh Low, Secretary to the
Government, often walked up the long avenue,
known now as North Road, which led from the |
Court house between rows of fine old trees, past
the level plateau where the houses of the:
Europeans, and also their cemetery lay.

Hugh Low was horrified when he passed a_
shapeless heap of earth which marked the most |
recent grave. The latest victim of fever had |
been buried there only & month or two ago.
Hugh Low’s eyes gazed on the scene. Boards
and black cloth stripped from the coffin lay
scattered. Broken bottles which had been piled.
thick above the coffin in the hope that the glass:
would prevent pilferage were heaped close by.
The cross had been flung aside. The body lay
exposed to the midday sun, but its head was
missing. Headhunters from Borneo had taken.
it! Later, Mrs. Low lay sick with that deadly.
fever to which there seemed to be no cure in
those days and died. Hugh Low sat beside th
dead body of his wife picturing in his min
headhunters from the main land groping and
routing with their busy fingers in ghastly search
for her head in her grave. '




THEN AND NOW 51

he Governor was in residence on the island
time but the Secretary did not take him
Single-handed he dug no

o himself, and when daylight broke he was
lling in other graves. Such is Sir Hugh
vd’s story, which is nowadays connected
he name of Secretary Hugh Low. Legend
ts the story with the large park surrounding
site of old Government House, but the
were dug’ at the Secretary’s house some
on top of the plateau. A Malay gardener
ed to know the lady’s grave. It was
ble for his master to have kept his move-
secret throughout the whole night, and
m eyes are everywhere.

ard Gueritz, Governor of North Borneo
buan, from 1904 to 1907, with a long
before that, told me that he knew the
gardener quite well, but that faithtul man
wver broken the veil of secrecy. The
as been well kept.

ad Mrs. Gueritz if she knew of any legends
thosts in old Gox;ernment House grounds.

use about midnight for a breath of fresh
retiring to bed. It was moonlight.

The figure wandered here and there. It
behind a tree. It appeared again.. The
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old story came to her mind, but the courageous
Mrs. Gueritz faced the figure and walked towards
it in the moonlight. She met one of her own
guests, drunkenly trying to find his way home!
That was all. The old Malay gardener was then
in her service, the year being 1905,

I have often stayed in the house as a visitor,
but I have never seen a ghost. Australian troops
were encamped in the grounds of the house after
re-occupation of the island and one night a sentry
opened fire on what he declared to be a ghost,
because though he had seen a dim figure and
shot at it, he could not find it. He would not
admit that he missed it.

“Shoot a lady, would you?” I asked him later.

The body of a shot Japanese soldier was found
a day afterwards and a good ghost story spoiled.

* * *

Recrimination against headhunters, coming
over from the mainland of Borneo to search for
heads in Labuan loses much of its sting when we
remember that body snatchers were desecrating
cemeteries in Scotland about the same time.
Burke and Hare operated in the same century.
Snatching bodies for greed compares unfavourably
with hunting heads for the reward of a gladeye
from a woman awaiting the return home of her
favourite head-hunter.

Moreover was not the British Government |

paying ‘““head money” to its sailors for esch
pirate killed?




A

{andoi son of a Murut headhunter
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Headhunting, whatever its origin, took cn
virtues such as bravery and attraction of women.
Headhunters 1ook heads, because they thought it
was a good and proper thing to do in their time. °
Too often it degenerated into cowardice, as for |
instance when they took the heads of unsuspecting
women and children.

That headhunters searched for heads in Labuan
is no mere legend. People in Labuan had a real
difficulty in disposing of their dead. Once in
Kingston, Jamaica, | met a clergyman at a garden -
party. He had heard that I came from Borneo
and he made his way through the crowd of guests
to reach me. He spoke of his childhood in
Labuan, where his father served as a Chaplain in

the army. When he as a young child fell ill
with Labuan fever, his father the Chaplain thought
there was small hope of recovery and got a rowing
boat ready so that the child could, if the worst
happened, be buried not on land but at sea.
Happily he lived to follow his father’s calling.

* * *

To Hugh Low, the first Colonial Secretary, is
due the luscious fruit grown in Labuan, The
island has excellent orchards. Hugh Low took _
up the study of fruit and flowers and after some
experiments he produced what was, in the taste
of many, the most delicious tropical fruit known
at that time. One of these was the Labuan
pomelo, obtained by grafting oranges on
pomelo trees. For fragrance, flavour and juiciness
the Labuan pomelo had no equal. The little
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er gave him scope for his great abiiities
e rose to eminence as Sir Hugh Low,
ent of Perak.
ense Hugh Low has received the most
fiodr that can be paid to any man in
i the world. The tallest peak of
nabalu is named after him. Low'’s
‘of the five peaks on the jagged summit
ountain, is accessible and it used to be
for the thirsty climber to pour a
own his own throat, to the memory of
il servant, and to set the bottle so as to
Low's Peak by inches. Its height is
0 be 13,455 feet and it consists of loose
k. Another peak is named after Spencer

2 colleague in Labuan of Hugh Low.

* * *

te of the island’s life grows upon the
nd many Asians are aftracted by it
/e in houses hidden away under tall shady
ere they find life calm, cool and restful.

gople are hospitable, and are fond of a
inner. The Japanese recognised this
luring their short tenure, and whenever
led Kempetai thought fit to arrest any
ing inhabitants, tke list of guests 10 a
dinner was carefully prepared and
he wanted men’s names. At firsi the
d that the invitation was a step to
tions between ruler and subject, but
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they soon learned that the invitation card was of
itself a conviction. = Inhabitants who received
invitation cards hid themselves away and left the
island if they could, Those unhappy days have
passed and a dinner is now a sociak event. Dog
dinners in particular are much favoured and any
inhabitant of importance who is not honoured
with an invitation when a dog dinner is put on
the table feels himself slighted.

“ Fish is number one,” said a towkey to his
guest on arrival, “and dog is number two.” A
glutton makes a point of it to go there hungry.

® ® *

The unhappy occurence of the death of one of
the British Residents at the hands of an amoker
in Brunei led to the setting up of a court in Brunei -
to try the culprit. The trial was held with all|
the panoply and ceremonial usual in a British
court of Justice, The accused was sentenced to
death by hanging. A prison warder from
Singapore came by Straits Steamship to conduct
the execution.

He was a lively companion, and liked a game’
of bridge. It was royal auction in those days.:
He was playing with Labuan friends on the deck’
of his ship due to sail in an hour or so.

His Labuan partner let him down badly.
Partner had gone up and up calling spades against
his opponents no trumps. The opponents bid.
small slam. Partner doubled and was redoubled.
Dummy chuckled and laid down his cards on the
table face upwards and there exposed to view were
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g spade cards supposed io be in partner’s
The hangman was dismayed.  His
ts made their small slam.
11 slam, redoubled, and rubber, Ithirk?”.
, growled the hangman. He reached
et with one hand and with the other
nvoluntary movement to the left of his

rer | come back to Labuan and meet you,”
urning with slow emphasis to his Labuan
“1 hope it will be in my pro-fess-ion-al
2

* * *

4r cemetery commemorates the heroes of
prisoner-of-war camps in Borneo and of
ting services which recovered Borneo
e enemy in 1945 The cemetery was
d is maintained by Australia.
me of unveiling of the Cross of Sacrifice
953, serving men of the British Common-
who lay buried here numbered 3904.
clude 1168 Australians and many British.
the men buried here were prisoners-of-
00 Australian and British service men
into the hands of Japanese camp
lants in Borneo only six lived. Thousands
s had been taken at the fall of Singapore
y 1942, and most went to slavery and
he infamous Burma-Siam railway. But
42, 1500 were embarked on a small
ent to a camp in Sandakan. Later.
h, mostly RAF men taken in Java, and
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500 Australians arrived at the camp at Sandakan,
Some of these were transhipped to camps in
Labuan and Kuching.  The suffering was intense.
Then in October 1944 the allies begun their air-
raids on Borneo and the enemy became even
more cruel and callous to their prisoners.
Intensified air-raids at Sandakan forced the enemy -
to abandon the work onm airfields which the |
prisoners contrary to the rules of war had been
forced to begin and “ death marches™ were set _
in motion. Hundreds of prisoners were used as -

Cross of sacrifice
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for enemy troops withdrawing from
an to the interior and west coast of Borneo,
first batch of 455 carriers who started
in January 1945 only six survived
1945. A second death march was on its
d yet a third. The starting point as before
can and the goal was Ranau near
Kinabalu. = Others were left to die or
at Sandakan. The six that survived
ghter escaped from camps along the route
vith the help of kindly natives Jived in the
until they could find their way to join the
us forces of the allies.
ers of the services who lie buried here
men of the 7th and 9th Australian
s who fell in the campaign to recover
Bodies were retrieved from all over
but of the total number more than two
and could not be identified.
nful though it is to recall the memory, the
of Sacrifice now stands as a symbol of
ry in the face of great brutality and the
is the most peaceful spot on a peaceful
. The cemetery stands on level ground
top of a cliff overlooking the waters of
hina sea, and in the far distance the
les of Mount Kinabalu can be seen in the
the morning sus.

* * * *

' Recreation Club stands on the sea front
0 the wharf and visitérs are made welcome
ave an introduction. Tennis and cricket
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are played,
as well as
soccer, and
the clubhas
done much
to fill the
gap left by
the loss of
other clubs
established
before the
second wor- |3
Id war. Mount Kmahatu can be see frons
There used distance over 100 miles. .
to be golf, swimming and racing clubs on the _
wide .expanse Jf level. land near the sea -
The airfield and Air. Port Hotel -ave centres *:
of social life in Labuan nowadays. Travellers
north and south, or east and west meet there.
During the war in Korea (18951 — 1953) a com-
mittee of ladies met- wounded soldiers returning
by aircraft to Australia, The aircraft landed at
Labuan.

Labuan,

“Borneo!”, the wounded men

,?} would exclaim. “Where are.the o

"% headhunters?” That is still the .

feature for which Borneo is best

—— »»:'“ known in the world, and it was

~®7  always a'disappointment to the

soldiers that the ladies were pot accompanied by
a headhunter who could put his blowpi

through the door of the plane.
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th end of the airfield are two
ng back about a century. Quaint
1 be seen on some of the headstones.
hich betrays hopeless pessimism in
rd “dead”.” But another is much
It reads:—
grieve, a shock severe,
from one we loved so dear,
great, we won't complain,
ope to Christ will met again,

* * *

other of these cemeteries lay the
Irymple, the subject of a ghostly
n Gaya Island opposite Jesselton.,
as the District Officer in charge of
t" with his headquarters in Gaya,
lton was founded. It was in the
eties. A native lady had been tried
?-court for the crime of adultery and
was sentenced to a

Dalrymple’s duty

nly in endorsing the warrant for her
nt to custody, but she seemed to hold
ble. She was put to weed the paths
k, but she protested. She found a
stones of blue colour, known locally
nd sefting one stone on the ground
he court house, she pounded it with
L sparks flew. With every blow she
nrse.  Pounding went on all day.
a6 heard all night. Nobody could
. The chiefs with three or four wives
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at home said they knew how to deal with that .
sort of thing in a harem, but Dalrymple wa
only a bachelor. ~ Her ceaseless curses at him
frayed his nerves and after a day or two of it, he
ordered steam to be raised on his Jaunch and .
sailed for Labuan. He sought safety in flight.

At Gaya Island life went on as usual for a few
days with intermittent cursing by the woman, |
but she soon stopped her curses, and told the .
Sergeant’s wife, who served as the warder in
charge of women prisoners, that there was no |
need to curse the District Officer anymore. Sudah

» habis! A full week had passed. .

Then one night the sentry in Gaya heard the

uffled sound of paddles and the click of oars.
E was dusk. ;

“A message from the mainland’’, he thought and
mindful of the troubled times called his sergeant.
They looked over the verandah rail in the
moonlight, but could see no sign of the beat.

Then the familiar form of Dalrymple was seen
walking up Gaya hill towards them.  The sentry
challenged, but there was no reply. The figure
passed on up the hill towards his house on the top.

“* The District Officer has returned,” said the
Sergeant. “Tll go up and make my report.”’
He went, but found the house closed ‘and in
darkness. There was no steam-launch in the
harbour of Gaya.

Next morning the steam-launch cast anchor in
Gaya Bay. Her flag was at half-mast. The
Treasurer went on board and learned that
Dalrymple had died on board the day before.
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captain had landed the body at Labuan
iled immediately for Gaya to bring off
or the funeral service in Labuan that

T could never hear without a shudder,”

easurer in Gaya, “was that harlot’s
ling for Dalrymple’s liver to be turned
e as hard as the stone she held.”

* * *

Labuan many graves have disappeared.
nd bombs, and the passage of time have
ted many monuments and you will now
E vain for Dalrymple’s name amongst

s,
her lost grave is that of F. G. Atkinson,

it District Officer, of Jesselton. Atkinson
in Jesselton, in 1902 and Sir Ernest Birch,
overnor, ordered burial in Labuan because

as no consecrated ground in Jesselton.
overnor sailed from Sandakan to attend

ineral.

ifty years ago there were several small naval
teries along the coast at Ramsay Point.
lay & few yards back from high water

, and stretched the best part of a mile. A
beneath the casuarina trees gave visitors an

tained twenty or thirty graves, and most of
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them were protected by heavy slabs of concrete
laid flat upon the ground to prevent headhunters
digging up the graves to take the heads. Near]
all these cemeteries have been washed into 1
sea by the encroaching tide, and others have been
destroyed by bombing and gun fire: Now only
a few graves remain out of three or four hundred
dug in the last century along Rifle Range and
Padang Roads.

It is strange that two of the earliest grave
should have lasted the longest. These inscriptions]
are still legible.

The earliest are those of Commander Gordon
of HM. S. Wolf, 1847, and of Colour Sergean
Sutherland of the Royal Marines, 1847. Othe
graves are those of — Browne, 1859, Mrs. Davies;
house-keeper of Governor Edwardes, 1860, an
assistant Colonial Secretary T. Woods, 1867.

The other ies with the mo
the bones have been washed into the sea.
small cemetery which survives, every sod enshrine
either a soldier’s or a sailor’s sepulchre. Tha
was part of the price to be paid for admiralty i
these seas.

The landscape has much aitered. There is n
trace of the fine group of lofty trees with
running stream between them whére Captai
Gordon was buried. Casuarina trees, ghost tree
the Malays call them, have grown up, and if yo
stand in their shadow by the light of the ful
moon, you can hear the secrets of the future tol
by the rustling branches.

* *

*
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eacon at Ramsay Point is falling into the
-stone pinnacle, about twenty feet high,
broad base, has sunk because of the
ess greed of the sea. The tide has
ed a hundred yards or more, and the
£ coral and sand to raise the level of the
s hastened the damage. The stone
s a geographical mark and the longtitude
ude intersecting at this point is a reference
tum mark for all this part of south-east-

@ graves, which the Malays say are
n graves, are at a point rear the north

f the island, a quarter of a mile from the

e inscription on one slone gave the name
Thomas, and records that he died in the
of the Eastern Archipelago Company, 2
mpany which will be mentioncd later.

re is little to be seen at the site of the coal

hese davs. Leaving McArthur Road at its
visitor can follow the old rail embankment

ick chimney still stands.
en.
es Museum at Singapore there is a map
n dated 1875, This shows in detail the
ing property as it was eighty years ago.
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A town named Edwardes Town, presumably
after Governor Edwardes (1856—1862), flourished
on the coast near what is now Lobok Temiang
in the little bay a mile south of the tall brick
chimney. This town has long been obliterated
by the regrowth of jungle, but a few bricks
remaining from the foundations can still be found.

* * *

St. Saviour’s Church the first Anglican Church
was sited on the plateau about a mile up from |
‘the Post Office on the way to the airfield. In

1889 it was burned down and was rebuilt ten
years later on the same site.  This was the second
Church. The site, though conveniently close to
the European bungalows was teo far from the
town and in 1936 the building was moved to a |
site at the junction of North and Padang roads
near the Court House.

This was the third St. Saviour’s.

This move had been made at the request of
the Asian members of the congregation who _
subscribed to the fund for the rebuilding. Most
people thought it was a step in the right direction
and the Church was as prominent as the Court
House or the Treasury. It survived the Japanese
occupation, but it did not survive the assault by
the allied armies who drove out the Japanese.
On a Sunday morning the 10th June 1944 at
balf past nine o’clock, the bombardment blew
the Church to pieces. The catechist in charge
had removed all the Church plate at the firs
shock of the bombardment and stored them i




THEN AND NOW 67

use near by. But he then bad to run for

r, and waves of assaulting troops passed

the site in pursuit of the enemy. The

s looted everything including the church
They stole the eagle of the brass lectern,

he brass bird was recovered only after the

of a year with the help of the General
anding the troops.

e ‘Sentor Chaplain of the Austialian Sth
n took charge and re-built St. Saviour's
urth ) out of boards and thatch on the
te, and it served for three years. Butthis

orary Church was not allowed to stay, it
ed with modern town plarning and so St.

e how cleverly the Austialian engineers
ted the bird back on its perch.  Shell
rim the pillar of the lectern because the
shaft could not be found. This leciern is
ory of F. G. Atkinson, the first District
Jesselton.
oman Catholic Church stands opposite
nce to the public park in North Road.
ilt in 1931 and is within the diocese of
ct Apostolic whose headquarters are at

hurch is named Corpus Christi.
ool is named St. Anthony’s school.
imous bell, inherited from Captain
mission ship, was stolen during the
ccupation and though the bell was
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heard of after the war, it could not be traced and _
has never been recovered. .

* * *

The present stamps sold at the post office in
Labuan are the same as those sold elsewhere in
the Colony of North Borneo. For very many
years, however, Labuan had its own issues and
some of these are valuable. .

Canon T. C. Alexander, who resided in|
Sandakan as Rector of St Michael’s Church for
many years, has written some notes on Labuan_
stamps.

The first Labuan stamps, he says, were printe
by De La Rue & Co. in London in 1879, on pape!
which was used chiefly for long fiscal stamp
with the watermark CA over a crown. Ther
were four values bearing Queen Victoria’s head
The next year they were produced with th
watermark CC and crown and a new value 1
cents was added. There was no 8 cents stam
until 1882 and meanwhile the 12 cents stamp wa
surcharged with different types of figures an
words.

These surcharged stamps are rare, and
especially an error EIGHR.  In 1883 when
stamps were needed, the Treasurer and Pos
master, A. S. Hamilton, surcharged the 16 cen
stamp by writing with his own hand in red in
ONE DOLLAR A.S.H. This stamp exists,
both mint and postally used, but is very scarce.

On January lst 1890 the administration
Labuan, a British Colony, was transferred to th
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sh North Borneo (Chartered) Company,
d the same type of stamp bearing the Queen’s
d was still continued, but withcut watermark.
the last of this type which were lithographed
ead of recess-printed and issued in 1894,
ge quantities of forgeries found their way to
market.
ntil 1894 only the one type of stamps had
issued and then the very beawiful issue of
rth Borneo stamps printed by Waterlow & Co
reproduced in new colours with the overprint
BUAN.
his practice was continued when the frames
re-drawn three years later. In 1895 three

an colour but with no overprint.
imps appear never to have been postally used
are unknown with postmarks. Perhaps they
sold only to dealers.
The Chartered Company had been cancelling
rder’ large quantities of their stamps for
to collectors, and the practice was extended
buan stamps. This brought revenue to the
pany but certainly was not popular with
tors and both North Borneo and Labuan
ps got a bad name. The cancellation ‘to
? ag the practice was called consisted of an
val chop with bars which obliterated much
e stamp and left little to be seen of its face.

n of the island to Queen Victoria.
an issue with 2 new design, a crown and
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the inscription Labuan Colony, appeared. This |
type is of especial interest as the stamps, suitably
overprinted, were used both in Brunei and the -
Straits Settlements.

This was the last issue of Labuan stamps, On |
January 1st, 1906, Labuan was transferred from
the administration of the Chartered Company to -
the Straits Settlements, and Labuen used stamps
of the Straits Settlements. .

What stamps were issued by the Japanese |
during their occupation of Labuan from 1942 to
1945 needs inquiry. .

During the British Military Administration -
Labuan was headquarters and all stamps for the -
administration were issued from Labuan. These |
sets were overprinted B.MLA, -

On July 15th 1946 Labuan was incorporated .
into the newly formed Colony of North Borneo, |
and its stamps are now the same as those of the |
Colony. . .

* ® * .

The arms of the Colony show a sailing ship in
sight of Mount Kinabalu. The letter T on the
sail is a reminder of services of the Ninth |
Division, one of the finest fighting divisions of |
the Australian Army. The letter T is the badge
worn by the Ninth Division in token of Tobruk .
in North Africa. After service in North Africa
the division returned to Australia and later set
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a its mission to rout the Japanese from
and the mainland of Borneo. Its service
t brought to mind by that letter T.

Coat of Arms of North Borneo




CHAPTER 2
POLICY AND PIRACY

ortuguese were the first Europeans to sail into?

igthese seas. They were in search of trade
trade in precious stones;, gold and spices which |
had long been a source of wealth to Arabs.
Legends of the Golden Chersonese, reputed by
some to be Malacca, and the riches of myrrh,
frankincense, balsam, cinnamon and casia starte
a host of merchant adventurers in search of gain

Labuan was soon in the picture. De Menezes:
on his way from Malacca to the Moluccas tried:
to make friends with the Sultan of Brune
without much success. .

Pigafetta, the writer who accompanied
Magellan, after his leader’s death, visited Brune
and left a record of his stay. Brunei had 25,000
femilies, and elephants added their size and:

The Portuguese suffered much from shipwrec
and piracy. Their losses of ships from on
cause or another were great. Eldridge in his -
‘“ Background of Eastern Sea Power’” wrote that
between 1497 and 1612, a space of over one
hundred years the Portuguese séft 806 tradin
ships to eastern seas and of these 96 were sunk
In bad voyages the Portuguese lost one ship i
three. They built unwieldy tarracks of 300!
tons with seven or eight decks. These ship
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ew too much water to enter rivers and were
shandoned in favour of smaller ships with less
aught.
Harbours affording a sheitered anchorage in a
ntral position in seas infested with pirates were
dly wanted.
“he Portuguese built a fort in Labuan, but
ere is no trace of it left today.
Other European nations followed the Portuguese
d Spanish, British, French and Dutch ships
Pirates took their toll, and
hen the competing nations were not fighting
rates they fought amongst themselves,
About 1690, the Dutch drove the Portuguese
om all their settlements in Borneo.
bout 1770 what was called “the fringe of
neo” came under the notice of the East India
ompany, and settlements were made at Balem-
gan Island and at Labuan, one ¢n the north
d the other on the north west coast of Borneo.
n 1775 the settlement at Balambangan Island
overrun by pirates from the Sulu Islands
ring the absence of the Company’s guard-ships.
e Company’s fort and township were captured
a great loss of life and treasure was suffered.
ew Englishmen escaped from Balambangan
sea and took refuge in Labuan.  They
eloped a small ‘trading station in Labuan,
the Fast India Company soon withdrew it.
n 1812, seven years before the founding of
gapore by the Fast India Company, J. Hunt
tade a report on Borneo for the information of
mford Raffles. The report is printed in an
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appendix to “The Expedition to Borneo o
H.M.S. Dido”, by Captain Hon. Henry Keppel. |
In 1824, Governor Crawford of Singapore sen
to the East India Company at Calcultta a report
on Eastern seas. He wrote that the Sultan of
Brunei had offered him Labuan, which had been |
formerly occupied by the Eaet India Company_
and abandoned. Governor Crawford’s views on_
the uses of Labuan were quoted at length. He]
hoped that a settlement might be formed in the
island of Labuan off the Brunei River as a coaling_
station, The seam was at the north east of the
island. -
A fierce competition existed between the
English East India Company and the Dutch East
India Company. They both began as deadly
rivals and their careers clashed. Both concen
trated on the spice islands in the Moluccas an
since the Dutch had expelled the Portugues
from those islands, they regarded the English a
interlopers. The Dutch won the contest, The
held Cape Town, Colombo and Malacca while
the British held India and Penang, and in th
result the vast wealth of Indonesia fell int
Dutch hands. [
Then Napoleon overran Holland, England
defeated France and the vast area held by the
Dutch came into English hands. At the end of
the wars, the English returned Indonesia with

face in these seas, and shared Borneo between
them. -
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The Dutch always were very jealous and tried
o keep the ports closed against the British.
A treaty with Holland dated 17th March 1824
isted and limited British and Dutch formation
new settlements in these seas. The Dutch
re suspicous of adventurers but our treaty with
em contained no article preventing Great
itain from obtaining cessions of territory in
tneo. Thus two of the articles read s—
“Art.6. It is agreed that orders shall be
given by the two governments to theirOfficers
and Agents in the East not to form any new
settlements on any of the islands in the Eastern
Seas  without previous ‘authority from their
respactive governments.
Art. 7. His Britannic Majesty however
gages that no British establishment shall be
ade on the Carimon Islends or on the Islands
Battam, Bintang, Lingin or on any of the
her islands south of the Straits of Singapore,
or any treaty concluded by British authority
ith the Chiefs of those islands ”
hus as against Holland, Great Britain had a
and to obtain a cession of an island such as
mian. The treaty was directed against
ipation by subjects of either state without
ious authority.
teat Britain opened negotiations with the
of Brunei through Singapore. The
h protested, holding that treaties which.
in proposed, and later entered into, violated
eaty which Britain had already entered into
Holland in 1824.
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The popular view was that Great Britain by
entering into a treaty with the Sultan did not
vivlate their other treaty with the Dutch.

While the dispute was going on between the
two powers, James Brooke in 1839 sailed into
the Sarawak River where Rajah Mudah Hassim
ruled the country under the overlordship of the
Sultan of Brunei.

Rajah Mudah Hassim discussed the matter:
with James Brooke and asked him a question.

“ Which is the cat and which is the rat?” he
asked, referring to the relative strength of
England and Holland, and James Brooke’s
answer gained the confidence of Rajah Mudah
Hassim.

No story of Labuan would be complete without
reference to the work of James Brooke, before,
during and after his governorship of the island
He was one of the greatest Englishmen of his
day. He gave himself to the service of Sarawak
and Labuan and never thought of reward. He
pacified the northwest coast and people clamoured
to come under his rule. He was no usurper.
The people of Sarawak implored him to rule over
them.

James Brooke was the only son of a well-to-do
merchant of India who retired to live in Norfolk.
Young Brooke joined the East India Company as
a cadet when sixteen years of age, served in the
Burma war, and after being severely wounded
returned to England on leave.

The nature_of the wound which led to bis
remaining in England was seriouvs.
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had been shot away, and he who was to
e a Rajah and found a dynasty never took
ee to wife or begot an hetr.
sick leave lasted nearly five years and he
et out again for India. He was delayed by
reck and arriving in India too late to report
eturn by a certain date he resigned his
pintment with the East India Company. He
inued his voyage and visited Penang, Malacca,
gapore and China, and then returned to
land. = His father died in 1835 leaving him
1l fortune. He could now carry out the
ject he had in mind of doing some geographical
k., He fitted ouf the Royalist, a schooner, "
ed a crew and sailed for Singapore.

here he paid his respects to the Governor, an
India Company. The

e shipwrecked sailors. James Brooke undes-
to do this and in 1839 sailed into the
Royalist. His crew
bered twenty, all p\cked Englishmen. Sarawak
the time was in revolt against Sultan Omar
Saifuddin II.  The Sultan was incapable, but
regent Rajah Muda Hassim, though weak,
some excellent qualities. He was the fust
, considering the times he lived in, who
ed to suppress piracy and promote trade.and
n made friends wirh James Brooke.
mes Brooke sailed away to visit Celebes, but
rned a year later and “Rajah Muda Hassim
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became convinced that order in Sarawak could
be restored only with James Brooke’s help. So
James Brooke - accepted and was proclaimed
Governor of Sarawak in 1841 under the Sultan.
His subsequent career in Sarawak lies outside
this story of Labnan. Suffice it to say that for
twenty five years his life was one long battle
against misrule and for restoration of peace,
order and prosperity alomg the coast. The
suppression of piracy on the north west coast of
Borneo was due to James Booke more than to
any other one man.

Labuan was well situated for securing the chief
objectives of policy in those days. A beach was
wanted to careen the sailing ships, a port must
be fortified to resist pirates and to form a base
from which to attack them, coal must be mined
to refuel the steamers which recently had come
into being, a depot was needed to serve trade,
political influence must spread to the mainland,
and a tefuge must be provided to which slaves
could flee for protection. This seems a lot to
ask for a tiny island, but how well it served all
these purposes can be learned from its story.

From the earliest days James Brooke urged
the British Government to proclaim a protectorate
over Brunei and Sarawak, and annex Labuan.
Far from wishing to destroy the Sultanate, James
Brooke wished to preserve and revivify it. James
Brooke, as Governor under the Sultan, was urging
the appointment of a British Resident to advise
the Sultan. As long ago as 1841 or 1842, James
Brooke in Borneo was pressing for a system of
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ol by British Residents which was accepted

Wuh the help of Mr Wise,
siness man, who foresaw clearly the future
h of Brunei and who acted as James Brooke’s
in London. public interest was aroused.
lhie British Government was adverse to
s Brooke’s proposals, but was anxious to
ire the coal fields in Labuan and on the main
Negotiations went on for several years
reports by naval officers sent to inspect
uan convinced the Cabinet that the island
ld be valuable both as a coaling station and
entre of trade with Brunei and the Sulu
pelago. ~ When in 1848, after years of
iation, bultan Omar Ali agreed to cede

ifield in Brunei, his offer was due to James
_ Jumes Brooke’s hopes were
In return the British

, wrote James Brooke to
rnment, “generally and more particularly
e north west of Borneo, it is required first
iracy be suppressed, and secondly that the
ve government be settled so as to afford
ction to the poor and producing classes.”
at the annexation of Labuan and the sup-
jon of piracy along the northern coast were
ennrly due to the untiring energy and
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perseverance of James Brooke is not_sufficiently
realised today. It was he'who stirred the Britis
Government to annex the island and take arm
against the pirates in the north as well as agains|
those who harried the ccast of Sarawek in b
south. :

Knowledge of the South China sea bei
scanty, H.M.S. Samarang, a ship of 26 guns,
commissioned 1o sail there and explore.
jeft England early in 1843, equipped with t
best surveying instruments of the day. Captain
Sir Edward Belcher was in command. He had
other duties besides surveying the China se
He must keep in touch with James Brooke;
must report on the coalseams in Borneo;
must enquire into the question of a settlement
or near Borneo. He must keep the suppressi
of piracy in mind. Proceeding by way of Ca
of Good Hope, H.M.S. Samarang anchored in t
Sarawak River. Captain Belcher has left
memoirs and the pages of “Narrative of
Voyage of H.M.S. Samarang” written by him
{ull of information.

At Kuching, Captain Belcher discussed
position with James Brooke. James Bro
sought for himself and his Kingdom of Saraw
the protection which should be and usually
extended to British subjects by the mot
country. He had induced the rulers in Br
to seek a close alliance with Great Britain
their own security, and as a pledge of their @
sincerity the rulers had agreed to cede part
their territory for the founding of a milf
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. So far, so good. This promise had not
t been ratified by Sultan Omar Ali and the
estion of which place was the best for the
oposed military post was still open. Kuching,
cided Captain Belcher, was not a suitable place.
lies inland. It is approachable only with a
urable tide by a circuitous route nearly
nty five miles from the sea. Nor, thought
tain Belcher, were there any other places
Kuching which could be made suitable. He
Moreover the great

udu Bay, where Serip Osman’s stronghold
and a base much closer than the Sarawak
or was needed to tackle these pirates.

tain Belcher, taking Brooke on board
S. Samarang, sailed for Brunei River.
epidemic of smallpox was rampant along
ast and in Brunei, and Captain Belcher
that the epidemic might spread and reach
S, Samarang, so he refused to sail up Brunei
and sent a message inviting the Sultan to
down river to the ship.

e boats, which H.M.S. Semarang lowered to
e the Bay, were soon in trouble. Chermin
where waved the red and yellow flag of
i and which guarded the entrance to
i River, opened fire. Ahead of the boats
riers of trees hastily felled to make booms
better protection of the river. A volley
he cannon of Chermin Island did not
an exchange of friendly and courteous
s between Captain Belcher and Sultan
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mies

Reads m pathe <=

BRUNEI BAY

Shewing Chermin Island guarding entrance to
Brunei River
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ar Ali, but the fortress’ unfriendly aci on this
occasion could not be overlooked. No
liation was made at the time, but the fortress
reception was not forgotten. Captain
her kept it in mind and returned a year later
demands, including the dismantling of the
s and a proper respect for the British flag.

eanwhip Sultan Omar Ali hastened down
r and there on board H.M.S. Samarang a
jed audience was held. Captain Belcher
‘a taciturn commander, and a salute from the
of the ship may have spoken with some
The audience had good results.  Sultan
Ali re-affirmed James Brooke’s rule in
ak, bestowed possession in perpetuity and
brought into history the dynasty of the
Rajahs.

tain Belcher thought the island of Labuan
the best base from which to attack Serip
n’s stronghold in the north. The island
d a good naval position and a central point
which the pirate fleets could be overlooked.
ing James Brooke goodbye Captain Belcher
from Brunei River in September 1843 on
her duties. H.M.S. Samarang passed within
of Labuan, but did not stop there and went
Hongkong, a colony which China bad
ceded to Great Britain and of which

e islands of Hongkong and Labuan are
tately of the same size and both are of
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strategic importance, but they differ vastly in
their commercial wealth ! [
James Brooke awaited the cession of Labuan -
with some impatience, His first step was to fre
his own province of Sarawak of pirates and this:
work was almost completed. Northern pirates:
however, known as Orang laut and Illanuns,.
still harried his coast and on several occasions.
he pursued them out to sea with the help o
his trusty Malays. He caught some of the pirate
tried them and executed them, and he recorde
information about their haunts and stronghold
in the far north. But his resources were limited
and he realised that suppression of piracy in th
north required the help of British warship
Pindasan, Marudu and Tungku were beyond b

exterminated. It was the urgent need of the da
Other places at a distance such as Malacca or-
Singapore were rich and prosperous, but the
coasts of Borneo were deserted. The pirates
captured trading ships and attacked coastal |
villages. They seized goods of every sort and
enslaved men, women and children.

Their cruelty was intense.

Eyewitnesses have left récords of the cruelti
inflicted by pirates on their captives. Here
one account by a gallant English lady :—

““ After an hour or so the look-out at the
- masthead reported three vessels in sight righ
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ead. James Brooke did not give the order
fire until we came within two hundred and
ty yards of them and they opeved their lelah,
ass swivel guns, upon us some time before

i After the first prahu

t own wounded, but I plainly felt the con-
ssions as we rammed the others.

“The captives were of all nationalities. Itis
marvel how these poor creatures survive
der the terrible tortures they endure. These

hom the pirates spare they take on board
eir own prahus, beat them with a flat piece
bamboo at the elbows and knees, and on the

y

“When sufficiently tamed they are put to the
veeps. Those who will not work are krissed
d thrown overboard. They are made to
w in relays night and day, and to keep them
wake the pirates put cayenne pepper in their
es, or cut them with knives and put pepper
their wounds”.

‘mounted in the bow. Pirates brandish spears. A
astern and wooden shields give protection. Slaves
the boat.
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The bigger of the war-galleys were long low
open vessels, like the. Viking ships which used t
harass the coasts of England long ago. The wa
galleys, such as the garai of the southern Philip
pines, are not built nowadays and are as dea
as the ships of the Vikings.

The galleys were manned by slaves, two to a
oar. These men had to row and row hard.
They were tied in couples by rattans fastened
round their necks. When these men were wor
out by sickness or fatigue they were thrown.
overboard to die. The galleys were armed wit
brass swivel guns, If the galleys were drive
ashore by the superior gun fire of British ships,

the pirates would take to the water and figh
hand to hand with the sailors who pursued them
in rowing boats. The pirates showed braver
and undaunted resolution, and the sailors often’
expressed admiration for their prowess. The

This warboat is a Dyak boat for use in rivers.
There is no mast or sails. A cannon is mounted in” 2
the bow. Warriors fire blowpipes. The warboat is
painted with gay colours and wears feathers astern.
Freemen paddle the boat.
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coured the seas in fleets and when
6 bay, driven ashore and captured as
‘a hundred slaves might be released from

s and set at liberty. Pirates’ ships
shallow draught enabling them to enter
; fivers and coral channels where they

from pursuit by warships of deeper

Stratagem and trickery were needed
them to bay.

ption was needed because the pirates were
ous and kept clear of warships. The
could row, while the warships were often

. The warships, mostly frigates, were
mes rigged up as trading vessels and

R

/
1IN

\{ter a model in Raffles Museum, Singapore
idable pirate ship. Six cannon are mounted
galley’s fighting deck. A roomy cabin shelters
gliters. Two score slaves sweat at the sweeps
¢ below. A ramp is hinged to the foot of a mast,
be raised or lowered to let the hook at its end
a ship and up it the nimble pirates would
reach the deck.
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Captain Gordoa, H.M.S. Wolf was most success:
ful during his short life in disguising his ship,
He kept a menagerie on board and when a piral
saw a monkey at the mast head curiosity oftc
outweighed caution. Captain Gordon carri
not only monkeys, but fowls, a small flock of
sheep, a honey bear and a black panther. :
Piracy was looked upon as an honourabl
calling and Sultans and Rajahs, while condemn
ing it openly supported it secretly. Piracy w
the sport of Princes. They were partners wit
_ pirates and they took the lion’s share of the oot
In 1843, the Hon’ble East India Company’
Governor at the Strait Settlements took a hand,
Singapore was still ruled by the Hon’ble Eas
India Company some of whose trading ships ha
been attacked off the coast of Brunei. Captai
the Hon. Henry Keppel, HM.S. Dido, sailed t
investigate. At Brunei Captain Keppel met th
regent, Rajah Muda Hassim the Sultan’s uncle
who gave details of the pirates’ latest attacks an
asked Captain Keppel to punish them. Tk
regent’s letters are on record. :
The right to exterminate pirates was recogs
nised by the laws of nations as just and prope
and a few of the more enlightened rulérs gav
support to the naval captains. They saw that,
the consistent benefits of peace and of regulard
trade would far outweigh the casual profits of
piracy: -
Rajah Muda Hassim, the regent, held that
opinion. He opposed the illegal traffic in slaves
and loot.
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he regent’s insistence on the suppression of
acy was contrary to the wishes of most others
Brunei, but he succeeded in his efforts. Captain
ppel needed little pursuasion and took
ediate action. He too, like Captain Belcher,
left records of his engagements and his

n October 1844, a year after his first visit,
ptain Belcher returned from the north and
ed to Sarawak to carry proposals for the
sion of Labuan a stage further. A survey of
.island, its channels and surrounding seas
Te now matters of importance.

On 22nd October H.M.S. Samarang anchored

Labuan and Captain Belcher made arrange-

nts for his officers to begin a survey of the

ters, while he visited Sultan Omar Alitn Brunei

discuss the proposed cession.

The Hon’ble East India Company’s steamship

legethon then steamed into Brunei Bay with
Captain Belcher

d accompanied by a gig and as many officers
he could spare from survey duties boarded
C.S. Phlegethon.

Ships belonging to the Hon’ble East India
mpany were prefixed H.CS. to distinguish
m from Her Majesty’s ships. H.C. ships were

ned and often in battle, but were not usually .

led frigates or warships. The ships were
stly steamships and had paddle-wheels on
her Side.

'
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They could manoevre more easily than sailing
ships, had shallow draught and could cross river
bars and steam up-stream. The day of steamships
had dawned. 'The Lords of the Admiralty in
London, mindful of their great responsibility and

~cautious of change were slow to forsake the winds
of heaven as motive power in favour of coals of
uncertain supply.

But the Hon'ble Company could take the
chance. They adopted modern methods and
decided in favour of steam. The need of coal
to feed the furnaces of their iron ships was
urgent, and the Hon’ble Company had its eye on

.collieries and coaling ports. The Hon’ble
Company assisted in the suppression of piracy
and H.C.S. Phlegethon was early in the fray.
When in consort with H.M. ships, the Naval
Captain took command.

Aboard H.C.S. Phlegethon Captain Belcher
learned from James Brooke that Pengiran Usup,
of the Court of Brunei, was the name of the
minister who had put the shore and island
batteries into a state of defence a year before and
had offered insults to the British flag. Moreover
he had used much abusive language to Rajah)
Muda Hassim and his family, because of hi
friendship with James Brooke and his opposition
to piracy. Rajah Mudah Hassim had been
deposed from the regency and he with his fami
were with James Brooke aboard H.C.S. Phlegetho
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ames Brooke relied on the good offices of’

the Sultan to overcome the known duplicity
ngiran Usup, who was now chief minister,
the Sultan’s ear, and supported piracy.

H.C.S. Phlegethon steamed up Brunei River.

e iron ship passed the fortress at Chermin
d without any exchanges and steamed on be-
1 steep hill sides with their green patches of
jvation and clusters of palms. Prahus over-
_the warship, paddling up river on the tide
the speed of racing eights. Brown fishing
hung at the bow and the paddlers sirained at

paddles, with their backs towards the
man who sat perched on the carved stem.
were fishermen going home with the night’s

paddle-wheels of the steamer churned on,
last H.C.S. Phlegethon, spitting steam from
Ives in her efforts to match the speed of
unei fishing boats and spouting sparks from -
nmel in a manner befitting her name as
nging to the nether regions, forced her
aves to ruffle the placid waters of Brunei.
agoon had never seen her like. She was
to burst into that quiet lake. The
1nd1v1dually alert to change and quick
fate something new — though their age-
oms refute it— gave the steamship a
ome. She moored at eight o’clock in
g in the main waterway opposite the
Next morning Captain Belcher, accom-
James Brooke and Rajah Muda Hassim,
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and attended by armed boats, landed at the [
Palace steps. Captain Belcher entered the Palace 2
and addressed Sultan Omar Al He had
the assistance of interpreters in the service of the _
Hon’ble Company.

He expressed his pleasure at visiting Brunei
again, but also expressed his surprise that foolish J
advice could have induced the Sultan’s ministers
o assume a hostile attitude as he had done a year
before.

Sultan Omar Ali in reply regretted that any-
thing should have occurred to displease the
Captain, and after an exchange of compliments,
they separated for a time lest any hasty decision
should spoil the smoothness of delicate diplomacy.

Brunei in those days presented a gay appearance,
The houses, excepting only the palace of the
Sultan and one or two of his nobles, were built
on piles on the banks of the river or over the]
water. At high tide the houses seemed to float,
and the air was fresh, but at low tide a grea
stench arose from the mud and to Europea
nostrils it was most offensive.

The house-masts flew bright banners banner
and pennons indicating the rank and office of th
owners, the prahus hoisted large square sails, and,
there was a great variety of boats. Floating
markets, and brilliant costumes made a colourfu
scene. From across the water the mellow
chiming and beating of gongs and drums, in
every tone and cadence, could be heard. On
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very side low wooded hills rose from the guiet
goon, and Dar’l Salem, the abode of peace,
eemed a place of charm.
Some of the sailors from H.C.S. Phlegethon
ere housed in a flimsy hut lent by the Sultan.
ere they dined and slept with their arms by
eir side. Their boats were anchored close
longside. The sailors attended the audience
dhamber unarmed, but the barge lay on her oars
breast of the audience chamber and her six-
ounder gun was charged with grape and canister.
he audience chamber opened on the river, and
he Sultan sat on his throne on the dais in the
shamber gazing with immobile features at the
ene. H.C.S. Phlegethon lay at anchor with a
pring on her cable and steam up. Every sailor
srried a loaded musket. Her guns were loaded.
e of them pointed into the audience chamber.
frowned in the Sultan’s face while a sailor
ood beside the gun with lighted tow in his hand.

Sultan Omar Ali and his ministers showed
erfect self-posséssion and coolness while the guns
re trained on them. They showed no emotion
even when making threats they spoke with
mness and deliberation.
ach evening the audience was resumed.

ames Brooke presented a letter written by
ieen Victoria, and addressed to the Sultan,
ing for the Sultan’s assistance in suppression
iracy.
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The Sultan stared at James Brooke in astonish-
ment. ~ James Brooke and Her Majesty the Queen
were asking too much. We cannot wonder at
the Sultan’s surprise, because he was enjoying a
good income from piracy and claimed his share
of the loot. But some of the chieftains favoured
the policy of suppreasing piracy, and amongst
these were Pengiran Budrudin and Raja Muda
Hassim, who assisted James Brooke in the
negotiations.

“We are much indebted to the Queen. It is
very good,” said Raja Muda Hassim.

The Sultan recovered his presence of mind.
“Good! very good!” he echoed.

Rajah Muda Hassin began by pointing out to -
his nephew the Sultan the danger og foolish '
action, and the bad advice of Pengiran Usup,
particularly in hiz recent action of defiance.
Pengiran Usup had endangered peace with the
British. Pengiran Usup replied.

James Brooke who understood what was said
whispered to Captain Belcher that so far every
word in this exchange on both sides was in the
highest strain of courtesy, but that each side
really hoped to cut the other’s throat.

After a further exchange between the rival
ministers, the Sultan beckoned Rajah Muda
Hassim to come close to him.

“My father,” said the Sultan, “at his death
told me to be guided by your counsel and I intend
to be so guided.” '




POLICY AND PiRACY

ultan then suddenly exclaimed “I am
He rose and retired, asking James Brooke,
d him, to consider that Rajah Muda
was in charge of affairs.
Muda Hassim, as the Sultan’s uncle,
tely assumed control. He upraided
Usup for his misdeeds and sent him
Her ministers to the Sultan in his private
qits to ask for orders that the batteries at
n and Brunei be disarmed at once, lest
rther offence should be offered to the
The ministers returned and said that

the work to be completed before dawn.
British officers having thus attained
y of the situation and set their own manin
ould take things more easily. Negotiations
ed for the next few days. James Brooke
or the drawing of a document which
confirm and secure the cession of Labuan
ady promised. He and the Sultan had
d it before and the time had come to
the bargain. Rajah Muda Hassim being
rge of the negotiations on the Sultan’s
and friendly to James Brooke, the document
n drafted, It took the form of a letter to
ressed by Sultan Omar Ali of Brunei to
een of England, and was written in courtly

the Sultan of Brunei to the Queen of
and,” it began. “ This letter is address-
by Sultan Omar Al and Rajah Muda




96 POLICY AND PIRACY

Hassim as rulers of the state of Brunei to 4
Queen of England. The Sultan and
Mudah Hassim desire to gain the friend
and aid of the Queen of England for th
suppression of piracy and the encouragemey
and extension of trade, and to assist in fqf
warding these objects, they are willing
cede to the Queen of England the island
Labuan and its islets on such terms as
hereafter be arranged by any person appoi
by Her Majesty.

“The Sultan and Rajah Muda Hassim cg
sider that an English settlement on Labuan v
be of great service to the natives of the cos
and will draw a considerable trade from
north and from China. Should Her Ma
decide upon the measure the Sultan
Rajah Muda Hassim promise to give ¢
help to the British authorities.”

To this document the seals of Sultan Omar
Rajeh Mudah Hassim and the Pengirans
formally attached.

Even Pengiran Usup, who represented
pirates at the Sultan’s court, signed the letter
favour of suppression of piracy. :

It was on the strength of this document

future ministers, and it was this document w
cost Raja Muda Hassim his life.

The terms were rather one-sided, because
Sultan promised to give the island of Labuan
every assistance to the British, who on their 8
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ed nothing. They might withdraw at any
They gave no promise to stamp out piracy.
taken for granted.
Brooke’s view was that he had obtained
e of Labuan in writing, and this would
e the cession if the British government
to found a colony there. He had prepared
le in Brunei for the change and he felt
t most of them would approve of the
It would please Rajah Muda Hassim
half-brother Pengiran Budrudin, who
two ablest men in Brunei. However
f these men lived to see the fulfilment
plans, though the result came about as
rooke had foretold.
in Belcher’s next step was to find the
He and James Brooke came to the
on that the range of hills between Brunei
Satisfied
$ discovery they took leave of Rajah
fagsim and Pengiran Budrudin.
arewell was friendly. The two ministers
teful for what had been done for them
tain Belcher honoured the City of Waters,
am, abode of peace, with a salute from .
of H.C.S. Phlegethon. The ship steamed
nto the river lest the concussion of a
 twenty one guns should prove too much
msy houses built over the water. The
mself did not appear in person, but
s .of prahus came out from beneath the
ages, raced the ship and many were
d in the waves caused by her paddle-
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wheels while she steamed full speed down th
river:

Rejoining his ship, H.M.S. Samarang, at Labuan,
Captain Belcher finished the survey of
channels to the south before sunset, and moved
his ship to the channel leading in a norther}
direction before dark and passing between t
islands he anchored in the new harbour. Ip
honour of the Queen and in confidence that t
flag would soon wave proudly over it he named
it Port Victoria.

Next day Captain Belcher and James Brook
searched the island for coal-seams. Followin
the east shore, they found a seam at the northe
end where coal showed itself at one or two poin
They thought there was an abundant suppl
beneath, and packed up specimens to be sent ia
London with other samples from the seams i
Brunei. The result of the examinations in
London wassatisfactory and the coal was reporte
to be of a quality quite equal to the best New
castle coal.

Captain Belcher however wasnever enthusiastig
about the future of Labuan coal and held 1

England at a cost less than mining it in eithe
Brunei or Labuan. He thought that the difficulty
of recruiting labour to work the mines would b
insuperable. But on the other hand he thou
that the soil of L.abuan was rich for agricultu
The northern part of the island was covered w
a black loam, highly charged with oxide of ir
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nd growing good timber.  The vegetaticn
ourished luxuriantly. There was in the season
bundant water, especially on the south west
de of the island where several streams flowed

e Straits Steamship Company today.
Captain Belcher’s description of this visit
ring 1844 is the earliest record of a tour in
abuan. Doubtless his description did much to
fluence the British Government two years later
e Sultan’s offer and take possession of
It was late in the year when Captain
Sir Edward Belcher, having performed his duty
_in'Brunei and Labuan bid James Brooke goodbye
nd sailed to his station in China, under orders

o proceed with utmost speed.

_H.M.S. Samarang had left only a few weeks
vhen the tall masts of U.S.S. Constitution and her
-white sails of cotton, whiter than any
sh canvas, towered above every ship in
unei Bay. The Americans had heard of the
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U.8.S, CONSTITUTION
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sh effort to get a concession and they had no
ntion of being left out of the race.
of the most famous

oston she began her famous career in 1798
ere she was in 1844 forty six years later off
e coast of Labuan in Brunei B:

he British had no ship in these waters to
ch her. Incontrast H.C.S. Nemesis which
be in action in a later chapter carried two
ounders only. U.S.S. Constitution, built in a
famous for its shipwrights, was credited
h the remarkable speed of 13% knots. Her
n mast was 104 feet tall  Her length was
et, her beam 44 feet, and her draught 24
Lord Nelson’s flagship, HM.S. Victory
se battle days were over, was then lying in
tsmouth as flagship to the Port Admiral,
measured along the gundeck 186 feet. These
ils show what a powerful ship the Americans

sent to support their claims in Brunei.
he Americans had taken an interest in south-
Asia as long ago as 1800. In 1801 thirty four
ericans ships made successful voyages from
erica to Canton, and many others had made
od thing out of selling gunpowder to pirates
Valacca Straits. The United States bad a
cy of demanding benefits from other nations
east as good as those given to any other.
winsisted on rights equal to any other favoured
on. If Brunei granted rights to Great Britain,
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then the United States claimed rights als
Having learned that Sultan Omar Ali had
promised concessions to Sir James Brooke and
to Queen Victoria the Captain of U.S.S. Constitution
paid a call at the Istana. |

The American Captain had instructions to offer
immediate protection to Sultan Omar Ali with
treaty of friendship and commerce on the groun
that the coal seams had been ceded to America
and that the right of exclusive trade also had been.
granted. |
1 the Americans had remained longer and had
been better versed in Asian politics, there can be
no doubt that Sultan Omar Ali and his evil
counseller Pengiran Usup, who hated the British,
would have formed an alliance with the United
States. The Sultan, already committed, could
give the Americans no satisfaction. The Editor
of the Singapore Pree Press however took occasion
t0 abuse the Sultan for having the “head of an
idiot and the heart of a pirate,” though on th
occasion he had acted up to his promises with
the British. Did the Editor think that develop-
ment would be faster under the silver-knobbed
stick of Uncle Sam than under the motherly care
of the Queen’s government?

U.S.S. Constitution sailed away having failed in
her mission but Sultan Omar Ali some years later,
in 1850, in spite of British protests signed a treaty
giving the United States privileges of the most
favoured nation — too late because by that time
the British were securely in possession,

—:000:—




CHAPTER 3
ANNEXATION

Captain Bethune, H.M.S. Driver, sailed
Singapore to visit Labuan and the
Free Press of 27th March 1845 records
zought back specimens of excellent coal.

Brooke also records in his diaries that he
the coal seams with Captain Bethune and

Brooke continued to press for the cession
uan and for an attack on the pirates’
oldin the north and in reply to his repeated
‘Admiral Sir Thomas Cochrane sailed
from Hong Kong, passed Labuan and
ed in Brunei Bay. His squadron made a
show. H.M. Ships Agincour!, 74 guns,
lus, Cruiser, Wolverine and Vixen were
ted by H.C. Ships Plufo and Nemesis. The
ee were steamships. The whole squadron
p]river. James Brooke accompanied the
al.

Sultan was diplomatic. He blamed
an Usup for the capture of a British trading
hich had the double misfortune to be first

k by lightning and then pirated. When
minister was summoned to attend and failed
ppear ashot was fired over his house.

bgivan Usup had the audacity to reply from
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his home battery. A warship opened fire on his
house and in & trice his house was in flames and -
he had fled into the jungle. :

This matter having been settled, the Admiral
took James Brooke on board and sailed north in
August 1845 to Kudat to attack the pirates’
stronghold in Marudu Bay. This was a most
successful affair and the exploit is well told in |
naval histories of the day. After reducing the 2
stronghold at Langkon, Admiral Crochrane
returned to Brunei to deal with further trouble |
in that town and then sailed for China_ leaving |
his captains to finish off the troublesome business. ;
The suppression of piracy in the north took:
another three or four years of vigilance and
warfare,

Meanwhile the British Government had at lon,
last accepted Sultan Omar Ali’s_offer ard had
decided to annex Labuan as a British possession.

The British Government, accepting the advice
of the Foreign Office which favoured the cession,
rather than that of the Colonial office whic
opposed it, had made up its mind. The positio;
of Labuan relative to China was good. Trade
with the northern parts of Borneo could be
encouraged. The flank of sea routes used by th
British Navy and merchant ships could b
protected.

Labuan was central for the suppression o
piracy and it brought the northern stronghold
within reach. The island was tiny, so that
could be easily defended. A frigate or two,
battalion of troops and a battery of artillery woul
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onstitute a defence powerful enough to protect
e island. Above all coal was available.
he Union Jack must be hoisted without further
elay. A treaty of cession with Sultan Omar
i must be concluded.
Meanwhile serious trouble broke out in Brunei,
at restless city, miscalled the Abode of Peace.
ptain Belcher and James Brooke, as recorded
he last chapter, had left their friends Raja
da Hassim and Pengiran Barudin in power
er the Sultan. They lived under his protection
prospered for a time. Raja Muda Hassim
named as successor to the throne and bad
eived the title of Sultan Muda. They were
Sultan’s uncles, men of power, and they
ed the Sultan to decree that their old enemy
giran Usup be stangled, and stangled he was.
‘had retired to his feudal estates in Kimanis,
he Bay north east of Labuan, was caught off
ward and garrotted. But the Sultan had not
tten the part which his uncles had played
ppressing piracy and siding with the British.
loss of income preyed upon his mind.
duced by Haji Saman and choosing a favour-
time, he secretly sentenced them both to
. Silently by night armed bands surrounded
houses. In the darkness Pengiran Barudin
ht like a hero. His followers were cut down.
ister, a faithful concubine, and a young slave
d Japar fought by his side. Desperately
1ded, with his left wrist broken, and streaming
ood, Pengiran Barudin withdrew into the
s of his house with the two women and the
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boy. To a barrel of gunpowder hidden th
he applied 2 match and blew himself and
women to death, The slave-boy lived.

Raja Muda Haesim was a man of differen
temperament from his brother. He sent
message to the Sultan pleading for his life, and
when this had been refused he shot himself witl b
a pistol.

Such had been the untimely fate of the t

the British and had gained a promise of a cessioy
of Labuan from the unwilling Sultan, The Sultan
delighted at his success, and believing himself tg
be kabal, invulnerable, had built new forts round
his city and boasted that he would drive alf
foreigners out of Brunei. He massacred most
the members of the two dead ministers’ famil

in cold blood. Thanks to the young slave Japar
who survived, news of these events soon reached
the ears of James Brooke. He reported to London
and appealed to the Admiral of the China Squadron
for help. Admiral Cochrane at once put to s
from Singapore with a powerful fleet. This ti
his squadron included H.M. Ships Agincourt,
guns, Iris, Hazard, Ringdove and Spiteful, Jan
Brooke’s Royalist and H.C.S. Phlegethon.

of these ships, ' Spiteful and Phlegethon we
steamships. ~ They sailed from Singapore on

guarding Brunei River and swept upstream tot
city. Here the ships bombarded the city defenc
and Captain Mundy, H.M.S. Iris, entered




LABUAN STORY 107

sminded the Sultan of this act when he met him
year later. Two ministers were appointed as
ents, but the Sultan would not come forth
pm_his hiding place and Admiral Cochrane
1d not spare. the time to wait. He sailed .
h with H.M. Ships past Labuan to Tempasuk,
ombarded and reduced pirates’ strongholds there
nd so returned to China, detaching H.M.S. Iris
ith two other ships to watch events in Brunei

Whilc thq South China fleet lay in Brunei Bay

the Admiral’s first visit, some of his officers
crossed the Bay to explore Labuan and on

ir return they had reported that there was no
er, or insufficient water to supply an establish-
ent of the size needed to defend the island. So
aptain Belcher, HM.S. Samarang, was sent for
nd this time he was asked to direct his attention
ncipally to the discovery of sufficient water to
pport an establishment on the island. There
ere also a few survey matters requiring attention.
aptain Belcher thought that these unfavourable
ports were not justified. He searched again,
nd in the south west bay he met with sources
ich promised plenty of water. Rounding the
outh west cape of the island he searched the
ge sandy bay between Kiamsam and Rapcha-
ancha and met with three powerful streams.
cing one of the streams inland he accepted it

a sufficient supply. Though the island is
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traversed by several streams, only two streams
flow at all seasons of the year, but water could
be found everywhere by boring or digging.

Then Captain Belcher got involved in the
politics of Brunei.

Negotiations were delayed and he could do
nothing without James Brooke’s advice.

H.M.S. Samarang sailed for Sarawak River in
search of him, but he was away on duty and no
one knew when he would be back. Captain
Belcher waited for his return, but provisions began
to run short. Captain Belcher could wait no
longer and he cleared for Singapore leaving the
Borneo coast for the last time.

Here we take leave of the gallant Captain.

Though Labuan owes its annexation largely to
the reports and the two visits of Captain Sir
Edward Belcher in H.M.S. Samarang, in October
1844 and again in 1846, he was careful in his
diaries to give a warning against some of the too
hopeful estimates made about the immediate
increase of trade. Some people thought there
would be a boom. “I will not yield,” wrote
Captain Belcher, “to anyone in feelings of deep
interest for the success of our new possession”,
But he continues, “ The establishment of a British
port or colony on any part of the northern shores
of Borneo will not induce any of the native
authoritiés to send there for sale.”

The small traders, thought Captain Belcher,
would creep alongshore and find their way to the
- best market. Even if the colony should be firmly
established a satisfactory state of affairs would be
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ow in coming, because there must be a long
lay in the development of the mainland of
orneo and its people. Captain Belcher’s view
as right, as the result of a hundred years of
ow growth in commerce has proved. His
recast seems to have been much more correct
an those who expecied another port like
Penang, Singapore or Hongkong to spring into
being.  Others looked through rose-tinted
ectacles, but Captain Belcher discerned the
ture of Labuan with foresight and accuracy.
The responsibility for the survey of Labuan
nd for advice as to its sufficiency and suitability
become a colony lay upon Captain Belcher.
hat phase was over and the task of annexation
s given to Captain Mundy, H.M.S. Iris. He
as equal to the occasion. With the memory of
he mounting flames of the Istana fired by his
arines still fresh in his mind, with the broad-

tteries likely to oppose him, with a coutenance
hat could outface any Pengiran, and a_crimson
mbrella more colourful than the royal yellow,
aptain Mundy's patience and diplomacy proved
ecisive.

His first step was to pay a visit to the city of
runei to greet the Sultan who had emerged :
rom his hiding place in the jungle and had met
ames Brooke, and to renew those friendly
elations with H.H. which had been so rudely
hattered during Admiral Cochrane’s second
isit by a bombardment of the city and the
urning of the palace. :
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H.M.S. Iris sailed from northern waters, and
put in at Papar and then at Kimanis. She
dropped anchor and received visitors on board.
Leaving the coast of Borneo she sailed outside
Labuan and anchored in Brunei River, seventeen *
miles below the city late in August 1846. Vessels
greeted the warship, hoisted white flags to show |
that they were peaceful trading vessels, and
visitors of rank came aboard. P

But the mere rumour of the approach of
Captain Mundy sent the Sultan back to his bolt
hole in the jungle, and it was not till three week
had passed that His Highness would consent t
receive the British Captain. He sent a present .
of bullocks, and vegetables loaded in a barge. -
Captain Mundy however was cautious and woul
‘not receive any presents until after his audienc
with the Sultan and he tactfully refused all gifts, .
while expressing his gratification at receipt of the -
Sultan’s letter accompanying them. He replie
to this letter saying that he felt sure that troubles:
in Borneo were now at an end, .

Next morning the pinnace, barge, cutter and.
gig manned with sailors left HM.8. Iris and

Captain Mundy followed in his galley. Thi

sailors rowed seventeen miles upstream with

wind against them on a slight flood tide. It took
three and a half hours. At half past eleven
o'clock in blazing sunshine the ship’s boat

anchored in line opposite the Sultan’s palace

and the marines drew up on a terrace leading t

the audience chamber. Sultan Omar Ali receive
.. Captain Mundy at the entrance to the audienc
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mber and the marines presented arms. At
the Sultan’s demeanour showed that he
ed the landing of this naval party. He
about him with surprise.
numervus Pengirans who thronged the
nce chamber treated the Sultan with marked
t, and supported him.
Sultan offered his hand to the Captain and
him to a seat, but he still looked doubtfully
e marines whose presence he disliked
ly. The conversation had to be inter-
and Captain Mundy exercised patience.
ew how trying it is to the patience to listen
any hours to men whose language is not

- T g
Tl

At the Audience Chamber
{ After Marryat)
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understood, and whose every word must b
translated by theinterpreter, and he knew ho
much the people appreciated a friendly attitude,

Captain Mundy presented his naval officers ¢
the Sultan and then asked for a private intervie
with the Sultan in a quiet room. The Sulta
rose at once and led the Captain down a lon
corridor to an open chamber which overlogkey
Brunei River. He ordered a large wax taper
be lit and placed between them and explaine
that this taper was witness to the purity of h
heart and to the oath which he was ready
swear in goodwill to ‘‘his sister the Queen o
Europe ”, as he described Queen Victoria.

Captain Mundy did not mince matters ang
began to lecture the Sultan on his past misconducf
The Captain said that he noticed how the Sultan
had built himself a new palace to replace the old
palace which he, the Captain, had burned to 1he
ground some years before, and he would find it
much more agreeable to protect the new pala
than to burn it down like the old one. The Sulta
replied swearing by the Prophet, in whose honou
he had just fasted for thirty days that his hea
was in the right place. The Captain then tool
his leave. Although the cession was not discusse
at this first interview, everyone knew that th
visit was intended to lead to it. The Captai
embarked in his galley at about one o’clock unde
another salute and got aboard H.M.S. Fis at fivi
o’clock in the evening. He was satisfied wit
his visit.
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nei River had been crowded with boats and
hing had been done to give him a proper

xt morning Captain Mundy put to sea and
over towards Labuan. At ten o’clock a
rahu came alongside and several Pengirans
nted themselves in the Captain’s cabin
g despatches from the Sultan to Admiral
hrane and James Brooke. For the Captain
f there was a complimentary letter and a
handled kris, which the Sultan hoped the
iptain would keep as a memento of his visit.
Captain was diplomatic. He did not wish
cept the gift, but neither did he wish to
a civil offer made just after an audience
h had passed off satisfactorily. So he
ested the Pengirans to deposit the kris in a
cabin in a box where it would rest until the
gin returned to Brunet. Then if the Captain
d that the Sultan was still sincere and was
gved by good ministers, he would keep it as a
t to be highly prized. But if things turned
ontrary to his hopes, the Captain would be
d to return the kris to the Sultan. The
irans declared themselves satisfied with this
ngement and the deputation left the frigate.
‘M.S. Iris then sailed for Sarawak River to
1t to James Brooke, and sailed on toSingapore
wait final instructions for the annexation of
an.
tain Mundy had not to wait for long.
I8 instructions reached him in November.
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Admiral Cochrane was still in command i
China seas, he knew Brunei ard he wrote hi
instructions, H.M.S. Wolf was detailed t
support Iris and the two ships would sail i
consort. -

Admirals are famous for the stately diction of |
theic despatches and Sir Thomas Cochrane’s
choice of words could hardly be bettered.

Addressing Captain G Rodney Mundy, Esquir,
Captain of H.M.S. Iris, the Admiral wrote:—

“Your first proceeding will be, on you
arrival off the Borneo River, to wait upon th

Sultan and acquaint His Highness that Her

Majesty the Queen is now desirous of availin

herself of the treaty entered into in Novembe

1844, and that you have received instruction

to carry Her Majesty’s wishes into effect.

“The judgment and discretion you hav
already evinced since my departure frem th
coast of Borneo persuade me that in the relation
which will hereafter take place between th
squadron under your command and the Sulta
and his ministers will be governed by th
utmost circumspection, urbanity and forbea
ance, so that His Highness’ misconduct an
consequent humiliation shall only be broug
to his recollection through the contrast offere
in the present tranquillity and increase
dignity he enjoys by his friendly relations witl

Great Britain.

““Having made your preliminary arrang
ments with His Highness or his ministers, yo
will proceed to take formal possession
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Labuan, with the usual ceremonies observed

. in such occasions, and if you have the mears
of doing so at hand, you wili erect in a coms-
picuous place a stone column siating the day,
month, year and reign in which the possesion
was made.

“You will be careful not to incur any
expense upon the island without authority to
do so0.”

These few sentences taken from the Admiral's
structions are delightful. The Sultan’s misdeeds

at the folly of the past will still be kept in mind.
ptain Mundy is presumed to know the usual
remony of annexing en island, and is forbidden
spend a penny in doing so,
The careful Captain studied his instructions.
also read g despatch from Lord Palmerston,
e Prime Minister of Great Britain, sent to him
Captain Mundy in HLM.S, Iris lay at Singapore
tilt H.M.S. Wolf arrived from China to support
. The two ships refitted at Singapore, and
eutenant Colonel Butterworth, the Hon’ble *
mpany’s Governor of Singapore, sent on board
e ships an ample supply of tents, awnings, tools
d other gear for clearing the jungle and setting
the first camp in the new colony. Captain
indy began to draft a short treaty which he
oposed to submit to the Sultan on arrival at
unei for signature. This document on com-
ion was written out in beautiful English and
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Malay lettering. Captain Mundy received from
his friend Captain Hamilton, Secretary to the
Admiralty in London, a letter of congratulations
and good wishes, which greatly cheered him.
Mrs Church, of Singapore, sent on board a final
gift of flowers, plants and seeds for the new
colony and H.M.S. Iris and H.M S. Wolf sailed
from Singapore at daylight on 1st December

. 1846, with the good wishes of all. His first port
of call wotld be Kuching, where he would seek
the advice of James Brooke.

That the month of December is the most
unseasonable time of the year forsuch an operation
seems to have occurred to none. It is the wettest
month of the year on most of the west coast and
the north east monsoon blows strongly.

The warships had a boisterous passage. The
landus, so familiar to sailors along our western
coasts, begins about the third week in October
and is blowing at full strength in December.

The warships ran into shelter in Sarawak

..River and dropped anchor. HM.S. Hazard
awaited them. - Captain Mundy proceeded up-
‘river to Kuching in his galley. The row of
thirty five miles took his sailors five and a half
hours and the Captain found James Brooke at
the head of his table entertaining his Sarawak
chiefs. That night the question of the treaty
with the Sultan was looked into and James
Brooke approved the draft which was to be
presented to the Sultan, -A doubtful point had
occurred to Captain Mundy. He saw a difficulty
in the way. Would the Sultan sign the treaty to
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cede Labuan without being offered something in
change? James Brooke’s first view was that
e Pengirans and ministers in Brunei would
ise Dbjections and would adwise the Sultan not
sign the document unless money was paid to
jem. But he then went on to say that if Captain
undy was resolute, the Sultan would affix his
a] to the document. James Brooke could not
present. He was due to visit Singapore. In
e event the Captain would visit Brunei supported
ly by HLM.S. Wolf.
Next morning Captain Mundy left the Astana
Kuching and took James Brooke with him in
s galley down river. At the mouth of the river
heavy gale was blowing. James Brooke boarded
:M.S. Hazard for Singapore and Captain Mundy
arded H.M.S. Iris for Brunei. In doing so his
lley was stove all to pieces by the storm. In
ite of the bad weather Dis and Wolf got under
eigh and proceeded to sea in the face of a
vong northerly wind. The ships beat 10 wino-
ard in a heavy sea. [Iris outsailed Wolf making
knots against the head sea. For three days
e ships battered against the squalls and at Jast
chored off Baram Point. It was then dusk.
No time could be lost and at three o’clock in the
orning Captain Mundy weighed anchor. The
ind was still blowing strongly and rain fell
heavily as the ships worked off shore under
ouble-reefed top-sails, Daylight showed land
he eastward and at nine o’clock the weather
eared. The gallant captain was then standing
the heaving quarter-deck of his frigate.
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Appreciative as always of the beauty cf nature
and of his country’s destiny, he 100k up his pen.

“Suddenly we observed the summit of the
great mountain of Kinabalu towering “above
the clouds, its fantastic and rugged peaks
clearly pencilled on the blue sky beyond, the
distance from the shipat the time being upwards
of 120 miles.”

At noon he observed Labuan.

“Ten days from this date Labuan will be
British territory. 1 am proud to think that it
will be my lot to haist the British flag thereon,
for who can predict the results which may
arise from this insular possession, commanding
as it does the whole north west coast of Borneo?
If followed up, our influence will be firmly
established in the eastern archipelago.”

The sea-breeze from westward blew fresh and
he brought HL.M.S. Iris to anchor off Muara at
sunset. He saw a large number of prahus run-
ning int6 Brunei river, but there was no sign of
HMS. Wolf. Captain Mundy was much |
exercised in his mind about the attitude the
Sultan was likely to adopt and the Captain decided
to take a much more decisive line of action than
the forbearance which Admiral Cochrane had
directed in his despatch.

At daylight Wolf was not yet in sight, and
Captain Mundy decided not to wait for her. He
manned Iris boats, put Lieutenant Heatbh in
charge and gave written orders to him. He
was to proceed at once and his written orders
_were to be translated to the chief Pengirans in
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runei.  These written orders gave an indication
the orders which the Capain himself had
eived from the Admiral, but there were
riations. For instance the Captain now set
+h the indignation felt by the British Govern-
nt at the Sultan for having dared to fire at the
een’s flag and he declared that upon the
haviour of His Highness and his Pengirans in
& coming interview depended whether peaceful
ations would be renewed or mot. This was
eat rather than urbanity. The alternstive to
aceful relations was force and the choice lay
th the Sultan and his Pengirans.

James Brooke’s advice had been to the effect
at Captain Mundy must be resolute to obtain
= Sultan’s consent to the treaty. The Pengirans
suld expect payment of money in return for the
jon, but the Captain had no authority to
tertain any proposals of that kind. He had
oned it out carefully and had his orders to
steps to obtain formal possession of Labuan.
threat contained in his written orders to
tenant Heath for the Pengirans to hear was
igned to keep them in fear of another visit of
miral Sir Thomas Cochrane and James Brooke,
the whaole China Squadron to support them.
lay behind the threat and was intended to
nter the opposition of the Pengirans who were
isposed to the cession. Amongst these
girans were some who still supported the
ates’ cause and connived at the robbery of
ceful traders at sea, as Captain Mundy well
ew.

he
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Captain Mundy waited in H.M.S. Iris at t
mouth of Brunei River all that day for the retu
of Lieutenant Heath and the boats. In t
evening they returned to the ship. Lieutena
Heath reported that after translating his order,
to the ministers, he had been summoned to t|
presence of the Sultan. The Sultan declared
that he was ready to meet Captain Mundy. H
had confidence and faith in the Captain and
would sign the treaty with good-will when laid
before him. Would the Lieutenant please inform
the Captain so.

This sounded well, but nevertheless Captai
Mundy looked anxiously for Wolf. He felt t
need for an imposing flotilla of boats and for
body of marines large enough to overawe t
turbulent Pengirans.

At last Wolf arrived.
delayed by bad weather and was in need of repair;
but Captain Mundy decided that there was no
time to be lost.  Arrangements must be ma
for the visit to Brunei on the morrow. Captai
Mundy sent Lieutenant Little in charge of the
boats of both ships at daylight. Tweunty marines
went in the boats.  Lieutenant Little had orders
to moor his boats in line of battle opposite the
Sultan’s palace in Brunei and to await his
Captain’s arrival.

With the party went Lieutenant Heath who
knew sufficient Malay to assist the qualified
Malay writers and interpreters whose services
had been borrowed from the Hon’ble Company
at Singapore.
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noon after a long row up Brunei river
ain Mundy arrived in his galley. He
wed the line of boats and the marines drawn
hore with fixed baycnets.” Pengirans Momin,
hief minister, received -him at the Palace
s and escorted him to the Sultan who waited
e gateway to the audience chamber, Sultan
r Ali shook hands with bim, offered the
salutations and led him to a seat. The
ber was crowded with Pengirans, Rajahs
 dependants, all well dressed and all armed
kris. Captain Mundy began business with-
delay and said that he had brought with him
eaty for His Highness' seal and signature.
oped His Highness would approve of it. He
that it be read aloud by the interpreter.
is was done.
t was short and contained three points:—

“Peace, friendship and good understanding
hall subsist for ever between Her Majesty the

Oueen and His Highness the Sultan and their
espective heirs and successors:

“His Highness the Sultan hereby cedes in
ull sovereignty and property to Her Majesty
he Queen, her heirs and successors, for ever,
he island of Labuan and its islets adjacent :

“The Government of Her Majesty the

Queen hereby engages in consideration of the
cession above specified to use its best endeavours
o suppress piracy and to protect lawful com-
merce, and the Sultan of Brunei and his
ministers promise to afford every assistance to
he British authorities.”
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The day was December, 18th, 1846.

The first and second paragraphs gave satisfacti
but the third led to discussion. The minist
would not agree that the consideration offered
the British Government was sufficient. Here
last was a definite promise on the British si

- The British undertook to suppress piracy a
protect commerce, which was a formidable tagl
even with the help of Brunei ministers. It w.
not enough, said the ministers. In their hearty
they were opposed to suppression of pira
because it would affect their pockets. Thi
wanted payment of money for the cession of )
island.

For an hour the discussion went on.

Muridy did not speak, until at last the interprel
said to him that the nobles wanted money
return for the island. Then he spoke.

“I have no instructions” replied Captain
Mundy, “ to entertain such a proposal.””

The Sultan turned to him.

“This day ”, said the Sultan, “is Friday, a d
kept holy to the Prophet. I cannot sign a
paper this day.”

“But no objection,” replied the Captain, “w
made to Lieutenant Heath when I first proposed
Friday.”

“The former treaty ”, said the Sultan,
not - similar to this and I require money
exchange for the island.”

Captain Mundy hinted that he had the suppo
of high and powerful officials. The threat of (
presence of James Brooke and the Admiral of t
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squadron was implied :

hen Your Highness fired at the British
said the Captain, “you broke the former
and peace has not since been made.  The

aper as a proof of the sincerity of your
ises made to me when I last visited Your
ness.”
e discussion amongst the ministers and the
ans continted and seemed interminable.
& Captain began to be impatient. He spoke out.
Buboh chop, buboh chop’ he exclaimed to the
He knew very little Malay, but his
ing was understood. He wished the Sulian
his seal to the document without further
The Captain’s eye had marked the inevit-
urn of the tide. The tide was ebbing.
s the Sultan, of a sea-faring race, had
t 100,
*he Sultan rose immediately.
promised and I will perform.”
left the audience chamber accompanied by
of the Pengirans. Time passed. The
ain sat in silence, a pattern of patience,
ter twenty minutes the Captain spoke to
iran Mamin. ;
he tide has turned,“ he said. “Time
sses. Call His Highness the Sultan.”
ortly afterwards the Sultan returned to the
ce chamber bearing the royal seal with
for indeed it was a fine piece of workman-
A train of attendants accompanied bim,
ing wax'tapers. - The Sultan led the way
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royal seal was held over the candle, blackened
soot, and then impressed below the Malay
jon of the treaty. Captain Mundy added hic
seal and signature to the English version.
hus was Labuan ceded.
he Pengirans watched in sullen silence. Leoks
efiance marked their features, but the ships
s in line of battle and the marines with their
d bayonets discouraged any act of violence.
y could only protest. Captain Mundy wrote
bsequently in his diary that he looked each of
e Pengirans in turn one by one steadily in the
He has done them full justice in saying
each one of them returned his look with a
and haughty gaze. The Captain realised
their hatred was implacable and only when
flag had been hoisted on Labuan within forty
s of the city of Brunei would their cruel and
tic rule come to an end.
he attitude of the people was quite different,
they gave the sailors a hearty send-off.
Vhen Captain Mundy rose to take his leave,
Sultan asked for five minutes’ ta’k in private
h him.
Will the Queen interfere with my government
the mainland?” he asked. “I have full
fidence in you, Captain, because you have
ays performed your promises.”
We will not interfere with Your Highness’
ernment,” replied the Captain, *but our ships
protect your coast from the Illanun pirates.”
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The Captain then proposed that on his ne:
visit to Brunei, the Sultan should pay a stat
visit to the war ships. He would be receive
with royal honours and thus prove to his enem
that he was in alliance with the British nation,

It was time to go and last farewells wer
exchanged. His Highness begged to be excuse
from crossing Brunei Bay and from attending
the ceremony of annexation, because he w:
always sick at sea. -

Captain Mundy with a nice appreciation of the
Sultan’s need to save face when ceding his islan
replied "wisely and courteously, as our na
commanders know so well how to do wh
occasion demands. He regretted that he had
suitable ship for the Sultan’s passage. The o

hip under his d had been wreck
on her voyage to Borneo. No other steams
was at his disposal and he could not hear of t
Sulian crossing Brunei Bay in an open barge.

Captain Mundy then presented a handsom
silver mounted telescope to the Sultan and badi
good-bye to the Pengirans.

Outside, the nakhods, merchants and peo;
were hailing the news with joy. They look
upon the cession of Labuan and the protection
warships as the dawn of a better day. Hundre:
of prahu circled about the ships’ boats, cheeri
the sailors and offering provisions.

The Captain camé out from the audien
chamber and stepped into his gig, whilst t
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unei batteries saluted with fifteen guns, and
ums and cymbals beat lustily.
'he cession was popular because the seamen,
ders and shopkeepers of Brunei looked
ard to the benefits of trade in which all could
¢ rather than the ill-gotten gains of piracy
ired by a few.
With the treaty of cession in his pocket,
ptain Mundy went down river to give effect

To'the Captain the result of the visit seemed
good, and before closing his diary on board Iris
filled a page of it with justification of his action

d hopes for the futare.
The life of Sultan Omar Ali Saifuddin 11, was
pow neariog its close. He had lived a stormy
and had fought to win his throne. His
edecessor was his own half-brother who was
rded as a usurper and was defeated in civil
r. He was Sultan Mohamed Alam. He met °
death by strangulation in Pulau Chermin, his
mily fled and Sultan Omar Ali came to the
one in his stead about 1828, being about thirty

thumb, which stood out at rightangles to his

. According to Brunei law this should have
qualified him for the throne, because.as -Hugh
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Low has written, no man imbecile in mind or
deformed in person can rise to the position of
Sultan, whatever title his birth may have give
him. He was about five feet five inches tall,
thin and small of limb. He dressed well and
his manner and deportment were good. His
ministers never failed to treat him with marked
respect. . He had an evil disposition, and hig
weak "mind approached idiocy. Worthless
advisers held sway over him, the worst being
Pengiran Usup.

Next morning HM.S. [is got under weigh and
crossed over to Labuan, anchoring in Victoria
Harbour at tep o’clock in seven fathoms, two
cables length from the beach H.M.S. Wolf siill
under repair at the mouth of Brunei River would
follow next day. Captain Mundy named the
promontory round which he passed Hamilton
Point, after his old friend at the Admiralty in
London, because he could not learn any native
name for it. The name has not lasted and the
point is called Kiamsam Point in the maps. The

" point near which he anchored is called Ramsay
Point.

Captain Mundy and Lieutenant Heath landed
immediately, fixed on a spot for the flagstafi and
tents, and then walked round to the inner
harbour, whete they found some trading prahus -
which had crossed over from Benoni on the
mainland, The Captain was pleased with the
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¢ Tt was flat, clear of jungle and covered with
rse grass though swampy in places.

itors who walk along Labuan beach can see
ace. The site of the flagstaff was about

a mile from Ramsay Point towards the inner

ur, Erosion has occurred as the stone
con at Ramsay Point shows, the swamp has
& drained and casuarina trees have replaced
jungle. The plainis much clearer and more
sn than it was.

the afternoon a workimg party landed.

s were pitched and clearing begun. The
staff was beached and wells were dug. Good
tet was found three or four feet deep below
sand pear the sea shore.

M.S. Wolf arrived next day antl Commander
don helped to supervise the working parties.
e flagstaff was stepped twenty yards from the
te. Guns were landed and placed in battery,
giran Mumin, chief minister of Brunei, arrived
h sbout eighty followers, was honoured with

ute of thirteen guns and a_reception in the

4in’s cabin on board H. M. 8. Iris. When
ng the deck, Pengiran Mumin unbuckled

his waist a handsome kris with an ivory hilt
presented it to the Captain. There was no
of recrimination at any time.

ecember 24th was a gala day. Early in the
ning a granite slab, bearing an inscription,
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was erected close to the flagstaff:

Stone of Annexation

The granite slab came from Hong Kong a
was inscribed by sailors on bosrd ship. Af
olver a hundred years, the lettering is firm
clear.
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al etiquette was rigid and perhaps for the
me in his life Pengiran Mumin came under
i He learned the importance of time.
in Mundy and Pengiran Mumin must each
s own deck at the same moment of time.
tiquette demanded this and a -sailor was
n board the Pengiran’s prahu to see that
pt to the program. One hundred and eighty
and marines landed first and at two
k in blazing heat Captain Mundy and
ander Gordon each left his ship, saw with
that Pengiran Mumin was up to time. and
ere rowed ashore.  The Captain and
nder reached the -beach first, landed and
ed Pengiran Mumin without causing him
He was escorted by a large relinue, of
nd followed Captain Mundy between files
nes to an elevated platform erected near
gstaff. :
brellas were then opened. Pengiran Mumin’s
1la consisted of orange damask with long
nt fringes, but this color did not eclipse the
n’ Captain Mundy unfurled his' own
It was a thing of crimeon silk. Tt
ginally intended as a present to a king of
ongo in Africa, but when Captain Mundy
course of the manifold duties which fall to
officer had visited the king, the king
d the Captain in plain language that it
he king’s purpose to carry on the slave trade
etofore and so break his engagement with
ueen of England. So the Captain had rio
t the umbrella in Africa, butnow in Labuan
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he hoisted it and stood beneath its shade with.
the utmost satisfaction.

_ Speechmaking began. The Captain an
Pengiran Mumin mounted a rostrum, while lesse
people took up their positions standing on th
gravel below. There were several hundreds of
men present from the war ships and native boat

The Captain spoke in English and Lieutenant
Heath interpreted. The Captain as usual was
downright and threatening.

1 make known to all present,” he said,
on this day I take possession of the island o
Labuan and of the small islands around it in the
name of Her Majesty the Queen of England. W
now therefore stand on British territory.

“The quiet and good people of every nation’
will be protected in their lawful commerce by th
British men-of-war, and pirates both by sea and’
land will be utterly destroyed and their towns:
burned to the ground.

“The Queen of England and the Sultan of
Brunei henceforth are friends. The British
Admiral will therefore destroy ali pirate vessel
that make war against the Sultan or molest th
coast.”

This speech, wrote the Captain in his memoirs
was well received.  He then ordered Midshipman -
Henry Morgan to hoist the Union Jack and the -
British ensigns, red, white, and blue were run up
at the tents; The ships and batteries ashore -
fired a royal salute and the marines and suilor
kept up a roll of musketry.
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he ceremony closed with three hearly cheerse
“0Old England”. *Brevity”, the Captain
e, “is the life of this sort of ceremony and
whole affair was over in ten minutes.”
efreshments were spread on a rustic table
h forty seats near the shore for Pengiran
fumin and his nobles, and the Captain noted
t they all played upon the beer handsomely,
ad preferred it to champagne or pure water.
sunset the Captain and Commander strolled
ng the deserted beach and watched the flags
wered together.  Then the Captain returned
sn-board H.M S. Iris to write up his diary; “right
1ad to have rest for mind and body for verily
his sort of duty in such a climate was not
accomplished without fatigue.”
- Christmas Day was on the morrow. A hundred
_years ago there were no special Christmas
emonies as in the present time. It was usual
for all the officers to dine with the Captain, and
ommander Gordon of Wolf joined the.party on
oard lris. -
During the last few days of the year working
ties from the ships continued to clear the
round and began the construction of a pier and
guard house. Fresh water was close at hand
nd the casuarina trees gave some shade. But
ickness soon attacked the men. Several cases
fever and dysentery were reported and Com-
nander Gordon fell ill. He slowly weakened
nd on January 6th 1847 he died on board his
ip. Headhunters did not cross over from the

nainland to the island"to open graves and steal
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. heads until later, and the burial of Command,
Gordon ashore took place in the normal wa
Captain Mundy, who had seen much of dea
and suffering in his life, went ashore immediate
to fix upon a spot for the grave. He selected
secluded nook in the centre of a fine group
lofty trees with a running stream wind
between them. At five o’clock in the eveni
the funeral party landed and reading the buri;
service himself he consigned the body of hi
brother officer to the grave. Some officers
W olf remained to plant a few shrubs round th
spot. A memorial stone was erected and sti
stands :—

Sacred to the memory of

James A. Gordon Esquire

Commander of H.M.S. Wolf

Son of Rear Admiral Sir James A. Gordon, K.C.B.

who departed this life

at Labuan, 6th January 1847

aged 28 years

A few months later another stone was erected—
to the memory of a Colour Sergeant of the Royal
Marines. It still stands:—
Sacted to the memory of

Colour Sergeant Adam C. Sutherland of the Royal Marine:

late of Her Majesty’s Brig Columbine,

who fell mortally wounded in the noble

discharge of his duty in an attack on Balanini
pirates in the cutter of this vessel
on 3oth May 1847
Few places are more sad then these out of th

way graveyards where so many of our own.
people have been laid to rest.
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M.S. Fris had fulfilled her mission and was
nted for other duty. Lieutenant Heath was
oted to be commander of Wolf and left in
ge of the islaid.
ptain Mundy aboard Iris sailed on January
and saw Labuan fade over the stern of his
With all sail and a strong north-east
nson she left the Borneo coast rapidly behind.
ingapore a week later the Captain received
ficial letter approving of the articles of the
y which he had drafted for the annexation.
His forbiddance of anyone to settle on the
nd until the wishes and views of the British
vernment had beem ascertained was also
proved.
The reason for this forbiddance was that in
ong Kong early settlers had constructed houses
d acquired s title for land op the very edge of
e sea, shutting out the view and approach to
e harbour. In Singapore, on the other hand,
open space or quay had been retained, and
Labuan shold follow the example of Singapore.
dmiral Sir Thomas Cochrane emphatically
pressed his own views about this and if any
rties fixed themselves on the island, as he put
his Captains would have no hesitation in
Iling down their erections and expelling them
om the island.
So traders were made to feel that they were
t so welcome after all.
James Brooke sent a final letter of friendship
Captain Mundy as he lay at Singapore and
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later met him there to bid good-bye. But
Captain had to face another loss.

Airey, the master of Iris died after sickne
He too had fallen a victim &f the climat
Labuan and to exposure there in exploring
coal and water, but even so Captain Mundy
not prepared to say that the coast of Borneo
in itself unhealthy. His men should cha
their clothes when wet and not stand in the
unnecessarily.

Captain Mundy liked this part of the worl
and when at Singapore he received orders to
immediately to Spithead, he wrote that the ord
was doubtless received by the majority on bo
with the greatest delight, but for himself he
become so interested in the affairs of Borne
and looked forward so much to conveying Jam,
Brooke back to Sarawak and to visiting Lab
again, that the news was the most unwelcom
that could have reached him.

So in February 1847, Captain Mundy repor
Iiis ready for sea and in due course sailed fi
England round Cape of Good Hope.
rest of his life he retained an affection for t
coast of Borneo which he had served so wel
and so courageously. ) .

The scene of the annexation of Labuan
commemorated in a picture entitled “Ceremony
Hoisting the British
Labuan”.
was present, and later took over command
H.M.S. Wolf, drew a sketch of the scene.

J. W. Giles, an artist, worked on this sketch a
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picture is by his hand, circa 1847. The picture
gs in the Parker Gallery, 2 Albemarle Street,
don, W. 1.
colourful print of this picture hangs in the
lormation Office at Jesselton.

Hoisting the flag
after Heath




CHAPTER 4
THE FIRST GOVERNOR

James Brooke bhad always pressed for the
cession of Labuan, was fully acquainted with the
politics of Borneo and had strengthened his
position in Sarawak, No fitter appointment as
thedﬁrst Governor of the new Colony could be
ade.

James Brooke by that time had become famous
and during his visit to England in 1847 he
received high honours. The Corporation of
London conferred on him the freedom of the
city and he visited Queen Victoria at Windsor
Castle for a few days. A conversation between
them is recorded.

The Queen asked James Brooke how was it
that he found it so easy to manage 30 many
thousands people in Borneo.  James Brooke
replied ““I find it easier to govern ten of thousands
of Malays and Dyaks than to manage a dozen of
your Majesty’s subjecis.”

Upen which the Queen laughed and said, I
can easily imagine that ”.

The British Government decided that James
Brooke was to go out as Governor of Labuan,
with William Napier as Lieut-Governor, and
Captain Hon. Henry Keppel R.N. was appointed
to command H. M.S. Maeander, 44 guns, then at
Chatham, and sail with them as passengers.
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Captain Keppel was acquainted with Borneo and
ad been engaged in attacks on pirates in 1843,
He was more likely to be of assistance in forming
he new settlement than a stranger could be.
William Napier had long resided in Singapore
a Proctor, with rights to interfere in certain
tters on behalf of the Crown, was well
cquainted with the intricacies of the treaties with
Netherlands Government respecting the East
dies and understood the political situation.
A voyage to the Fast Indies in those days was
serious undertaking. The Suez Canal had not
been cut and Maeander sailed by way of Cape

N,
The confusion on board an East Indiaman,

ed for passengers, was bad enough, but in a
n-of-war like HM.S. Maeander arrangements
passengers led to much worse discomfort for
on board. The main-deck guns as far forward
the mainmast were dismantled, the ports were
ed as windows, and the deck divided into
bins. In the man-of-war every inch of space
d already beentaken up, The holds were filled
th provisions necessary for a large body of
n, and the extra demand by passengers for
towage was not fairly to be had. The lower
ck was crammed up to the beams with luggage,
d the men were turned out of their proper
erths, causing a great discomfort to them all.
The Governor's party embarked on  24th
uary 1847 at Spithead. Captain Keppel, RN.
M.S. Maeander sailed on 1st February and at
nce met bad weather in the Chapnel. She
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sought shelter in Plymouth Sound and again
Cork Harbour from the worst of it but t
passengers suffered considerably, as Capta
Keppel tersely putit.  On 26ih Febxuary th
werein Madeira and on 28th March in R;
Janeiro. They rounded Cape Horn and on 13
May they were off Java. On 20th May th,
reached Singapore.

James Brooke was received in the East India
Company’s settlement with the honours due
one of. H.M’s. Colonial Governors and ne
morning preparations to collect supplies for th
new colony began. An office was opened i
Singapore and contracts were made first of all f
frame works of temporary buildings to be erecter
in Labuan.

On 9th June, H.C.S. Phlegethon steamed out
Singapore with Civil Engineer, John Scott, an
Harbour Master Hosken on board as pioneers
the new settlement at Labuan.

On 7th August news was receivedin Singapor:
that the Queen has been pleased 10 confer th
QOrder of the Bath on James Brooke.

William Napier, Lieut-Governor designate, wat
directed to invest Sir James accordingly.

Colonel Butterworth, the energetic and capabl
Governor of Singapore, had no authority t
perform a ceremony of this kind, because he wa
a servant of the Hon’ble Company and not of ih
Crown. The Queen’s Warrant was supported b;
instructions from Prince Albert, the Quee
Consort, to omit nothing from the ceremony.

%
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might evince the esteem entertained by the

k for James Brooke.

An claborate ceremony was arranged for 22nd

st in the Public Rooms at the foot of Fort

ng in Singapore.

Villiam Napier gave a ball in the evening

the ceremony.

Buckley’s Anecdotal History of Singapore

rds that this was an occasion long remembered
he community of Singapore. Colonel Butter-

forthi, the Governor, also had cause to remember

scause he lost his gold watch, and Mrs.

terworth lost her jewellery which was stolen

me night.

illiam Napier had started the Singapore Free

ss and was known as Royal Billy. He had the

t-of a tragedy tyrant on the stage and was

*he Editor’s pen was sharp in rebuke on every
ble occasion when Labuan’s affairs came
ér his notice.
At 1ast on 29th August, HM.S. Maeander left
gapore for Borneo with Sir James Brooke,
. on board.  Lieut-Governor William
Rapier was to follow on H.C.3 Phlegethan’s next
age.
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H.M.8. Macander called first at Kuching and
menth later on 29th September 1847, she landsgd
Sir James Brooke at Victoria, wearing unifo;
as the first Governor of Labuan. :

Other officials who arrived with Sir James
were Hugh Low to be Government Secreta
and Spencer St John to be Private Secretary
the Governor. The new Governor found that
John Scott, the Surveyor and Engineer, had be
busy in the past year.

Coal had been discovered and was alrea
being rudely worked by William Miles.

Temporary residences erected near the po:
consisted of small square cottages on posts abo
four feet from the ground. The walls am
partitions were of matting and the roofs of

band. It had a swampy, unhealthy look. The
row of thatched house stood on the sandy shore
between the sea and the swamps behind. Th ;
air buzzed with millions of mosquitoes. .

Sandy flats in front may have appeared.
attractive, but the swamps of black mud behind
abounded with mosquitoes, and crabs breeding
in thousands ruined any paths built across them

Captain Keppel recorded his opinion of the
new settlement and said that it consisted of the
most miserable looking huts on the most.
unhealthy spot on the island. The flat on which
they were built was below sea level and could
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e seen from the deck of his ship because of
nd-bank which had silted up at the sea-edge.
ptain Keppel wrote that to avoid mischief
idental to crude and hasty metbods of coloni-
on, Captain Mundy, at the time of annexation,
been directed to raise no fortifications, form
tablishments on the island and allow no .
Labuan was to be a naval station for

*he sickness, he said, which prevailed amongst
sailors was ascribed to their imprudent
gence in wild fruit, to over-exertion, and to

] He mentioned jungle fever.
main cause of the sickness was too obvious

e mistaken. The ceremony of hoisting the
ad been performed in a large space, cleared

ungle and expressiy levelled for the purpose.

e officers should have known of the infallible

sequences of such action.

eadly miasmata would continue to hang {or

ong time over newly-made surfaces of earth,
malignant fevers would surely await men
ho were rash enough to teke up their abode on
uch spots before sufficiently exposed to the sup.
Captain Keppel thought that in spite of unfor-
ate incidents, the island would be healthy.
bably there was no spot within the tropics
ere life was exposed to fewer risks from.
The soil is lght

The island is exposed to prevailing

ds which sweep perpetually up and -down
ese seas. For nine months of the year there is
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abundant water, and the island was no worse off
than was Singapore at that tims.

The site had been badly chosen and could not
fail to be fever stricken. John Scott was not to
blame, 1 he was inted
tropics and had acted under orders.

with the

A Beach Scene

What is now called Plain Road was the site ol
the early bungalows, and the settlement lay o
the town side of Ramsay Point. Commande
Gordon’s grave marked the limit of the settlemen|
at the far end. )

A better site for the houses was the ridge
hills where Hugh Low built permanent residen
cise later. However it was not for pioneers t
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oresee difficulties, and the first Governor landed
ith due ceremony.

Sir Janmes was duly sworn in, and thus began
he Government of Labuan. On assuming office
ir James proclaimed that the island had now
en formally taken over as a British possession
at it would be open to settlers from 1st August
848 and that it would be a free port.

All provisions were extremely expensive and
ere were few labourers. A few slaves belonging
o some Malay Chiefs on the main-land had been
ent, but the Chiefs could recall their slaves at
y moment. A few Indians and Chinese had
ome over from Singapore, and earned high
yages, but drink was very prevalent and little
vork was done.

‘Within a month of their arrival, the Governor
_and his officials were beset with iliness and other
lifficulties.

Here is what Spencer St John wrote in October
7 =

The weather was very impropitious. The
south-west monsoon blew with all its force.
The sea rose to an unprecedented height and
swept over the beach, filling the lower parts of
the houses with water and damaging the
provisions stored there.

The rain {ell in such quantities as to {urn
the swamp into a huge pool of fetid water and
the consequences were obvious.

The Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the
Doctor, Mr and Mrs Low, Captain Hoskins,
Mr Grant, Captain Brooke and the marines
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were all down with fever at the same
The only civilians to escape were Mr Sg
and myself. f

I turned hospital nurse and for a fortni
at a timeé slept on a mat beside one patient |
another.

The water rushing under our houses g
through the store rooms alarmed the rats, a
dozens of them invaded our bedrooms.
bold were they that-while watching by the sj
of my patients, I could prod with my sword
boldest that ran near.

Higher ground had been selected for 4
barracks, and when ready, they would be occup
by a detachment of Madras Native troops fro
the Straits Settlements. Pending. their arr
H.M.S. Maeander landed a party of Marines
do duty on shore and then sailed for Singapo;
On this short passage from Labuan to Singa
symptoms of malarial fever began to show i
board H.M.S. Maeander among those Mar
who had previously done duty on shore at Labu;
before the ship sailed. Two died on board durk
the voyage and anxiety was felt about those w
had been left behind on shore.

The Admiral at Singapore acted promptly.
despatched H.C.S. duckland to Labuan for furthi
news. She returned with news of progress a
of the sickly state of all the men located on ¢
flat at Labuan.

a company of 21st Native Infantry and sail fi
Labuan at once.
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arrival at Labuan, Captain Keppel almost
ed enquiring into the state of the Marines
ere, He found the whole Colony sick.
of the marines had died. The Governor,
mes Brooke, was in the worst condition.
d been delirious and lay apparently with
tittle hope for recovery. The medical officer,
‘reacher, in whom the Governor had every
ence was nearly as bad as himself.
tain Keppel decided that steps should be
immediately to save the Governor’s life.
ng his way into the sick room, he asked Sir
jes to prepare for removal on the morrow

Sir James having a particular dislike to
otion of a steamer, selected H.M.S. Maeander
pite of the wretched accommodation.  The
ytain saw that no time was to be lost. Feeling
next morning, Sir James signed a few

s, but he fainted twice during the day, and
the Captain came ashore just before sunset,
a boat’s crew to convey him aboard, he was
hausted and so much weakened that the
on declared that it would be dangerous to
him. Nothing could be done except leave
night the pestilential

The following morn-

Sir James felt better and his A.D.C. sent a
e 10 the warships to say that Sir James would
tk that evening. At five o’clock he was
ved on board, supported to bis cabin, and to
ch him with sea air, the man-of-war put te
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sea immediately and anchored off Bethune He:
at seven o'clock in the evening. The Govern
who had duties to perform elsewhere as Con
General, was only just able to tell the Captain
which direction he wished to sail.

give the Governor the beneﬁt of undisturbed r
at night. There were other invalids aboar
including the Governor’s nephew and A.D.C
Captain Brooke, whose attack of fever was j
coming on. Dr. Treacher was a mere shad
of his former self and both Charles Grant and
Spencer St John were ill. .

HM.S Maeander sailed northwards coasti
past Pulau Tiga to Kimanis Bay, where s
anchored. The sick were laid in cots suspended
on both sides of the maindeck. They were stil
too sick to enjoy the sight of Mount Kinabal
when sailing northward again past Kudat 1o
enter Marudu Bay  There one of the crev
died of fever contracted in Labuan and was buri
at sea and another died before they left Marud
Bay  Only after the ship reached Sulu in t
southern Philippines did the Governor and h
party recover their health.

S. Maeander returned from Sulu with ¢t
Governor and his party restored to good healt!
and landed them at Victoria. Much had bee
done during their short voyage.

The selection of the site for the town at Labuan
had been severely criticised. Several consider
ations had appeared at first to recommend it, and
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objections, it was hoped, could bé overcome
me. The site of Victoria had been chosen
iefly because all the naval officers who hsd
ed the island, considered that anchorage to
‘the best harbour for shipping.
Some people thought that malarial fever came
om the fresh water swamp lying behind the
n and that the swamp could be thoroughly
ned. Qthers expressed doubt and thought
the sickness came from the coral reefs which
nded in the harbour.
The site of the settlement had been shifted
from the swampy plain back a short way to firmer
ound, and the piain had been drained, so that
years later in 1852 Captain Keppel could
cord that he had not heard lately any complaints
unhealthiness beyond those common to most
opical climates.  *
More comfortable houses had been erected on
€ higher ground and a good road had been
ilt to the buildings out on the plain which were
The Indian troops

ecretary, Hugh Low, whom they had left in an

parently dying condition, had so far recovered

to take an interest in his garden.

_ The garrison cousisted of a battalion of Indian
fantry and a battery of artillery under British

Officers. It was strong enough to drive off any

rauders from the mainland opposite and to
tect the island against a sudden raid by pirates
om further east. The disaster at Balembangan
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Island in 1775 was an example of what mig
happen again, if the garrison was too weak.

and turned the guns on the Bugis troops, recruit;
in the Celebes Islands. The booty which
pirates captured at Balembangan was immens
amounting to one million Spanish dollars

few European officials of the East India Compa
escaped making their way across Balembang
and taking boats on the west side. They reachy
Labuan, a bit of history in the memory of Sul
Omar Ali when he ceded Labuan.

The garrison of Labuan had always to be
the watch against a repetition of that earl,
disaster at Balembangan.  History howew
records no attack on Labuan.

Balembangan lay very close to the pirat
strongholds in Marudu Bay and Tungku, wh
Labuan lay much further away and was |
exposed to attack.

The Governor and his staff had much to do.

A modern system of land tenure was institu
in Labuan and was the first of its kind in
world. Later the system received the genera
accepted name of Torrens System.' Accordi
to “The Australian Land Titles (Torrens) Systes
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Kear, Labuan land tenure is the earliest
nce of land registration. It was begun in
by the Labuan Ordinance 7 of 1849. Leases
nd were issued by the Government for 999
or lesser periods and rents were payable to
overnment. In some cases permission was
ved to holders of the land to redeem the
al rent by payment of a lump sum, The
d of Daat is an example of this. It is now
old,
mmunication with the colliery on the north

-close to the water’s edge and selling it for
ers of steamers at £1 a ton.
was the first adventurer to start at Labuan
ter its annexation. He worked the coal under
ract for the Admiralty from April 1847 to
1849 when the Eastern Archipelago Com-
By took possession of the mine. During the
fifteen months of that period, he lived with
5 Malay miners at the mine His wife and
ren lived at Victoria about 10 miles distant
often he did not meet them for two or three
ks and once not for two months. He spoke
f the Malays.
enue was farmed. William Miles at one
ept the spirit farm. He paid a lump sum
to the Government for the right to import
1l liquor.
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On 23 July 1848, H M.S. Maeander anchored
off Coal Point for a cargo of coal. Coal had
become so scarce at Singapore that the Nav
Commander-in-Chief had sent ships to borrow
coal from the Dutch Government at Batavia. Al

by workingint
filied her afier-
job took some days.

The Governor gave dinner parties for t
entertainment of visitors. On one occasion
Admiral Sir Francis Collier, who had come
board H.C.S. Auckland told this story ab
himsel{ at a Labuan dinner table.

In England he had been summoned before ‘8

shillings for contempt of Court.
glared at all three magistrates on the ben
drew a gold sovereign from his pocket, threw
on the table and said,
“Damn your eyes all round and that
just make up the pound.”

Admiral Sir Francis Collier wss horrified
the state of affairs in Labuan. He took the w
cases on board H.C.S. Auckland and cleared
Singapore. He took a violent dislike to the litt]
colony and ever after tried to run it down.
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Between their bouts of sickness the officials
aade visits across Brunei Bay. Often the gales
ve waves ashore across the beach into the
n and filled the lower parts of the shop houses
h sea water, damaging the stock of provisions,
in turned the swampy site into a huge pool of
tid water and the consequences were disastrous.
e Governor, the Lieutenant Governor and
ty all the officials fell sick again with fever,
bough housed on higher ground.
Sir James was often away in Brunei, Sarawak,
lu, Singapore and even Siam and social life in
buan was not happy in his absence. It seems
be the destiny of small communities to quarrel.
e Governor felt these differences much, Many

the officials were his personal friends, and bad
only to deal with men, he could have recon-
od the differences, but the ladies were found
be too much even for his conciliatory disposi-

size more embroiled than Labuan.
ing had been left over from the days of mala-
Wiilian: Napier, the Lieutenant
overnor, was at loggerheads with Hugh Low,
s son-in-law, and there were countless other

jons.

mes Motley, the new colliery contractor,
rrelled with both Napier and Low, and also
the naval men. He could not mine enough
One of his grievances was that the
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Government owed him more than £3000 for cor
already delivered and he rtepeated the earli
complaint that William Miles had taken away a
the top stuff before his arrival.

On one of Sir James’ visits to Brunei, he did a
he could to persuade some of the wealthy Chine
traders and Brunei people to come over 10 Labua
but he failed, because they knew that though
was Governor of the island, he seldom resid
there. Only a prolonged residence of Sir fam
in the Colony would have attracted the populal
to come.

In time the island became healthy enough,
(here was no irade. The coal was left al
untouched and there was little prospec
advancement.

Finally the Colony of Labuan was maintal
by a sum of money provided by the B
Government and its affairs came u
of Parliament at least once a year W
annual vote was put before Members

In 1848 Members of Parliament in Lo
were asked to vote £6827 for Labuan’s
tepance during the following year.
Hume, M.P., a Scot, objected. It was too
money he said.  Official salaries in Lal
especially the Governor’s salary of £2000,
too big for a colony only just started am
moved that the vote be reduced to £3000.

In 1850 Richard Cobden M P, the well:
free-trader. complained in the House of Coni
about the costs and Sir James Brooke's sala
£0000. At his own request it was cut to
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. Sir James’ frequent absence from Labuan was
riticised, but Henry Drummond M.P. in defence
f Sir James said that in the past year Sir James
ad spent 60 days in boats, 160 days on board
hips, and for 98 days had been ill. The vote
efore the House was for £6914 and was approvd.
Colonel Thompson, M.P. said that he did not
ke far-flung adventures in the course of territo-
i While admitting the extra-
srdinary exploits of Sir James Brooke he objected
o the establishment of Labuan, as a Colony,
ieving that it would lead not to the promotion
peacefu} commerce but to “the infliction of
greatest calamities on the population of that
t of the world ”

Every humane man, continued Colonel
ompson, must shudder as he read the operations
British warships, and the indiscriminate

ssacre that had taken place.
Lolonel Thompson was referring to the over-
phelming victory and destruction of the pirate
ts at the battle of Batang { or River)} Maru on
July 1849. The battle had a marked
uence on the future of Labuan and the career

s first Governor.

here had been a very serious outbreak of
ey and Spenser St John later described the
nt of lost shipping and the destruction of
es as appalling. Captain Keppel’s actions
43 and 1844 had paralysed the pirates for a
and James Brooke had organised a defence
st pirates with the help of his faithful Malays,
radually the pirates got the upper hand, and
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eventually Sultan Omar Ali himself begged S
James to take action against the Sernbas a
Sekarran Sea-dyaks, because . of their ravag
Sir James took what action he could fro
Kuching and with his own Malays and ihe bo:
of HC.S. Nemesis he rsided the Seadya
country early in 1849 and checked the piracy
atime. The Sea-dyak country at the time wi
outside the state of Sarawak and was part
Brunei This marked the beginnirg of char
made against Sir James by a grossly false accor
published in a Singapore newspaper and cop
by the London Daily News.

A final blow had to be struck against the $
dyaks, but despite all his efforts Sir James co
not get the aid of a British warship. The Ch:
Squadron, as Admiral Cochrane had pointed @
to the Admiralty, was not large enough to cay
out all the duties assigned to it, and could ;
spare a ship for service in Bomeo  Sir Ja
at last succeeded in persuading Admiral
Francis Collier to send Commander Farqul
H M.S. Albatross to Sarawak. H.C.S. Ne
Captain T. Wallage, and H.C S. Semiramis
took part in the expedition, with Sir Ja
Royalist, a sloop of war.

T the battle of Batang Maru which follos
nearly one hundred pirate war-boats were
troyed and eight hundred pirates perished.

The conduct of past campaigns bad alre
given rise to charges against Sir James and
again much graver charges were made 2
him. A full account of this battle is given 11
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ournal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1925, at
age 252 and a rtecent issue of the Sarawak
useum Journal, December 1954, coniains a .
escription of the battle, of the ships engaged and
ives 2 memoir of Captain T, Wallage of H.C.S.
emesis, whose name so well befits the retribu-
on she inflicted on the pirates.
- Sir James accompanied the squadron on board
M.S. Albatross under the co d of Captain

arquhar RN,

The squadron sailed to Batang Maru, in the
ountry of the Sarebas and Sekarran people,
orth of the mouth of River Semanggang, and
ere cast anchor.
A large pirate fleet with most of the chiefs on
oard and manned by about 4,000 Orang laut
s away at sea on a pirate cruise and would
urn soon. To reach their homes the pirates
nust enter the estvaries at Batang Maru, and
ptain Farquhar decided to lie in ambush for
em. FLM.S. Albalross took station. to guard
inst surprise attack on Sarawak River and Sir
mes’ Royalist guarded Batang Lupar. Their
ts blocked the mouths of the rivers preventing
pirates from going up-stream, and HC.S.
mesis took station to prevent the pirates escap-
by sea. Sir James’ men numbered 2,500 and
y manned seventy four boats. Most of them
were traders and fishermen who had suffered
erely at the hands of the pirates
The pirate fleet arrived home at midnight and"
dled straight into the trap set for them. They
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never suspected the pres

they were red on.

hesitation, the pirates made for the boats guarg
ing the rivers, but failed to force a pass
through them. . i

and opened fire, riddlin

which could make no effective reply.

had four small cannon, and each prahu

or five muskets. The Orang laut soon fous
their position to be desperate and some d
their prahus ashore and escaped into the ju
Part of the pirate fleet tried to escape to €4,
H.C.S. Nemesis gave chase and passing s
down the line poured a broadside of grape
cannister into each prahu in turn. In a
minutes the pirate fleet was shot to pieces
H.C.S. Nemesis turning back steamed over
mass of sinking prahus and struggling pi
¢ The scene when the Orang laut were caugh
in the paddle-wheels of the steamer and
churned and pou nded to a pulp in the stz
was terrible.

Daybreak saw the bay and shores of B

Maru covered with broken prahus, shields, s
and bodies © in. In the jungle

ed and horribly
anger of their defeat were
had been made captive du
Captain Farquhar saw 2 group of
pirates trapp! i
" that by occupying its narrow nec
dgstroyed. Sir James however ‘wished ¢
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e shedding of blood un rily, and hoping
at the lesson taught them was sufficiently severe,
allowed them to escape.

A native hat and shield
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Out of the total pirate fleet of over one hundre
bangkongs or war boats only six escaped, while
4,000 pirates about 500 were killed and aboy
300 more died of hunger or wounds, making 1
total loss about 800. To drive the lesson hom
the naval expedition ascended the rivers, desiro;
ed the Seribas and Sekarran villages and ravage
their country far and wide.

Captain Wallage (wrote Mr. W. John Ruff 1§
the Sarawak Museum Journal) after the battle
Batang Maru was put in command of H
Enterprise, based at Calcutta. He died withi:
few months and was buried in Chowring
Calcutta.

H.C.S. Nemesis was an iron paddle-stea
with a tonnage of 630 tons. She was 184
long. Her engines were of 120 horse-power,
she saw much service in Eastern seas.

The Seribas and Sekarrans at once made s
mission to Sir James, promising to abandf
piracy. The Sea-dyak country was then outsid
Sarawak, but Suitan Omar Ali of Brunei gl
ceded it to Brooke on his return from Englan
1853 and though there was some stry,
between rival parties {or a time, the new sub,
soon settled down under the rule of Sir Jame!

The charges made against Sir James’ adm
tration of Sarawak by Members of Parlia
and the debates in the House of Common
July 1850 and July 1851 are on record.  Jo
Hume was the mover for an enquiry, and
Joseph Hume said in Parliament included all

. ignorance or ill nature could discover. Ca
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karran were not pirates at all, and the second
‘oposition was that supposing these people to
ve been pirates, an unjustifiable loss of life was
flicted on them by the warships which attacked
eir fleet at Batang Maru and destroyed it.
Sir James visited Labuan for a few days fr(;tln
e
pressed himself as well satisfied with the pro-
¥ress of Labuan, though it was slow. There was
glimmering of confidence amongst the natives
the coast and time would free the Colony from
stractions cast in its way by Brunei.
here there had been strife amongst the
opéans there was now a Christmas spirit of
e and goodfellowship. Trade had began to
p into the place, and if there was reliance on
t principles, he thought it would rise in spite
the factious outery in England and the ill-will
runei.
‘Thus much ”, concluded the Governor. I
write no more in detail in my present
dition.” He was then on the point of return-
1o England to face the charges made against
atang Maru was the concern of Sir James in
ect of all three of his offices: as Rajah o
arawak, as Consul General for Borneo and - as
rernor of Labuan,
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The enquiry into Sir James administration v
held at Singapore in September and Octcber 18
by a Royal Commission consistirg of two official
of the East India Company, Mr Prinsep and M,
Devereux. Witness after witness, European an
Asian, testified 10 countless acts of piracy com
mitted by the Seribas and Sekarran Dyaks.
of all came the crowning proof that they wer
pirates. Though the Netherlands Governmen
was bitterly opposed to Brooke rule, an importan
official of Dutch Borneo, passing through Sin
pore, heard of the enquiry and offered his eviden
Mr Boudriot, from his own personal knowle
and from the information in the Dutch off
records, proved that the Orang Laut were in fac
pirates and the “scourge and terror of th
coast.” The two commissioners found that th
charge of piracy was fully proven and that th
theory of legitimate inter-tribal warfare wa
ridiculous. As to the loss of life at Batang M
and the subsequent ravaging of the country, M
Devereux considerd that there did not _appear 1
be any reasonable ground for sympathy wit
race of indiscriminate murderers. The enqu
also completely disproved another favou
charge of his foes that Sir James had used b
position as Governor to further his interests as
private trader. There was not a shred of evide
that he had engaged in trade after his appo
ment as Governor of Labuan in 1847.

Mr Prinsep and Mr Devereux did not see
to eye in every matter, and each sent his O
report. The Commission of enquiry lasted ne
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r years with much open wrangling and
bal warfare, and at the end Sir James was
ed of all the fantastic and humiliating charges
was free to leave for England.
he Commission declared the charges against
James to be not proven.
One result of the complaints and criticism was
immediate abolition of *“head money” in the
. This affected the crews of men-of-war
ving in these seas. Head money was payable
the crews and reckoned according to the
mber of pirates killed,. Twenty pounds was
reward for each pirate killed.  £30,000 was
ed by Parliament for the naval men who_had
n part in the Battle of Batang Maru, and the
iralty paid out £20,700.

A swivel cannon

he abolition of head money had been deter-
d on and the bill prepared for presentation
Parliament. In this connection Captain
pel wrote that he did not believe that there
a man in the Navy who did not prefer ifs’~
on to the imputation of taking another::
’s life for money.
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After Batang Maru the Admiralty tight
its instructions to Captains and no warship ¢
seize a vessel for piracy unless the vessel
“within view attacked some British vesse]
unless there was “such proof as would sa
Court of Admiralty”. This tied the hand|
Captains and led to another outbreak of pirg
in.Borneo waters.

The Captains of the British warships were
much handicapped and the pirates took
advantage of the greater freedom of action all
to themselves.

Labuan carried on a peaceful existence
its Governor was engaged in political stry;
with Parliamentarians at home. These wors
much affected Sir James who was of a sen
type. He was, wrote Spenser St John, of a
excitable and nervous temperament. He
“g pleasing, considerate companion,”
whom Spenser St John lived on affectionates
intimate terms for fourteen years, but Sir J
was never again the even-tempered, gay
panion of former days.

In January 1851 Sir James sailed for En;
and Lieutenant Governor John Scott took cl
at Labuan for & year or more.

When Sir James returned to Sarawak he.
sick with smallpox, a scourge of the coasts
was a bad case and Dr McDougall, Bishop

’ Surgeon, was away. It wasa near thing.
-James’ body was covered with pistules an
face was so swollen as to be unrecogni
“However the illness ran its course and ha
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t of calming his temper. In August 1853
miled from Kuching to Labuan and was glad
ach the island where old friends respected
They were much moved by his altered
arance. The disease had clawed his cheeks -
his face was. pitted. He had lost all his
though it grew again later.

er,” he said genially to his friends.

is tenure of office was now nearing its end.
e went yet again to England and on returning
orneo in 1855 he resigned his appointment
onsul General.
T Graham Irwin in his “Nineteeth Century
neo” at page 137 writes that James Brooke
by character and experience was ill-suited
an appointment in the public service. He

pel, his great friend, had little favourable to
about his administration of Labuan.

My friend Brooke,” said Captain Keppel,
hiss as much idea of business as a cow has of a
n shirt.”

But he bad competent administrators with him
Jobn Scott, Hugh Low and Spenser St John
ose to high appointments elsewhere in the
gitish Empire.

Sir James died in England in 1868.
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Piracy was not yet done with, and the yé
1858 was marked by a great revival of it.
great scandal was caused when Panglima Ta
of Tawi-Tawi, an island on the north-east
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of Borneo, captured a Spanish vessel.. Every
person on board was massacred except a yourg

1], the daughter of a Spanish merchant, and
anglima Taupan took ber for a wife.

Pirates’ war-boats were of a different build
rom our sailors’ ships. The chief difference
as that pirates rowed while our sailors sailed.

A prahu hailing from the Sulu Sea had a timber
ull with upper works of bamboo, rattan or kajang.
bout a foot above the water line ran a strongly
uilt gallery in which the rowers sat cross-legged.
o the afterpart was a cabin for the use of the
irate chief. The prahu, for its whole length,
as covered by a strongly built flat roof upon
hich the pirates used kris and spears. A
hortage of elbow room on these prahus hindered
he pirates from fighting at their best.

A Dyak warboat, hailing from the rivers on
he Sarawak coast, was a long dugout or canoe,
_more strongly built than a prabu. The Dyak
sarboat could hold seventy or eighty men. Its
owers sat in a tier below and above them was
e fighting platform, after the manner of a prahu
he Dyak boats were gaily painted, and the
rn was ornamented with feathers, The war-
boat had a special room to accommodate a head
f special value, as for instance a white man’s
head. Illustrations of these two types of war-

ats are shown on pages 85 and 86.

While the sailors’ ships were often becalmed,
ese pirate war vessels could row at speed.
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Piracy on the Sarawak coast, let it be said,
organised not so much by the people of Saraw;
as by others lurking in Sarawak rivers.

All along the north coast the work of
British Navy in suppressing piracy and in maki
channels safe for trading ships had been prai
and the names of our Admirals and Captains liy

On the coast of Labuan
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eppel was widely known as Rajah Laut, a ritle
honour, be it said.  Orang Lauf, men of the
ea, were pirates and much feared, but Rajoh
aut, King of the Sea is not the chief pirate as
ight be supposed.
ajah Laut was the title given to a man who
1d be trusted, who could protect. merchants
d traders at sea and who could rule and if
ed be subdue the Orang Laut. Thus Sir
lenry Keppel was Rajch Laut and another was
ord Jim Lingard, who appears in Joseph
onrad’s book, Lord Jim.
iAdmiralty instructions forbidding H.M. Ships
seize vessels for piracy unless the vessels had
en seen to attack British shipping or without
efinite proof of piracy led to a revival of piracy,
this in its turn was suppressed.
he Illanuns and Balanini in North Borneo
1} remained to be reckoned with. The battle of
ang Maru had driven the pirates from Sera-
and then finally in 1879 the last stronghold
he north at Tungku, east of Sandakan, was
ppoted out by H.M.S. Kestrel with the help of
panish warships.
n Labuan trade slowly increased, and the few,
Chinese merchants who had settled on the
nland began to take more interest in the
nd, but much more important were the

hat a Chinese Empire once existed in Brunei

ccepted as a fact of history, but very few

Ehinese were living in Brunei or any part of
theo. :
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overnors in Singapore was always given readily.
“heir ships and their Captains were in the van-
ard of every attack upon pirates’ fleets and
rongholds, and the Company’s hospitality
velcomed the Colony’s officials on their voyages
and from England. It was the Company’s

s. close. People in Singapore had often
nted their grievances about Company rule.

The grievances which Singapore people said
ey suffered under the Company were legion.
is is no place to enmuerate them, but there
re two to which reference may be made.

_ One of the many grievance at Singapore was
hat after its foundation the Directors hankered
and often proposed to levy small duties on the
de of Singapore, The lesson taught by Sir
ford Raffles had been well learned and
rchants in the Straits Settlements never failed
" resent most bitterly the slightest hint of
posing taxes on commerce in after years.
buan in 1848 had followed the example of
ngapore and was declared to be a free port.
ever having been under the Company’s rule.
buan had nothing to fear from the Company’s
eats to tax merchants and Labuan could watch
a safe position. Labuan’s turn for taxation
e later,

nother grievance at Singapore was that the
npany made Singapore a dumping ground for
an convicts of the worst type
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The Company never dumped convicts
Labuan though labourers recruited in Singapo
service in Labuan were often of a bad type ay
may have been convicts formerly.

Labuan’s complaint that the British Gover,
ment made it into a penal settlement is we!
founded. Long-sentence prisoners from Ho
Kong were sent there to work in the coal mine
though work underground was not enforc
against the prisoners’ will, and after Singapo
was transferred from the East India Company
the Colonial Office in 1867 convicts were sent
from Singapore to Labuan.

Labuan wore a penal aspect because prisone;
were often engaged in repairing the rcads in
chain gangs, and they bunkered ships and loade
cargoes of coal.

In Singapore the East India Company suffere
a drain upon its resources which received n
replenishment from taxes. Nor was there any
hope of profit. On the contrary, there was a
constant demand upon the Company’s ships an
men for imperial service, and the ships and men
were offered treely.

The courage of many men of many nations in
the service of the Company and the constant
supply of money by the merchants of 1ondon is
often forgotten in the haze of abuse and criticism-
for seeking profits. Labuan owes a debt to the
old East India Company.

The history of the East India Company in the
Straits Settlements is the story of a great trust
well and faithfully perfor ned, and Labuan people
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the benefit of the Company’s aid and support
time when Labuan needed a good neighbour.
n Labuan with the decline of piracy anxieties
ut the defence of the island grew less and
ficials began to look about for means of

ci in Labuan rarely believed in
rwork, and some of them sent out on good
{aries in early days seem to have made it their
t to do as little as possible in return. Labuar.
in their view an enervating climate and was
_poor place for sport and other healthy amuse-
ent, so some naturally took to dissipation, A
w who had ambition or could not help it,
olishly did overwork and fell sick with what
as called “Labuan fever.” The men who got
best were those who were moderate in their
ork as an in everything else.
Even the Governor in his fine residence
urrounded by a beautiful park could become
ored and find time pass all too slowly.
One of the Governors took to keeping cows as

rplus was stored in pots while still sweet and
fresh. By and by the butter began to smell and
he Governor had to take notice of it. His AD.C.
ould then write a few polite notes and afflict
rominent officials of Labuan with a present of
Governor’s butter, Wives would write insincere
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letters of thanks for the welcome and delici
gift while husbands watched their gardeners
see that they buried the butter deep enough.

Relations between Labuan and its peighb
Sarawak were not always happy, nor it must
admitted, was the Governor’s knowledge of affa;
as accurate as it should have been.

The action of George Edwardes, Governor
Labuan, and acting Consul General, led to trouble

were both murdered at Kanowit before rumour
of the plot against them reached their ears. Sir
James® forces attacked Serip Musahor who fled
to Mukah with the connivance and consent of
Sultan Abdul Mumin to whom that place
belonged.

George Edwardes, Governor of Labuan, as
Acting Consul General was charged with super-
vision of affairs in Borneo and in his capacity as
Acting Consul General he thought fit to summon
a British man-of-war. When HM.S. Vicloria
arrived, George Edwardes proceeded.

Edwardes had always held that Sarawak was a
bad influence and he disapproved of Sir Jame

He could not agree that Sir James was right in
holding Serip Musahor responsible for the murder
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!
f Foxand Steele. He listened to Serip Musahor’s
ide of the story and supported him.

Meanwhile Sir James, with his younger brother
Charles, arrived at the mouth of Muka River

orth of Rejang River intending to get in touch
with the defiant chieftains and talk over the
matter. The chieftains however fired on Sir
James’ boat. Sir James landed his men, built a
ort ashore, and sent Charles Brooke to. fetch
reinforcements- These came after a_month and
the combined force then amounted to twelve
Furopeans with many followers. Sir James
advanced to attack the Chieftains’ stockade,
and had forced an entry when HM.S. Victoria
hove in sight with Acting Consul General George
Edwardes on board.

George Edwardes proclaimed a truce in the
Queen’s name. At that moment Serip Musahor
appeared. George Edwardes would not listen to
Sir James, and threatened to order H.M.8, Victoria
to open fire with her guns upon Sir James’ troop
if he proceeded further with the attack, Sir
James having neither the wish nor the power to
resist George Edwarde’s menaces ordered Charles
Brooke to withdraw bis troops though the enemy
continued to fire on them.

Thus George Edwardes hsd supported with
his authority and, if necessary, the guns of H.M.S.
Victoria the murderers of two British subjects in
the service of Sir James, the murderers at the
time accompanying Serip Musahor's forces,

Sir James, in the face of the unreasonable and
irritating threats of George Edwardes, withdrew
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from Muka, and the Seribas Dyaks who ha
fought on the side of Serip Mushahor did no
fail to recount with exultation how the Cons
General, as representative of the Queen, had pu|
a warship at the service of Serip Mushahor.

Por the time Serip Mushahor and his band of
assassins had the advantage, but the matter wa
referred to London,

Lord John‘Russell, Secretary of State, decide
against his Consul General

The British Government expressed its di
approval of George Edwardes' action and the
Colonial Office censured him and removed him
from the Governorship. Mr Jeremizh Callaghan
was appointed in his stead that same year.

Piracy was spasmodic when H.M.S. Bulldo
gunboat, arrived at Labuan one day to inquire
into piracies and outrages in which one of the
Sultan’s brothers was implicated. s

The Sultan had been warned to check his
brothers’ raids in waters near Labuen, for they
were British waters, and disasters would surely
overtake his brother if the raids continued. But-
the temptations to pick up prizes in Labuan
waters close to home were too great, the piracies
continued and soon brought H.M.S. Bulldeg on
the scene.

The naval Commander found Wild Irish Girl, a
trading vessel, in Labuan harbour, sent for her
master John Ross and requisitioned his services
to pilot Bulldog up Brunei River. Brunei river
was dangerous to navigation by reason of sunken
vessels and stone barriers placed so as to compel
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els entering the river to come under the guns
the battery on Palau Chermin.  Captain Ross
ndertook the duty, piloted Bufldog up the river
anchored her at a convenient distance for
barding the city if required to do so. All
Brunei batteries remained silent during the
sage and the war ship’s_boats pulled for the
ultan’s palace, Captain Ross accompanied the
al Commander ashore as tnterpreter.

aptain Ross knew his way about Brunei and
w Sultan Abdul Mumin himself, for he was
rirade between Brunei and Singapore. He had
ormerly been assistant and secretary to Clunies
ioss of the Cocos Islands and later had bought
dd Irish Girl in Australia to trade. She was a
¢ and carried a crew of Malays and vagabonds
o had their own reasons for wishing to quit
stralia. Captain Ross’ help was much appre-
ted in the enquiry and the naval Commander
de full use of his services.

Sultan Abdul Mumin received his visitors with
nuch ceremony and dignity, but the naval Com-
nder had no sense of formality and told
aptain Ross to hasten matters. Captain Ross’
pleasant task was to tell His Highness that his
other’s crimes must now be expiated and that
only punishment for piracy was death.
ssibly no person except Captain Ross could
ve persuaded the Sultan that it was useless ‘to
ay and prevaricate at such a crisis. The naval
Commander decided that the execution of -the
Itan’s brother should take place next morning.
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When daylight broke, onlookers saw a
prahu moored opposite the Sultan’s palacs
platform erected on the deck of the praha,

Captain Ross aboard H.M.S.
invited by the naval Commander but refus;
attend the execution saying it was no part
duty and so boats from the British warship y
alongside the prahu without him. In the ¢
of all a handsome person, dressed in the 14
yellow of Brunei, was led to the plaiform,
set in a kneeling position on the scaffold, A ¢
was passed round his neck by two of the Su
executioners and in the next instant he
choking in a death struggle. The naval C
mander with his boats returned to H.M.S. B,
dog, satisfied that the sentence of death had b
carried into effect, the garrot being the us
method of execution of princes at the court
Brunei.

Captain Ross piloted H.M.S Bulldog back 1
Labuan having completed his duty, and boarde
his brig Wild Irish Girl.

But was the man in yellow robes really th
Sultan’s brother? Only Captain Ross could havi
identified him because he knew the Sultan
family and he had chosen to absent himself from
the execution. However from that day the raids
on Labuan waters ceased and though the Sultan’s
brother was supposed to have sent & substitute to
the scaffold he never appeared again in Brunei
Rumour said that he went to Palawan or Sulu i
the Philippines.

N
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¢t a word ever passed between the Sultan or
din Ross about the execution. Although the
n had small reason 1o thank him for having
ed the British warship up Brunei river “and
 having got judgment in twenty four hours, yet
-absence from the execution had a great effect
d he became a greater favourite at the Sultan’s

Captain Ross was not only a good sailor, but a
ver diplomatist.

 Captain Ross was the pioneer of trade and
ommerce on regular lines between Singapore,
i. His son John D. Ross has
gritten memoirs of his trade in his book “Sixty
rears: Travel and Adventure in the Far East.”” His
hapters on Labuan of old days are full of interest
d for much of the information recorded i my
i He disguised his

wn and other names in many of his memoirs.
Cargoes out of Brunei were valusble and the

petition by sailing ships to get this trade and
Wild Irish Girl pushed others out of it. Captain
Ross took advantage of his success, sold his brig
and bought a larger brig called Lizzie Weber,
This brig fought a gallant action against pirates
in waters near Labuan.

Lizzie Weber sailed out of Singapore with a
full cargo, called at Labuan and arrived at Brunei
after a fine passage and an ful voyage.
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Brunei River was crowded with craft from M;
nau, Sulu and other places. The nakodahs of th
craft frequently paid friendly visits on boy
Lizzie Weber and sold their cargoes of prod
Nakoduh Si Rahman repeatedly came on b
Lizzie Weber under the pretext of trade, wh
however never came to the point, and Kassim
Javanese Malay and chief native officer on Lj,
Weber became suspicious of him and declared hi;
to be an Illanun. Illanuns were reputed to
fierce pirates, and though Captain Ross noti
that Si Rahman was curious about the armamen
of Lizzie Weberand her battery of twelve-pound
he paid no attention to his native officer’s warning
Lizzie Weber dropped down Brunei River ani
made for Labuan, where she completed her ca
and took on board Mr Meldrum, the on
passenger on that voyage. :
ne afternoon out of Labuan with a light an
fitful breeze. During the night the current

left his brig without steerage-way.

All was hurry and bustle on board Lizzie Weber
Men beat to quarters, guns were run out an
rifles and cutlasses served round. The Captain’
wife was on board, and he went below to givi
her a revolver with the strictest instructions t
remain in her eabin during the coming fight an
to shoot her little son first and then herself if th

rates carried the ship.
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aptain  Ross took up his position on the
rter deck and events developed rapidly. The
irate squadron came up at a great speed each
grahu pulling forty oars or more.  The pirates
re several hundreds strong and if they had
gwed straight to fight, the fate of Lizzie Weber
uld have been settled within half an hour.
hat fortunately is not the native way of doing
The pirate prahus pulled round the brig

pwards her until the vessels were within easy

1 of each other. Right amid ships of the leading
irate prahu stood a conspicuous figure in a
carlet jacket, Nakodah Si Rahman himself. The
ate chief began by hailing Captain Ross by
ame and saying that he had come as a friend,
was short of tobacco and wished to go aboard

, he would open fire at once.
hman bade Captain Ross give up his brig
vithout a useless struggle especially as he himself
was kabal — invulnerable to any sort of wounds.
Kassim on the maindeck of Lizzie Weber
nxiously watched his Captain’s movements and
inking that a wave of the hand gave him liberty
b open fire, he did so and discharged the gun, of
ich he was in charge, at the pirate prahu,
ch to the anger of the mate Mr Simpson.
Lizzie Weber carried a battery of six twelve-
under guns, and there were half a dozen
muskets for every sailor on hoard, thanks to a
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recent purchase of a few cases of Americ
muskets from a Yankee Captain, Al th

So Lizzie Weber's sailors had only to throw do
an empty musket and pick up a loaded one
maintain a rapid fire.

The brig, like other trading vessels on f r
coast, carried a crew numerous enough to wo:
her cargo as well as to sail her. There w
three European men and forty Malays on hoar

Her twelve-pounder guns were each loade
with round shot and with a canvas bag of bullet
rammed home on top of it, making a mog
effective charge at close range.

From the moment that Kassim had fired th
first shot Lizzie Weber kept up a hot fire with hes
guns and musketry. The pirates replied vi
rously. Their prahus mounted a number of light
guns, and their sides were strengthened b
bulworks, built up breast high of billian iron wood,
s;lrong enough to withstand the impact of a round
shot. .
The yells of the pirates rose above the roar of
the guns and the rattle of musketry. Simpson
and three sailors were carried below wounded

trouble on her hands, because son Johnnie made
frantic attempts in the din of battle to escape to
the upper deck to see what daddy was doing
His mother finally carried him away by main
force, kicking and screaming with rage, and
locked him up in a spare cabin.
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The lady, a true captain’s wife, kept her wits
about her. Powder was running short for the
guns, and a couple of Malay sailors were sent to
bring up some kegs from the magazine. The
thoughtless sailors went below with a naked light
to the magazine which was right aft and could be
got at through a scuttle in a store room. Mrs
Ross saw what was afoot, and reached the sailor
just in time to prevent him going in.  Grabbing
the naked light, she threw it out of a porthole
into the sea. The magazine not only contained
kegs of gun powder, but its floor was covered
with a lot of loose gunpowder and the brig would
have been blown up in an instant. After that
she stood in the magazine and handed up the
powder herself A Captain’s wife needed to keep
her wits about her in those days. :

Captain Ross himself was fighting his ship for
ail he was worth. His best aitempts were made
to slay Nakodah Si Rahman, who stood amid-
ships on his vessel, like a scarlet demon directing
the pirates’ attack and exposing himself to a
rattling fire in full confidence that he was invul-
nerable.

“For goodness sake”, roared Captain Rogs to
his passenger Meldrum, “bowl over that red
ruffian”. Meldrum loaded a new American rifle
methodically, aimed and missed. The Captain
himself fired a few shots at the man from a
smoothbore carbine without any better result.
Scores of shots were fired at Nakedah Si Rahman
from the main-deck and forecastle without
success.
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Kassim tried round shot and bags of bullets
and they took effect on the rest of the crew in the
prahu but not on Si Rahman, who was well aware
that shots were aimed at him. He openly
challenged them relying on the magic which
made him kabal.

After three hours of fighting, there came a lull.
Captain Ross went round his decks. He ordered
the heated twelve-pounders to be sponged out
and made ready for further action, and all the
small arms re-loaded. Scarcely had he finished
his round, when he saw the pirate prahus sweep-
ing down upon him under rapid strokes of their
oars. Nakedah Si Rahman, it was evident, had
given up his attempt to wear down the brig’s
resistance by picking off her crew and exhausting
her ammunition. He decided to try to do now
what he might have tried to do before. He would
throw hundreds of his armed men on her decks
and capture her by boarding.

Eight pirate prahus made a dash for the star-
board side of the brig, leaving her port battery
silent and idle.

The starboard guns kept up their fire, but the
approaching prahus lay so low in the water that
soon the gunners on Lizzie Weber could not
depress the muzzles of their guns low enough to
hit the prahus.

Nakodah Si Rahman’s own prahu was the best
manned of the pirate fleet and rapidly drew
ahead of the others. He was almost alongside
the brig when Kassim decided on a final shot.
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Eaptain Ross seeing that the shot must fly too
igh called to Kassim.

“Train the gun on the thwart and kill St
Rahman!”

Kassim with his hand showed that he had
e wedge beneath the gun’s breech as far as it
ould go and that he could depress the muzzle
o further. Captain Ross sprang forward and
bending down he put forth the whole of his giant
rength and lifted the gun carriage bodily while
assim and another sailor rolled a heavy spar
eneath the gun carriage. This had the effect of
epressing the muzzle much further, and taking
glance along the sights, Captain Ross fired the

un.

Before the smoke cleared, yells arcse {rom the
irate prahu, and when Captain Ross looked over
e bulwarks of his brig, he saw a pile of wreck-
_age and Si Rahman himself as a scarlet patch in
the water swirling round the sinking prahu.
hat was the end of its fiery [llanun chief.
Other pirate prahus rescued as many of the
survivors from the sinking prahu as they could
nd pulled away from the brig, and then at last a
gentle breeze came and Lizzie Weber began to get
~way on her. Once more the guns and the
uskets were put into a state of readiness. The
ired crew had their first meal during the day
nd the brig was put into fighting trim to face
next attak.

The pirate fleet still haunted the brig. Their
owers could pull much faster than she could
ail in the gentle breeze and it was clear to  those
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on board the brig that their foes were wa
for the darkness to deliver their next attack.
looked grim, but there was hope, because
breeze was freshening all the time. Lizzie
had begun to slip a little faster through the w,
when the pirates closed on her from both sj
under the rays of the setting sun. Again ¢
fight raged on both sides of the brig. Wh
Mrs Ross stepped up to the quarter deck to
her husband, only six kegs of gunpowder we
left in the magazine. She kept this urgent ne
a secret from the crew.

*“Send up the six kegs”, said Captain Rass
his wife, ‘“Leave the rest to me. Obey
orders. Go down to the cabin”.

The end seemed near. The gallant lady d
not even stay to say goodbye. She went bel
to carry out orders, which included the shooti
of her son and herself if need be.

Six kegs of powder would allow the guns
fire one more round apiece, with something
spare for the muskets. .

Captain Ross decided that the time had co
when instead of trying to escape he must atta
it was a desperate venture. He put his helm
dowu and spilled his sails. He sailed towari
the fleet firing his last broadside. He saw he h
caught one of the prahn at his advantage. Jumi
ing to the wheel he altered his course by a fe
points, and next minute there was a crash as t
keel of the brig rode over the wreck of th
prahu, Some of the pirates were shot as th
swam in the water. Others with the agility
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men born to the sea, clambered up the brig's
chains to reach the deck, where they were
promptly cut down.

In the confusion, a rising wind filled the brig’s
sails and bore her out of battle into safety.
The fight had lasted all day from dawn to

dusk.

After this fight the fast sailing Lizzie Weber
required expensive refitting. She was sold and
Don Pedro, more than twice the size, replaced her
“on the Labuan run. She also was a sailing vessel.
Don Pedro, on her maiden voyage out of Singa-
pore, carried a detachment of India troops under
Major Barclay for Labuan. It was a fine run.
Time passed agreeably on board.  Reading,
chess, whist, music, an occasional brandy and
soda and Manila cheroots filled up the hours and
the wives of Captain Ross and Major Buarclay
swore eternal friendship.

Captain Ross, now the proud master of the
biggest vessel trading to Labuan, went into
ecstasy as he made Don Pedro fast to the rickety
wharf. The harbour, he wrote with rapture,
was a splendid bay for commercial purposes.
The wide expanse of deep tranquil water enabled
ships to anchor a short distance from the shore.
Nature had kindly placed a group of small islands
off the entrance of the harbour to serve as a break-
water. Here was a beautiful harbour with a coal
mine within ten miles of it. Of natural beauties
Labuan had very few, but considering the island
from a purely business view and viewing it
through rose-coloured spectacles Captain Ross
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thought there was no other harbour in the whole
Far East offering so many facilities for the
development of a mescantile port of the firgt
order. To his deep regret however Labuan
persisted in being an obscure and little frequent.
ed island.

On the island there was a regiment of sepoys,
and a battery or two of artillery which gave some
animation to the scene.

John Pope-Hennessy was Governor at that time
and he was called the “Pope” for short. He was
in many ways a remarkable man with a
picturesque public career behind him. He had
represented an Irish constituency in the House
of Commons. Gifted with much ability and an
unusual flow of speech, he had soon become a
thorn rankling in the side of the government of
the day.

As a silencer the governorship of Labuan,
almost the {urthest away in the east, was offered
at a salary of some two thousand pounds a year,
what with pay and allowances. :

The budding coleny wanted all the encourage-
ment it could get but the “Pope” upraided the
inhabitants and declared thar the place.must pay
its way. To that end he saddled it with the cost
of the garrison, clapped taxes on everything and
almost choked the life out of the little colony.
In those days colonial governors were not hooked
to the end of a telegraph line and could make
their own policy without reference home.

“What?” he cried, “no water and no taxes?*
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Water was not plentiful on the litle island
and its supply could only be improved by the
expenditure of money. The “Pope” made his
servants and staff fetch water in boats all the way
from Padas River for his consumption. The
mouth of Padas River is not salubrious as a
watering place, so the servants went a long way
upriver to fetch good water.

The “Pope” had a daughter and would not
admit that daughters of governors are born
into this world to be the wives of secretaries or
AD.C's. The Secretary tried to follow this
sensible order of nature but the “Pope” would
not have it. :

“How dare you make love to my daughter?”
he stormed to his Secretary.

The Secretary persisted in his attentions, and
the angry Governor took the law into his own
hands. He called the Sergeant in charge of the
police and clapped the Secretary into gaol. The
gaol was a small place and usuaily empty. It was
a warm place too and hardly the place where an
ardent lover could cool down.  The ventilation
was poor and the Doctor on his visit took notice
of this and protested to the Governor.

“You can’t-do this, Sir! What offence has he
committed ?”

“Can’t 1?7 shouted the furious Governor:
“Who are you to question my actions?  This is
treason!” ! ’

He bawled for the guard outside. -

“ Arrest this man and Jock him in the gaol.”
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So into the gaol went the Doctor. Then
third man, a mere man of the people, a commone
went to His Excellency to protest.

“You! Who do you think you are? Into £ao]
with the others!”

His daughter in tears sent some chicken soy
to flavour the rice and water of affliction, but th,
Governor did not know of this. A captain of
local trading vessel heard of the Governor's tan
trum, put to sea bound for Singapore and ther
he told the facts as he knew them.

recently visited Labuan told a similar yarn saying
that when he visited Labuan every official in.
Labuan, excepiing the Governor himself, wa
lodged in gaol. The matter could not be passed
An enquiry was held, blame was attached ,
the climate, and the ‘“‘Pope” was transferred on
promotion.
During the governorship of the “Pope” ther
was an absence of the kindly feeling and th
matual interchange of courtesies which Sir James
in Sarawak had been anxious to see established -
with Labuan. The appointment of Henry
Bulwer as the next governor was hailed with
relief. The people of Labuan welcomed the
appointment and the Sarawak Gazelte hoped that
the advent of the new Governor would be the
means of securing unity of purpese and common
endeavour for the interest of trade and civiliza-
“tion on the north west coast of Borneo, There
existed only two settlements, Sarawak and Labuan,
and they ought to work together.
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he. governorship of the “Pope” lasted three
s. Henry Bulwer succeeded him in 1871

he Governor in those early days had a small
ncil to advise him. The council was com-
d of executive officers who were subordinate
im, and whether he followed their advice or
t was for himself to determine.

he Governor wielded the widest powers, being
t of touch with London except by mails carried
sea, and amenable to no local criticism.

He made grants of land like a
orman King. He issued laws like a Solon. He
warded or punished like a Caliph.

When reproached for acting contrary to the
w, he could exclaim, “ The law! Tam the law!”
nd he would have been almost right.




CHAPTER 6
COALING DAYS

@OAL was worked by mining companies
Labuan for sixty five years, from about 184
to 1911, At its best the cutput was 5000 tons
week. :
Although minivg companies went into ban
ruptey one after the other, yet there was alwa:
another ready to put in more capital.
Apart from mining problems at the sea lew
there was the eternal problem of isbour. - Di;
content was rife, and an old Indian watchma
who retired to Lobak Temiang close to the min
held lively memories of the disturbances, str
and riots which persisted to the very last day
the mine’s existence. :
Labourers from Brunei and Malaya earne
what money they needed and returred hom
Indentured labourers wotked their term an
convicts served their sentences: all returned
home. Nooe would stay.  This was partly du
to malarial fever whose cause wes not known i
those days. Family life and amenities wer
lacking Inefficiency and misn opiu
and gambling, also played iheir part,
Another difficulty was the lack of suitabl
wharfage for big ships. The coaling whar
occupied the site of the present shipping wha
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d & railway ran from the mines to it. The
hble wall of the present shipping wharf dates
to coaling days. Only medium sized ships
d approach.

From the beginning open-cast working had
en allowed and the open-casts acted as funnels
ich collected rain water and poured it down
e mine. The rainfsll amounts to sbout one
indred inches a year so pumping  costs were
gh. Water was always in front of the miners.
he coal seams weré steep. Some of the seams
ere worked under the sea.

The first of the coal mining companies was
e Eastern Archipelago Company of 1847

d the first colliery manager in Labuan was Mr
nclair, whose assistant and surgeon was Dr
oulthard. In those early days a miner and

abuan was paid £16, £18 and £20 s month in
ree successive years. He could improve his
sition and earn £40 a month as an assistant

Relations between Sir James Brooke and the
astern Archipelago Company soon became
rained over a variety of affairs. Heny Wise
ade attacks on Sir James. Angered by these
ersistent charges against him, Sir James pro-
cuted the company for fraud and won his _case.
he suit was tried in London and the court found

eir charter.” The offence of which the com-
any was proved guilty was that when. they
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possessed & capital of only £5000 und purch,
& mine on credit, which they themselves va
at £46,000, they certified to the Board of Tr
that they had £50,000 of paid up capital w
was quite untrue. As a resolt the Eag
Archipelago Company lost the concession.

The minesat Labuan and  Brooketon on
main land formed a close link. For a time
the mines whether in Labuan, Brunei or S,

settlement. He kept a private house in Lab
for many years. It was called *Cool Fin”
a house still stands upon the site. It is a mil
more from the port along Plain Road and sta
on a slope near where the hills come down to
shore. Sir James brought his own sago att
from Limbang for the roof and refused shin
or tiles as being too hot. The first-house wa

sounds. From this house Sir James kept sup
vision over his own affairs, including the min
After his death the house was sold to
Doherty for the sum of $3000 and the new ow
pulled it down and built the present smal
house on the same site. .

Some of the companies which succeeded
Eastern -Archipelago Company had equal
grandiloquent names.. There was the mod
Labuan Coal, then the Amalgamated Ch
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camship and Labuan Coal, and then the

Olne of these companies did things on a big
ale.
The company sent to Labuan four finest eamers
carry the coal from Labuan to Singapore, but
mething was wrong at the colliery and the
tput was small. The Colliery Manager decided
use these steamers to carry other carge, but
is did not prove a success because the steamers
ere built for carrying coal and were unsuited
r the mixed cargoes of Borneo. They had no
commodation for deck or.saloon passengers.
his difficulty the Colliery Manager asked
aptain Ross to take over the steamers and
nanage them at a salary.  Captain Ross refured
e offer and the Colliery Manager used threats.
is four steamers could run Don Pedro out of
siness, he said. Captain Ross however could
ot be persuaded and sailed out of Labuan for
ingapore with Don Pedro loaded as deep as it
was safe to load her. Every cabin was bcoked
nd the decks swarmed with deck passengers.- A
al company’s steamer sailed at the same time
ith a few hundred tons of coal mined on the
rface in a hurry, but the voyage did not pay
e cost of mining the coal.

Once when Captain Ross visited the colliery
e found the engineer in charge of the railway
ck with fever and the engineer in charge of the
pumps engaged with a bottle of brandy and two
local ladies. The main shaft was full of water.
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There were frequent changes in the mana
ment and unkind observers said
successive manager reversed his predecesso;
policy and ordered from England a new set
machinery.

distilling shale oil, but it never went further th:
the beach, as the new manager said that thou,
there was shale in the island it required anoth
million years for its formation before anybo,
- could get oil out of it. It wasa new formation
and the other man’s geology was all wrong.

fetch in Singapore.  What it fetched did no
pay the cost of the freight.

The railway from Port Victoria to the colliery
followed a track which is now McArthur Road
The railway was about eight miles long and
tickets were issued to passengers to travel up and
down the line. But the Colliery Manager would
not sell tickets to passengers whom he did pot
like, and on one occasion when a gentleman on
the black list entered a carriage with a ticket
bought by somebody else, the Colliery Manager
challenged him to descend from the train and
fight to settle the point. The other passengers
were delighted.

The island was not big enough to hold men of
such fiery temper. They met too often. Suils
for libel and slander were frequent snd one cs
of libel went as far as London. (Archibald
Allison vs Borneo Co. Ltd., Queens Bench
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vision, 1890). Lawyers often came up from Sin-
gapore and earned good fees. - Feclings ran high.

In 1890 when the Chartered Company took
er the administration of Labuan, the coal mines
re still unsuccessful. In that year Walter Clut-
buck, a tourist, described the scene. The coal

a rest house for those with business to transact.
'+ was a most inhospitable place and stood at the

ore end of the present wharf. The hotel in the
own was a ramshackle wooden building with an
ap roof. Drinks and meals could be got there.
The railway to the Colliery was working and
passengers going to the mine sat in a shabby car
ooked on to a long string of trucks returning

empty.

The Colliery Manager lived at Coal Point at
. the north end of the island. His house was roomy
and comfortable with a dusty and neglected look
about it. At the Colliery dozens of Malay man-

and trousers and their chief duty was to stir the
miners to action with a short length of cane. The
Engineer in charge of the pumps lived several
miles away because his wife did not like the
mines.

The stock of explosives was kept in the Manag-
er’s house for safety, but Malays and others soon
found a way to get in and take the ten-pound kegs
of gunpowder. Gunpowder wasin great demand b3
hunters of game and heads on the mainland
their muzzle-loaders. These weapOns were
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Tower muskets and dated from the Crimean war,
They were smooth in bote and went out of use
in Europe soon after rifling was discovered:
They served hunters in Borneo up to about 1910
and reached the furthest kampongs. Safeguarding
the gunpowder store in the coal mine was a
problem. .

Relations between the Colliery Manager and
the Resident in the days of Chartered Company’s
rule were not always cordial. The Colliery
Manager during one of his visits to Victoria was
much disturbed by the bugle cails of Sikh soldiers
whose barracks were near to the coal company’s
offices. He took some foolscap paper and wrote
officially to the Resident demanding that he shoul
forthwith order his rabble of heathens to cease
their discordant blasts on brazen trumpets, which
deafened the ears of a Christian gentleman, the
Colliery Manager, upon whose ability and und
turbed exercise of his faculties the prosperity of
the entire colony depended. He covereda page
or two of foolscap and despatched it to the Resi-
dency, as Government House was then called.
_The Resident threw the screed to one side and

thought no more about it.

The Colliery Manager bided his time and
affixed a powerful steam siren which he got off
the wreck of a ship to one of the locomotives on
the railway. The railway described a curve at
the back of the Residency, where McArthur Road
lies today. The Manager ran his locomotive to
this curve, and set a full head of steam blowing
continuously through the siren. The hootings of

=
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is appalling contrivance began at dinner time
1d were kept up throughout the whole of one
deous night.

Messengers, and indeed the Resident himself,
ent in vain to the Colliery Manager’s house in
wn to beg him to stop the bleod-curdling
hricks of his steam siren. All alike were

formed that the Manager was asleep snd had
given strict orders that he was not to be disturbed.

His doors and windows were well bolted and
arred. Noone thought it was worth while to
reak into the house and get at him, and it was
earned later ihat the Manager was sleeping
blissfully in his bungalow at the north end of the
island. The Manager obstinately maintained bis
ight to do what he liked on his own railway. In
the end the sleepless Resident capitulated and

romised that the bugles of his Sikhs should
temain silent while the Manager was in town.

The Colliery Manager decided on the builcing
of labourers’ quarters near the offices which
would provide clean and comfortable quarters for
is labourers in place of common lodgirg-houses
n town where they were fleeced. Miners were
- induced to shift to the new quarters, and lodging-
_house crimps in town were furious at the thought
f losing their gains. The crimps decided to
urn the new lines.

The foreman at the mines was well aware of
his and determined to prevent it. He said he
ould guarantee the capture and punishrent of
the crimps. He asked the Colliery Manager to

visit the new lines at ten o’clock 1he same pight.
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He was warned not to come too early lest
frighten the crimps away.

The foreman came to meet him with a g
on his face. :

“Its all right, sir,” said the foreman. “Wey,
got them!”

In the midst of a shouting and milling mol
of people there sat half a dozen sulky-lookin
ruffians.  In front of them lay a smail pile of
damar torches, rags soaked in paraffin and boxe
of matches. There were also some ropes and
dozen stout rattan canes cut neatly into length;
of about four feet.

someone will get hurt. May we flog them?”
The Colliery Manager nodded his

honour of flogging them, but once this disput
was settled no time was lost. The rattan cane:
whistled through the air and cut into the flesh o
the sufferers who yelled horribly.

In vain did the Manager shout to the foreman —
and others to stop, and it was only by his own
exertions that he could cast off the ropes of eacl
in turn. They were then huddled into their
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thes and flung out of the main gateway where
ir friends picked them up and cartied them
tome.
The Manager got a list of the names of the
mps and thought it best 10 report the affair to
he Resident the same night. He rode «n a
ony, late as it was, to lay information against
them. He found the Resident lying in a long
hair and lightly clad in the sirglet and sarong
f a hot climate.
*“Come and have a drink, my friend,” said the
Regident. “You ride late 10-night!  Anything
p?”

The Manager refreshed himself with a much
eceded whisky and soda, and then told the
Resident about the row at the labourers’ quarters
“Well 'm damned!” shouted the angry
“You go and have a lot of people

the law into your own hands when it_suits you?
 While you're here I'm ‘no more Resident of
Labuan than I am Emperor of Japan.”

The men discussed the position from an
opportunist point of view. To prosecute the
Manager would never do. Much beiter arrest
the crimps on a charge of incendiarism and if
they had been badly hurt put them in the prison
hospital where the Medical officer could lcok
- after them.

“It’'s very awkward,” said the Resident.
These crimps have a lot of money. Hugh St




20z LABUAN STORY

John, the lawyer, will rake up the case and
can’t blame him if he does.”

Hugh St John un behalf of the crimps broug?
actions both civil and criminal against
Manager, and that led to the trial of the crim
first. Each of the crimps was tried in turn
condemned to serve a sentence'in the chain gan
until there was a steamer by which he could
deported. Nothing came of the actions again;
the Manager.

Trouble was present at the colliery so long 4
secret societies existed. They were commo
Members ruet in secret and favoured anarchy i
various ways  The societies were outlawed, byl
still continued. At last the Colliery Manage
got even with them. A spy brought him inform
ation and having learned wisdom he took th
Resident into his confidence. The Manager ha
his own body of police. They were Sikhs an
the Manager thought them much more efficien

of an abandoned mine, The police rushed in
aud caught eighteen members by surprise. The
were arrested, handcuffed and sent by a specia
train to Victoria where they were put into prison,
A pile of papers and arms and dynamite stolen’
from the store were captured, together with the
symbols and badges usually associated with
secret society of this sort.
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The Resident was jubilant. * When you leave
ngs 10 me,” was the burden of his song 1o the
anager, ** see how beautifully it is done.- No
ise ! no flogging ! no nothing !”

Sports and fun played a large part -in life in
hose days and when s.s. St Paricres was wrecked
near Labuan her crew ot forty men were brought
fely ashore and the people entertained. then
ith geodwill. Sports and games were organised
d the Colliery Manager of the day excelled his
ecord at the high jump, when he jumped
himself clean out of the seat of his breeches to
he great amusement of the crowd.

Labuan Club was a lively meeting place, but
conditions at the Government Rest House were
not so amicable. It was about a mile and a haif
out of the town on the plateau close to the
houses of officials of the Government and of the
Coal Company. Its site was just beyond old
Government House which is now a park. From
1his Rest House many visitors and people living
in the island were excluded, partly by personal
animosity and partly by official displeasure.
These resorted to. a popular hotel kept by J. P.
Keasberry in the town.

Meanwhile the coal trade contirued to decline,
generations of optimistic shareholders lost their
money and one coal company after another went
into liquidation. The coal carrying steamers
were transferred to the China coast as a separate
concern and in the end the Germans bought up
the whole fleet and transferred them to the
German flag.
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Other ships carried cargoes of coal until abe
Y the year 1911 when the mines were closed.

¢ The day of oil fuel had dawned.

; Large deposits are su]l underground it is sai

at the site except the track to the mine and th
brick chimney.

Is Labuan the coal island of Samburan whic

island with coal near Borneo and its identity is
hidden in the name Samburan. The story centre:
on a coalmines — an unsucessful mine.

The book Victory” appeared in 1915, a:
‘generation ago. Conrad himself said that it was
written in the years before the first world war,
was completed a month or two before the war:
broke out, and received its name as a token of
the future victory which he felt sure would be
achiéved. “Victory ” does not seem nowadays
to be a suitable name for a story about an island
near Borneo, unless it points to Port Victoria.

Which island did Conrad describe in this book ?
Was it Labuan?

The question was discussed at some lenght in
the press in 1954, -in Kinabalu Magazine of
Janugry and again in Noith Borneo News of
21st January. The writers of the articles agreed
that Labuan could not fulfill all the geographical
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and social features which Conrad attached to his
island, but they could suggest no other island.
The pros and cons were listed.

For Labuan, the list in favour is fairly long.
The island of Conrad’s story lies within radius
of eight hundred miles of the north point of
Borneo. Coal is plentiful in that circle and
Heyst, the coal company promoter, chose an
island as the central point. )

Victory, the name of the Book, brings to mind
Victoria, the name of Labuan’s port.

The coal company in the book is called the
Tropical Belt Coal Company and that is
suspiciously like the Eastern Archipelago Coal
Company of Labuan

Cosmopolitan people cross the pages of the
hook, in character very like early adventurers in
Labuan.

Schomberg is a character in the book, and in
Labuan there lived Carl Schomburgk, a close
friend of Captain Ross and William Cowie, all
three bheing partners in the Labuan Trading
Company.

The loss of capital in the coalmine, .the
description of the abandoned railway and offices,
the lines festooned with creepers, the empty
bungalows and the mists of heat and stilness
which shrouded the path across Samburan are all
reminiscent of Labuan.

Against Labuan the list would include Conrad’s
description of the island as being a Tound island,
and of a volcano being in sight from the island.
Moreover the atmosphere of social life in
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Samburan is Dutch East Indian, illustrating lif,
in a second class hotel with abundant orchestr,
music. The reader of Victory feels that he j
under the Dutch flag rather than the Britigh
These features seem to exclude Labuan,
Quoting the writer of the article in Nos,
Borneo News, lovers of Conrad, particularly thos,
familiar with the seas where he sailed ar
naturally inclined to puzzle their brains about th
location of this or that place; or the prototype of
this or that character, but surely this is love”
labour lost, for Conrad was careful to veil thei
identity. Conrad himself said of his writings:
“As you know, I do not write history, bu
fiction, and I am therefore entitled to choose as’
as I please what is most suitable in regard to
characters and particulars.” .
There is no evidence that Conrad ever visited
Labuan. He visited Banjermassin and Kutei,
and Bulongan and Berau south of Tawau. All
those places lie in what was Dutch Borneo. In
the 1880’s Contad was s ship’s officer on s.s.
Vidar sailing out of Singapore to trade with
southern Borneo and the Celebes. He served
on Vidar for five months. Later he was mate on
another ship ss. Torrens. Conrad must have
heard often of Labuan when chatting with his
friends in Singapore or on board ship. Perhaps
in writing Victory he had more than one island
in mind and Samburan may be a composite island.




CHAPTER 7
SAIL AND STEAM

@NE disappointments of those who persistently
looked at Labuan through rose-tinted glasses
was the failure of shipping lines to advance from
sail to steam. although coal was mined on 1he
island. Kuching, some four hundred miles from
Labuan, had enjoyed a regular and efficient
steamer service with Singapore since 1856. A
further twenty years passed before a steamer was
put on the run between Singapore and Labuan.

A paddle steamer

The shipowner doing the best trade investcd his
money to promote his business indircetly. He
bought up shop property in Labuan to such an
extent that nearly all the shop-houses in the little
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town belonged to him. His tenants kept on £06
terms with their landlord. If a trader in {
town wished to open a sago factory or dea]
jungle produce, the shipowner would lend hj
money at a rate of interest which was thought
be cheap in those days. He would charge twely,
per cent a year with a three-year agreement tha
the trader must ship his cargo on the shipowner

vessels. The shipowner on his side promised t

new ship called Samson took her place. Samsor
was a full rigged sailing ship and became ver
popular.

A hindrance was the dead calm which some
times occurs in Labuan waters. On a fair wind
Samson would run between Labuan and Singapore .
insix days, but there were voyages when she
would take six weeks to drift the distance.

On one occasion Captain Ross gave a dinner:
party on board Samson for men only. . When the
time came for the party to go ashore Dr McPhun
went first and in his hilarious state he saw two
gangways. He chose the imaginary instead of |
wooden one and fell into the sea with a loud
splash. Major Barclay, who had come from
Singapore on one of his gunnery inspections,
looked over the side.

“The old Doctor is floating all right. He is'

~too fat to sink,” said the Major complacently.
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“Yes,” replied Captain Ross looking over the
ail, “ But he’s floating the wrong sice up!” He
escured the doctor just in time.
Changing into a dry suit, Captain Ross joined
ome of his other guests, one of them was Captain
Barkspur of H M.S. Sharpsheoter.  She was a
urveying ship and Captain Ross knew Captain
Barkspur well and had been of much help to him
n his surveys. Captain Barkspur got ready at
midnight to retwrn to his swarship and atked
| Captain Ross if he could take any letters to
Singapore on Sharpshooler.
_ “Iwish you would take me as a passenger!”
said Captain Ross
“What ? take you on board as a passenger ?”
“No! I did not quite mean that. It's dead
calm and the sea is like a sheet of glass. Good-
ess only knows when Saemson will reach
ingapore. If you would only give my vessel a
friendly tow across, it would help a lot.”
At first Captain Barkspur said the thing was
impossible. “ Whoever heard of a warship doing
such a thing?” he asked. But as they went on
_ calking, the idea seemed a little less ridiculous
than at first and finally Captain Barkspur
tonsented. The party broke up and esch went
to his bunk.

Next morning Captain Barkspur, after a few
hours of sleep, was awakened by an unusual
bustle and tramping overhead. He rang a bell
and sent a marine to find out what cause of the
unseemly noise and bid it stop instantly. The
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marine returncd to say that it was only Capta .
Ross bending his cables.
The Captain of H M.S. Sharpshooter admitt

hastened on deck where he found Capiain Ross
fresh as paint gazing with a satisfied smile at a
couple of fine new Manila hawsers fastened to
H.M.S. Sharpshooler’s bits.

“ What’s the meaning of this?” reared Captain
Barkspur.

““Well,” quietly answered Captain Ross, *Mr
Shovels, your chief engineer, said you might be
getting under weigh very shortly, 50 I thought I
would get everything ready for the tow.”

“Tow!”

“Yes, why not? Youre going fo tow my
Samson to Singapore aren’t you? You promised
sa last night!”

The Captain of H M S. Sharpshocter said some-
thing he regretted afterwards 2s unbecoming a
naval officer and a gentleman. Captain Ross
turned to Lieutenant Simpson.

“I say, Simpson, you heard Captain Barkspur
promise last night that he would give me a tow,
didn’t you?”

Lieutenant Simpson had been one of the guests
on board Sams:n and had listened to the talk of
the two captains with some surprise. He now
turned rather red in the face and said that he
believed Capt. Ross had stated the facts correctly.
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““Then that settles the matter,” said Captain
Ross.

But Captain Barkspur promptly retorted that
he wanted the hawsers taken off his quarter deck,
a8 he intended to leave for Singapore at once.
Captain Barkspur could show a fine sense of the
meaning of words and left no doubt. about his
intention,

“Do you really think I am going to tow that
outrageous old East Indiaman of yours all the
way from Labuan to Singapore?”

He looked angrily at the towering masts and
spars of Samson just astern of him, and gave vent
to explosive language.

Captain Ross took out a spotless clean white
handkerchief and wiped imaginary tears from
his eyes and nose. He expressed in simple words
his unbroken faith in Captain Barkspur’s word.

“This comes of dining with merchant skip-
pers!” growled Captain Barkspur. “‘DI've got a
head on me like a toy shop andl've got to tow
this monstrous windjammer from Labuan to
Jerusalem!”

They both went below to taste a hair of the
dog.

“Mind you,” said Captain Barkspur, feeling
better, I'll cast you off at Horsburgh Light. ‘I'fl
not go into Singapore with that thing fastened to
my tail.”
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Two hours later people came down to see
H.M.S. Sharpshooter off. She steamed out, ap
to everybody’s surprise Samson astern of he
strained at a tow line and glided away through
crystal sea without a stitch of canvas set.

By custom of the day, discipline on board th
sailing vessels was maintained by the lash On th
last voyage of Samson from Singapore to Labuan
many of the crew proved to be an undesirable .
sort. No doubt the ghaut serang had taken on
number of bad characters.  Discipline fell to"
pieces and the vessel was sailed in caieless
fashion. Thefts and fighting amongst the sailors
led to trouble.

To the master of any ship this sort of thing
was intolerable and on the next occasion that
trouble occurred on bodrd, Captain Ross had half
adozen of his wasters soundly flogged. The
culprits were made fast to the rigging by their
wrists, and Kassim with two assistants flogged
them in turn with a rope called a colt. This was
a short length of rope tightly wound with twine
and beeswax and terminating in a pointed end,
This colt could hurt a great deal without causing
much damage. The allotted number of lashes
having been inflicted by Kassim and his mates,
the culprits were cast off and sent below.

But this was not the end of the trouble. That
same night Samson was doing five or six knots in
fine weather with a moderate hreeze and Captain
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Ross was pacing his quarter-deck whén some
Malay sailors made a sudden rush ‘at him. He
knocked down two of them, but a knife flashed
and in a moment he was lying on the deck. The
mutineers’ plan was to throw the Captain over-
board, but they were slow in lifting such a heavy
man. !

Mrs Ross was on board and she always kept a
watchful eye on her husband’s safety. * The
mutineers had lifted the Captain level with the
rail and one more heavée would have had him
overboard, but in that moment Mrs Ross flung
herself through the mutineers and falling with
her own elephantine weight upon the Captain
bore him to the deck again, and sat upon him.

Mr Jenkins, the mate, drew a pistol, and shot
one of the mutineers dead. Pointing the pistol,
he cowed the other ruffians who allowed them-
selves to be put in irons withc ut resistance.

The Captain was carried to his cabin where
his wound was discovered to be a gash across his
forehead which was cut to the bone.

The wound however was not so serious as to
prevent him from punishing the mutineers.
Kassim and his two mates set to work on them
in the usual style, and on this occasion with a will
They would have flogged the mutineers to death
if the Captain had not interfered and put an end
to the punishment. The mutineers were not
worth much when they were cut down from their
seizings and carried below.

On arrival at Labuan, they were handed over
to the police for trial and were sentenced to some
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years of hard labour which in those days meant
that the punishment would be served in a chain-
gang working on the roads of the island.

At last, about 1876, the first steamer on the
regular run between Singapore and Labuan
appeared. She was ss. Alastor. She was twenty
years old when she came out.

Alfred Holt had bought Alaster and she was
the pioneer of that great fleet of Blue Funnel
ships trading under Holt’s flag all over the world,
Alfred Holt cut Alastor in two, put his own
system of tandem engines into her and sent her
out from Liverpool to the east by way of Cape
of Goud Hope. Later with the opening of Suez
Canal and improvement in ship-design s.s. Alastor
became out of date for long voyages, Alfred Holt
sold her in Singapore and she went cheap to
Cagtain Ross who bought her for the Labuan
trade.

$.8. Alastor had a clipper bow, was heavily
masted and sparred. She had engines, but looked
like a sailing ship.

There is a description of her arrival once in
Singapore. By that time Captain Ross no longer
took his own ships to sea, and he waited on the
pier at Singapore to greet her.

The long black hull of ss. Alastor lay so low:
in the water that she almost seemed to be sinking.
Five European passengers went ashore from her
to the Hotel del Europe and Captain Ross learne
from the master that he had shut out thre
thousand bags of sago and one hundred bullock:
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The cargo of ss. Alastor contained monkeys,
parrots, rattans and getah percha,

S.S. Alastor paid for herself two or three times
over, and new boilers were put into_her. She
served about twenty years on the Labuan run
and earned a lot of money before her career

closed.
Concession hunters began to appear. In
particular an American named Charles L. Moses
seemed to have some chance of success

In 1850 Sultan Omar Ali had signed a treaty
giving the United States the privileges of the
most favoured nation, and the United States had
done nothing about it for fifteen years.  Then at
long last Charles Moses arrived in Labuan in
1865. ’
Whether Charles Moses came as a Consul of
 the United States or merely as an adventurer
was in doubt.

Little escaped the sharp eyes of the British
officials ashore in Labuan and it was noticed that
_ Charles Moses had to borrow money in Labuan
to pay for his fare from Singapore. But he acted
swiftly, Within a few days of his arrival in
Brunei he got a concession from Sultan Abdul
Murmin, on mere promises to pay, of large arees
of land on the west coast of North Borneo as a
lease {or ten years, and moreover his lease was
_ renewable. His success caused a flutter in the
dove-cots in Labuan, where traders watched with
wondering eyes his departure for Hong Kong
with cession papers in his pocket. The British
_ Consul in Sarawak reported to the Foreign Office
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in London that Charles Moses had provided for
American possession of some fine harbours, such
as Gaya, Ambong and Marudu Bay. .

The Americans might absorb all North Borneo
and even Brumei itself. Fortunately Charles
Moses soon showed his hand. He was out for
himself, not for Uncle Sam. Charles Moses sold
his concession in Hong Kong as swiftly as he
had bought it to two American traders and
two Chinese who styled themselves the American
Trading Company of Borneo, and prepared to
found a colony.

In November 1865 the pioneer party sailed
from Hong Kong on their new veniure. The
names of the men who organised this enterprise
were Joseph W. Torrey and Thomas B. Harris,
Americans, and Lee Ah Sing and Pong Am
Pong, Chinese. The capital was $HK 7000,
provided by the Chinese, for the Americans were
dollarless, hard though it is to believe a century
later.

The partnership of these two Americans and
two Chinese formed a_government. They were
rulers as well as traders. - They agreed with
Charles Moses, he being United States Consul
in Brunei, that he should protect the new colony
under the Stars and Stripes in return for one-
third of the profits and Charles Moses in return
stipulated that the only flag to be hoisted should
be the Siars and Stripes and that the laws of the
United States should apply.

Kimanis River was chosen as the site -of the
colony about fifty miles from Labuan. Joseph
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" Torrey was appointed Supreme Ruler and
Governor, His title was His Excelleny the Rajah
of Ambong and Marudu, showing how far afield
the colony was expected to extend. From Sultan
Abdul Mumin he received yet another title, Sir
Maharajah of North Borneo, A party of sixty
Chinese and ten Americans formed the pioneer
party. - The colony was named Ellena, and was
established in December 1865.

The settlement was not a success. The capital
was insufficient, and Chinese traders in Iabuan
were asked to make advances. The settlement
languished, and when Joseph Torrey returned to
Hong Kong to raise more funds, one of his
Labuan creditors pursued him there.

Joseph Torrey never returned from Hong Kong.
The labourers drifted over sea to Labuan; where
they got work in the coal mines.

The sole memorial of this ill-fated attempt
is the lonely grave of Thomas Harris whose
tomb-stone stands on a hill on Kimanis Estate.
The hill is about 350 feet high commanding
extensive views of the coast. The epitaph
commemorates Thomas Harris, and keeps the
colony in memory. It reads:—

In Memory of
* Thomas Bradley Harris
Late Hon: Chief Secretary in the Colony of
AMBONG and MAROODU
By birth » citizen of the U.8.A.
Died 2nd May 1886
aged 40 years
Rrected by H.E. the Rejah ns & tribute of respect to the
memory of am old faithfu} and esteemed friend
* Adter life's fittul fever he sloaps well




218 R LABUAN STORY

The Rajah was of course Torrey.
The settlement survived for a year and at
end of 1866 it died out.
Charles Moses was not yet beaten. He E
to raise money again in Labuan but failed,
went back to Brunei. Then sending his fa

pay anything at all, not even when U
Monocacy, a gunboat, arrived in Brunej
enquire into the affair.  Charles Moses’
came when the Captain of the American v
ship decided that there was no case to pres
Charles Moses sailed from Labuan in 1867,
shortly after, it is said, lost his life at sea on
voyage to his home in America. The Suli
never received a single cent from either Char
Moses or Joseph Torrey throughout the whe
business. ’

The Governor in Labuan had kept a watch
eye on the activities of the American Tra
Company and the Foreign Office was ful
informed of events. The United States b
informed the British Government that Charl
Moses in securing the concession was acti
purely on his own authority, but there is eviden
that Uncle Sam sought to get hold of Banggi
a naval base, and pegged away at this scheme f
several years.

Other visitors to Labuan sbout this time wer
Italians. In February 1870 Labuan was surprise
by the arrival of an Ttalian warship, Prinipes
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Jotilde, Captain Racchia. He said he had orders
o search for a suitable site for a penal settlement
for Ttalian convicts, He had examined the coast
pposite Labuan and thought that Gaya Bay
ould do excellently. It was the finest anchorage
n north-west Borneo. The Italian scheme was
o form a transit camp in Gaya for criminals
waiting transhipment to Banggi Island where
he penal settlement would be founded.

The “Pope”, then Governor of Labuan,
protested to Captain Rachhia that a penal settle-
. ment in Gaya or Banggi would corrupt the morals
of the people of Brunei, as if that were possible!
Father Cuarteron’s mission at Menggatal would
be no match for that amount of mischief.  The
*Pope” referred the matter to London and a
eng correspondence began between London and
Rome. Three years later, in 1873, the government
of Ttaly gave up the scheme. The criminals of
_ Ttaly were not to be shipped overseas, but kept
_at home.

People of Jesselton, who now disport themselves
on the sands of Tanjong Aru, sail yachts in Gaya
_ Bay and picnic on Gaya Island may like to reflect
on the possibility of their pleasure grounds having

become a depot for criminal Italians,

_ Years passed and with the lapse of time the
cession granted for ten years to Charles Moses
hecame due to expire. Joseph Torrey must have
reached despair when he met that forceful person
Baron Overbeck. He was the Austrian Consul
in Hong Kong, and he decided that Joseph
- Torrey’s concession was of value. He was
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prepared to put up £2000, and two of his frie
one in London and the other in Vienna were
add £1000°each. They were to take over
cession from Joseph Torrey, who then beca
much more hopeful, but another blow fell.
An  Austrian warship dropped anchor
Labuan harbour. Her Captain called on Lieyj
nant Governor Hugh Low, and asked him ab
the prospects and position of the Ameri
Trading Company. The Lieutenant Gover
informed the Austrian Captain that no s
company then existed. Thus Hugh Low tripp
up the enterprising Austrian Consul, and
warship reported back to Vienna ;
The news spread in Vienna and the Baro
friends backed out of the scheme  The Ba
himself was bolder. He returned to Hong Kot
and offered to buy Joseph Torrey out
$HK 15,000 on condition that a renewal of
cession could be got within nine months. Togeth
they sailed to Labuan and thence to Brun
Their avowed intention was to cccupy 4
northern coasts of Borneo. Sultan Abdul Mu
refused to renew the cession and could nof
tempted by any offers. The Sultan was acth
on the advice of Hugh Low, who again tri
up the Baron. But even so the Baron wa
defeated.  He turned to the heir. The yo
prince was entitled Pangeran Tumonggong,
he renewed the cession in defiance of his
father for the paltry sum of $1000. The
Sultan refused to affix his seal and Hugh
regarded the decument as worthless. Hows
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Baron Overbeck and Joseph Torrey had to be
content and the pair of cession hunters returned
o Hong Kong with it.  As will appear fater they
hought their new cession covered practically the
whote of what is now North Borneo, excepting
only Labuan, In spite of Hugh iow they
hought they held the prize. But once again
ate intervened,  Baron Overbeck had not yet
paid the price to Joseph Torrey, who still enjoyed
the grandiloguent title of Rajah of Amborg and
arudy, with as he thought, 1he addition of
Sandakan,
" Then it was that Joseph Torrey came into
atact with William Clark Cowie, a Scot
~ The impact of the arrival of William Clark
Cowie in Labuan had a great and far reaching
fiuence on the future history of North Borneo.
William Cowie was a young engineer, when
he cast his eyes towards the east. He sailed out
| of Glasgow with four friends in_s.s. Angyle an
ron steamer of fourteen tons  The voyage to
Singapore lasted five months, and the ship only
ust reached port. For the last month, the five
riends lived on rice and treacle. No matches
ere left and they kept a kind of vestal fire
urning in the galley which they tried to keep
light, and when by ill-chance it did go out, they
ould only get it alight again with the help of a
artridge, an old gun and some jute. The other
en went off to various jobs and William Cowie
ave his attention to trade and adventure in the
pirate-infested seas around Borneo. He reached
abuan which he made headquarters and was
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commissioned to run the blockade into
Philippines. :

The Spaniards, rulers of the Philippines, w
trying to overc: me the entagonism of the Mu
people in the southern islands, who are kn
generally as Mores. The Spaniards had t
to conquer these people for the past ¢
hundred years without lasting success. Wil
Cowie was told to supply cargoes of arma
ammunition and other contraband to these Moz
in the Sulu Istands.

The Spaniards knew of the blockade runn
through up-to-date information sent by ¢
agent. -

Gun-running s not a drawing - room pastimi
says Owen Rutter in his book “British Nor
Borneo ”.  There are civilised people who woul
call it by hard names, but it is at all events
man’s game, needing nerve, courage and resourc
all of which virtues William Cowie possessed t
a remarkable degree. |

The fitm which financed the blockade-runnin
was a Singapore firm. William Cowie wat
appointed to be their Manager in Borneo, when
the firm called itself the Labuan Trading Com:
pany, The ships belonging to the firm wer
steamships and plied in and out of Labuan

1
Their Captains were British and German.

The information which Father Cuareton sent t
the Spanish authorities caused other British an
German captains to be taken and their cargoe!
confiscated, but thanksto the caution and vigilance
of the Scot, the ships and cargoes of the Labuan
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Trading Company were never caught.  They
went scot-free ag it were. Blockade-running was
a paying game and brought much profit to the
partnership, in spite of both pirates and Spaniards
who lay in wait.

A dapang with outrigger in the Sulu Sea.

On his first voyage out of Labuan, William
Cowie’s Captain had brought his ship, ss Far
East, safely through the=blockade and anchored
her in Jolo, a port in the Sulu Islands  He had
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just finished discharging his cargo when a Sp
ish gunboat came up. William Cowie cog
capture by playing an international bluff.

mate was a Scot and the ship’s master’s certific ,
was English. She had sailed out of Labuan,

to get steam up and quit the port. As both migh
and right were on the side of the Spanish warship
William Cowie did not dispute the order, an

took on board in_the short time allowed him a

He put to sea as ordered but he would not admit
defeat. His ship steamed into the Sulu Sea for
several hours, and when night fell she steamed
back to Jolo, laid up in a creek until the gunboat
had gone about her business and then slipped
back into port. She loaded the rest of the precious
mother-of-pear] under cover of darkness and got
clean away before dawn broke. She was bound
for Labuan, but she had to fight her way.

Far East was steaming past the north point of
Borneo named Simpang Mengayu, meaning the
pirates’ parting of the ways, when a fleet of one
hundred warboats gave chase. William Cowie
had sold all his round shot in Jolo, but his ship
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steamers of those days, and only a well-directed
fire from Far East’s breech-loading six-pounder
prevented the pirates from overtaking the ship

Thus be landed his cargo of arms at one en
and his cargo of pearl-shell at the other end o
a risky voyage.

This exploit is characteristic of William Cowi
He served his friends well, and this voyage lai
the foundation of a friendship with the Sultan of
Sulu which had far-reaching effect The Sultan
gave William Cowie permission to build a depo
in Sandakan. From Sandakan, William Cowie
could slip over to the Sulu Islands with less risk
William Cowie, on behalf of the Labuan Trading
Company, dealt with the Sultan of Sulu for long

Throughout his life-long relations with Sultans
and Chieftains, he carried out his bargains hoth
in spirit and letter. His character, they said, was
as upright as his stature, and he commanded their
respect and admiration,

partner. Though blockade running gave good
returns there was also great risk. None of their
steamers was ever caught, but greater opportunit-
ies were now on offer at Sandakan. The whole
of North Borneo was the stake.
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Three rival parties were in the game. They
ere the American Trading Company, led by
oseph Torrey, the Labuan Trading Company
hose guiding spirit was ‘William Cowie, and
aron Overbeck the Austrian who by this time
had a London backing. Their interests soon
lashed and in the event it was Baron Overbeck,
aclced by his London friends, who won.
A full purse gave his London friends the game.
he clash between the American Tradirg Com-
any and the Labuan Trading Company came
ver a cargo of rattan and seed pearls shipped
rom Sandakan to Hongkong. Joseph Torrey
was still Rajah of Ambong and Marudu, and also,
as he thought, of Sandakan, and he put in a
demand for 10 per cent royalty. It was produce,
he claimed exported from concessions standing
n the name of the American Trading Company.
William Cowie ‘convinced Joseph Torrey that
the American Trading Company’s concessions as
regards Sandakan were worthless. But Joseph
Torrey in turn then convinced William Cowie
that the prospects of gain were good if a conces-
sion of the Sandakan side of the country could
be got from the Sultan of Sulu. Joseph Torrey
urged William Cowie to throw in his lot and
work with the American Trading Company.
William Cowie consulted the bead partner of the
Labuan Trading Company about this. Carl Sch-
ombergh refused to consider a mexger of their
interests and the plan was abandoned. After this,
and perhaps because of this, the Labuan Trading
Company wound up and went out of business.




228 LABUAN STORY

William Cowie secured one of its small steame
and went into a trading partnership with th
Sultan of Sulu himself. .

William Cowie did not forget Labuan and
1882 he applied to the Sultan for a cession. Th;
Sultan must have thought Cowie’s appeal ver
modest contrasted with the extravagant claims
other cession hunters who beset him. All th;
William Cowie asked for and got was an ‘unobt.
usive grant of a little piece of land, one hundred
fathoms square, at Muara about twenty miles
south of Labuan, on a promontory at the mout
of Brunei River. This piece of land reverted in
course of time to the Sultanate and may yet
become a thorn in the flank of Labuan. It’s name
is Brooketon.

Meanwhile Baron Overbeck had not been idle.
He had gained the support of Alfred Dent, head
of a banking firm with branches in London and
China.  Alfred, later Sir Alfred, Dent, saw th
possibilities of the Baron’s scheme, advanced him
in London £10 000 and sent him out to Borpeo.
At Singapore the Baron chartered a small steamer,
s. 8, America, took Joseph Torrey on bosrd, and
sailed for Labuan.

William Treacher was Lieutenant Governor in
Labuan and Baron Overbeck convinced him that
their object was sound and that they could acqu-
ire the whole of North Borneo and develop it
though a Chartered Company. William Treach-
er agreed, and on his strong recommendation
and experienced advice, Baron Overbeck decided
Dot to ask for renewal of an outworn concession
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to the American Trading Company, but tosask for
a new concession with a new outlook altogether.
The negotiations with Sultan Abdul Mumin
ere successful. Sultan Abdul Mumin ceded all
the northern part of North Borneo, some 28,000
square miles of territory, for a yearly payment
of 15,000 With William Treacher keeping a
watchful eye on him, Baron Overbeck steamed
away in s.s. America, to Sulu, and there the
Sultan of Sulu ceded to Baron Overbeck all Sulu
possessions in North Borneo for a yearly payment
of $5,000.

Baron Overbeck had succeeded. He had obta-
ined his object by sound diplomacy and strategy
His new powers enabled him to exercise sovereign
rights immediately and he appointed William
Pryer, one of his friends and a man with long
Chinese experience, to be Resident in Sandakan.
The Union Jack was hoisted alongside the house
flag of Dent Brothers and thus the first step to the
creation of the Chartered Company was taken.
. William Cowie was not in the race. Baron Over-
beck, thanks to the powerful backing of Dent
Brothers, had completely out-mancevred William
Cowie.

In Labuan Baron Overbeck’s success was not
welcomed. The Lieutenant Governor supported
him, but the trading companies opposed him.

Lieutenant Governor Treacher went to London
for furlough and to report on these developments,
at a time when Captain Ross had left his trade
hetween Labuan and Singapore in the charge of
" his son Johnie. Johnie had grown up and thoug-
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ht he was a man of importance. He aired
views on Labiian in a letter to the Colonial Off
in London. .

Johnie wrote from Labuan to the Secretary
State to the effect that the youthful and inexpe
ienced Lieutenant Governor was no match
the Austrian Baron and suggested that a mo
experienced hand than that of William Treach
was wanted to control the destinies of Labu
and Borneo.

After William Treacher returned to Govern
ment House at Labuan, Captain Ross called
was his custom whenever he visited the island
and was given a very cool and official receptio
1o course of conversation the Lieutenant Gove

Lieutenant Governor was too young and inex:
perienced and should be replaced by a more
capable man, it was time that friendly relations
ceased.

Captain Ross denied all knowledge of the letter,
and the Governor then produced a reprint of the
letter in a Government Blue book.

It was signed John Dillon Ross, and described
the writer as “a shipowner trading on the Borneo
coast for the last thirty years”.

“I don’t suppose”, said the Lieutenant Gover-
nor cooly to Captain Ross “there are two John
Dillon Rosses, who have been trading on the
Borneo coast for the last thirty years, are there?”
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~ _ “IPs that blessed son of mine”, exclaimed
Captain Ross with sudden enlightenment. :

The Lieutenant Governor having learned that
young Johnie, barely tweniy years, wished to
overturn Governors on the score of their youth,
thought that he ought to overturn the budding
siatesman himself and administer a stout rattan
cane in the proper place.

Friendship having been restored, William
Treacher invited the elder Ross to dinner and
after dinner they sat and talked on the verandah
. of Government House. William Treacher expl-
 ained how the Austrian Government had refused
to support Baron Overbeck’s claims and how a
British Chartered Compsny was in course of
formation. - He himself had been offered the
Governotship of the new territory and he had
decided to accept it. But old Captain Ross who
had done so much to foster the trade on the
Borneo coast was never admitted into the circle
of promoters of the Chartered Company because
of that letter written by his son to the Secretaty
of State.

When Johnie, then in Singapore, was told by
his father about the result of the letter, the son
replied:

“If either you or the Lieutenant Governor
thinks that I deserve a good licking, I'll have a
single stick bout with Johr Grinstor, which will
come to the same thing”.

Shortly afterwards, the British North Borneo
Chartered Compuny was formed with a capital of
a million sterling and s. s. Alaslor sailed out
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from Singapore with one of the new directors.

William Treacher was appointed the first
Governor of North Borneo and established his
new capital at Kudat. s s. Alastor followed his
lead and extended her voyages to Kudat, forging
a link between Labuan and her neighbour.

CHAPTER 8
CHARTERED COMPANY

Sultan Abdul Mumin died in 1885, of cancer
it is said at the great age of 100 years.

The new Sultan Hashim Jalil-ul-Alam immed-
iately fell into the clutches of cession hunters.
He had no money of his own and inherited none.
To keep up his dignity he raised money where he
could. Adventurers were not slow to take ad-
vantage of the Sultan’s misfortunes  He fell into
their debt and pledged his revenues to them.

Nevertheless he showed himself to be a man of
exceptional character and if he had not proved
himself to be such a8 man he would have been
disposed of early in his reign. He also carved up
his Sultanate. Many years before his accession
the Sultanate had been about the size of Great
Britain but during his reign it dwindled to the
size of the iwo counties of Devon and Cornwall.

William Cowie profited by various deals and
one of his concessions was a post office between
Labuan and Brunei. His partner in this was a
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other Scot, James Robertson, then Colliery Man-
agef in Labuan. They were to issue their own
postage stamps and run a mail service. They
printed a stock of stamps worth a face value of
$10,000 in London and engaged Lawson of Sing-
apore to manage the office. Lawson on his arrival
found there was something wrong and that no one
would buy the postage stamps, so the venture
failed. Hard times overshadowed Labuan for
nearly a generation. The decades from 1880 to
1910 depressed the hopes of even the most optim-
istic people. The chief cause was plain to see.

The destruction of the last stronghold of piracy
on the Borneo coast at Tungku in 1879 removed
the chief source of danger. The garrison could
be reduced to a mere skeleton of its former self.
No longer was there any fear that Labuan could
be raided and captured as Balembangan had been
a century before, The Chartered Company was
a powerful neighbour on Labuan’s eastern flank
and the Company tackled the few remaining pir-
ates with as much energy as it could.

The fortunes of Labuan were at a low ebb and
the British Government did not even appoint a
Governor. Charles Cameron Lee, the last ap-
pointed Governor, left in 1881. After his depart-
ure officials were appointed from the local staff
to serve as Lieutenant Governor, with depart-
mental duties in addition to this post. Each served
also as Treasurer, Postmaster and Magistrate.

Except for its well-kept Government House and
barracks, the town of Victoria must have seemed
to a visitor to be a mean and ramshackle sort of
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place.- The wooden wharves and untidy godowns
looked as if they were falling to pieces. The long
rows of whitewashed shophouses in the untidy
road faced the harbour. But trade was good at
times. Piles of cargo were handled. Natives
unloaded prahus and carried loads of rattan, tre. |
pang, birdsnests, beeswex and rubber to the
shophouses across the road to be traded to the
Chinese for cloth, brass-wire, beads, tobacco, pow-
der, bullets, and anything else that suited their
fancy.

" The scene in Labuan about 1887 has been des-
cribed by Lady Brassey in her memoirs “The
Last Voyage”. Lord and Lady Brassey were well
known people. Load Brassey had been Civil
Lord of the Admiralty. On his retirement, he and
Lady Brassey toured many parts of the world and |
in the course of a voyage of 36,000 miles on their
well-known steam yacht Sunbeam, 576 tons, they
called at Labuan. No two people knew British
possessions overseas better than Lord and Lady
Brassey, for Sunbeam had fourteen years of cruis-
ing to her credit,

It was April 6th 1887. Lieutenant Commander
Hamilton, R. N. (retired) Harbour- master, Post-
master, Vice-Admiral of the Port, Treasurer and
holder of half a dozen other offices, called on
board. Lady Brassey thought Labuan quite the
funniest and most out-of-the world sort of place.
There had been no Governor of Labuan since
Charles Lee left, but it boasted capital public
‘offices, a first rate Government House, Church,
parsonage and other amenities. Unfortunately

B
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there was nobody to be governed and nothing for
the officials to do.

Dr and Mrs Leys brought Lord and Lady
Brassey ashore in the afternoon across a rickety
wooden pier and led them to the padang where
the public offices stood. Some of the party walked
and some rode in little carriages called gharries,
drawn by ponies. The shops were kept by Chinese.
Dayak birds’ nests collectors were selling nests.
Rhino horns and pear! shells with tiny pearls
adhering to them were onsale. A drive through
the island seems to have been a happy memory.
It was like driving through one vast park along
soft springy turf roads in fragrant jungle wrote
Lady Brassey. Fruit abounded, oranges. pomaloes,
mangoes, mangosteens and durians, but April is
not the season to enjoy them ripe.

. There stood a large gaol, but there were no
_ prisoners. So long indeed had it been empty that

the gates stood permanently open and rusted on
 their hinges. The chief gaoler remained but he

had long since turned his attention to other duties.
~ The revenue was at a low ebb. The question
arose whether the Treasury contained enough
money to meet some fifty or sixty dollars worth
of drafts given in exchange for expenses ashore.

The pensionlist was already large. There were
three clergymen on the pension list, though there
was no resident clergyman, There was a hospital,
_ but no resident doctor, and two doctors were on
 the pension list.

The party attended a Chinese open-air theatre,
a waxwork exhibition and a puppet show, and
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boarded their steam yacht in moon light,

Sunbeam sailed next morning to visit
of North Borneo. Unhappily Lady Brag
had often contracted malarial fever in her
suffered another attack of fever caught pre
when ashore in Labuan. Lord Brassey
that the strain of her visits ashore told i
upon her strength.  She became seriously
day after she left Borneo. Sunbeam reached
day Island, but Lady Brassey died on board
after and she was buried at sea.

There were occasions when Labuan brigh
up, particularly when differences of opinion
between. Labuan and her neighbour,
Borneo Lieutenant Commander A. S. Ha
R.N. (retired) faced the Chartered Com
officials with dignity. He had a
to solve. It concerned a small war whic
Chartered Company had decided to wage
Labuan without asking his leave to do so. Tho
the Chartered Company had governing righ
the main land, its Charter expressly forbade
negotiate directly with foreign states and H
particular directed that all differences with
Sultan of Brunei should be submitted to Lond
The Company had a difference of opinion
the Sultan of Brunei on the ground that

of the Company’s subjects at the hands of
certain Pengiran, who ruled a province form
an enclave in the Company’s territory, but
b ing to the Sul e. The

pany d
anded that the Pengiran’s misdeeds uho{ﬂd,
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punished or at least stopped. Negotiations be,,
rough London, but what with the slowness ot
the mail service, the dilatory methods of home
cials and the Sultan’s skill in delaying proceed-
gs by every method known to an eastern
tentate, the Company realized that they would
obtain no satisfaction that way and they decided
o take matters into their own hands  The offen-

is small province on the mainland opposite
Labuan and the Company determined to attack
and destroy it.  To this end they landed a force
on Labuan without notice to anybody. Captain
Beeston in command of the Chartered Company’s
force was an Indian Army officer of experience.
On the Court of Directors in London there sat an
Admiral and a General, both men of distinction
in their professions and William Cowie was at
hand.  The Court of Directors knew well what
they were about. Captain Beeston recruited men
from Singapore and elsewhere through the Com-
pany’s agents. Some hundreds of recruits, Sikhs,
Pathans, Malays and Somalis arrived at Labuan
wharf in one of Captain Ross’ ships just about the
. same time that Captain Beeston himself arrived
from the opposite direction with a group of the
_ Company’s civil setvants, constabulary officers,
and police. The thing was well timed and Lie-
utenant Commander Hamilton was teken by
surprise, and spoke his naval mind. “It was an
_ outrage. It was an invasion! If any British men-
})f war hove in sight he would shew them what
or
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In the meantime he made the best of it. Cap-
tain Beeston began to knock his recruits into some
sort of shape. His most trusted fighting men
were Dayaks from Sarawak, subjects of the Rajah
of Sarawak who never allowed his people to go
in for such fighting if he could prevent it. The
Dayaks seemed to have no great respect for the
Suitanate and they roamed over Labuan seeking
Brunei, people whom they might destroy. Lieuten-
ant Commander Hamilton and Captain Beeston
kept on friendly terms and one morning they rode
round Victoria to admire improvements. Lieuten-
ant Commander Hamilion as a former naval
officer took especial care of the grounds of
Government House and of the roads in the towz.
Everything was ship shape. He was proud of
his neat avenues and flower beds. The roads in
ihe town were smooth and freshly sanded. Their
inspection over Lieutenant Commander Hamilton
graciously accepteg Captain Beeston’s invitation
to go aboard the ship and partake of refreshment.

They found the Chartered Company’s officers
sprawling in long chairs and apparently in the
last stage of thirst. The spectacle disgusted
Commander Hamilton

“Come back with me to Government House”,
he said to Captain Beeston.

As they cantered their ponies up North Road
in the shade of the avenue Lieutenant Commander
Hamilton, always in the lead. smelled fire.

T believe Government House is on fire!”, he
called back over his shoulder. He twisted his
nose in the air. He switched his pony and took
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the rise at a gallop.  The stench and reek were
stronger.

On the lawns of Government House he found a
group of Dayaks smoking heads on a row of tripods.
Beneath each tripod a fire burned and fiom it
hung a head turning slowly in the smoke. The
Dayaks bent low to blow upon the embers. The
smell of burning flesh and smoke fouled the air.
Lieutenant Commander Hamilton laid his riding
switch across the Dayaks’ backs and they in turn
drew their parangs. Only the timely arrival of
Captain Beeston on his pony prevented serious
trouble. Lieutenant Commander Hamilton called
for his Sikh guard to remove all traces of the
disgusting scene.

The Dayaks complained that the' Lieutenant
Governor had stolen their heads and would not
be satisfied until Captain Beeston had given them
permission to lock for more! They returned later
with some more heads, and searched for a more
convenient place to cook them.

At last the Chartered Company's expedition
sailed out of Victoria and Lieutenant Commander
Hamilfon must have been thankful to see them go.
The small fleet sailed across the channel and up
the Klias River to attack Kota Klias, The Peng-
iran’s fortress was reduced and his province taken
into the Chartered Company’s territory as spoils

of war.

The little Colony had for many years been in
receipt of money from Great Britain to balance
its budget. The grant in aid had stopped in 1868
in the days when the “Pope” was governor. The
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island had difficulty in making ends meet, ap
appeals for help were made in vain. The reven;
depended on the coal mine and on trade with the
mainland. .

England at last grew tired of an island that
refused to grow up and handed it over to the
Chartered Company to administer.

On lst January 1890 the Governor of the
Chartered Company’s territory was sworn in as
the Governor of Labuan also.” Lieutenant Com-
mander Hamilton read the Letters Patent and the
Commission in the Court House, and for the next
twenty six years, though remaining a Crown
Colony, Labuan was administered from Sandak

It must have been a proud day in William
Cowie's life when he landed in Labuan as Chair-
man of the Chartered Company with Labuan
under his wing. From being merely a partner of
the Labuan Trading Co. he was now head of the .
Chartered Company which governed the island
and with the consent of his co-directors and the
Colonial Office he could make and unmake
governors.

He resided in Blackheath near London, and
attended handsome offices in the city in Thre-
adneedle Street. He presided at the annual Borneo
dinner in London and addressed a hundred guests
with the Secretary of State for the Colonies sitting
on his right hand. His handsome presence domin-
ated the banquet hall. A concert singer sang.
Arthur Benson’s song “Land of Hope and Glory”,
set to Elgar's majestic tune “Pomp and Circums-
_tance”, enthusiastic toasts were drunk and the
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banquet hall was redolent with the aroma of
Borneo cigars and coffee.

William Cowie’s voice was heard in imperial
circles, but he could never forget that he had been
" a ship’s engineer. On his visits of inspection to

Labuan he did not fully live up to the dignity of
his position, and he would dally in Labuan while
the Governor at Sandakan urgently called for his
attendance in some crisis or other with recalcitr-
ant chieftains. At the sight of a ship in need of
repair in Labuan the Chairman ripped off his coat
and got to work in hig shirt sleeves.

While affairs of state awaited him, he sweated
on the beach, clad in overalls, tinkering at a boiler
of one of the Company’s steam-launches.

But let it be said that his impressive figure, his

. tall stature, his long moustaches, his dark hand-
some face, his fluent Malay and practised Sulu
made up for many shortcomings: His friendship
with the native rulers and his success as a trader in
years gone by assured him of a welcome on every
coast.

His strength lay in his knowledge of Borneo
and in his close friendship with the Sultans and
their chieftains.

William Cowie found good jobs for two of his
old Labuan friends. A ]. West, an engineer at
the Coal Mine, became General Manager of the
North Borneo Railway, Weston being named after
him, and James Robertson, the Colliery Manager,
was appointed Manager of the British Borneo
Exploration Company to develop manganese in
Marudu Bay. .
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Walter Clutterbuck-in his memoirs wrote th
Government buildings in Labuan seemed 1o
falling out of repair. He noted grassgrown roa,
ways and brickbuilt posts without any gates
them, but he appreciated the green turf, t
cultivated orchards and the shade trees.
island seemed to have been the paradise whick
the British Officials had intended to make it, but
Government House, surrounded by its park and
shady trees, it’s tennis lawns and glades, now
stood empty.

TFhough built of hard wood, white ants had
attacked one wing which would have to be rebuilt
It was well appointed in every respect and this
picturesque maunsion, embosomed in trees and
surrounded by lawns and gardens was the most
beautiful thing in Labuan.

[}

island. Malays occupied Rancha-rancha and they
crossed the harbour in tiny dug-outs as they
still do. The scene at Victoria was one of great
activity. .
Chinese merchants were doing a roaring trade
and making a huge profit out of it. Sago flour
seemed to be everywhere. There were boatloads -
of it alongside the ships in the harbour and there

yard some distance from the wharves, a herd of
scattle -awaited shipment to Singapore. There
was money, wrote Walter Clutterbrick, in Labuan
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n those days. s.s. Alastor, Brunei, Ceylon, Fairy
Queen, and Flower of Yarrow, were at anchor.

To those familiar with the administration of the
Chartered "Company the scene would appear
typical. White ants in Government House, but
brisk trade in port. The Court of Directors did
not believe in expensive buildings.

- Labuan no longer had a garrison and a bare
dozen of Indian Police kept guard. There was no
danyer in Labuan from pirates. Governor Trea-
cher at Sandakan had adopted a successful policy.
Though the last pirate stronghold at Tungku had
been rooted out, the east coast was far from secure.
Pirates still haunted islands of the southern Phil-
ippines, and as a group they afforded shelter to
fleets of boats. America’s strong hand held the
Moros firmly after a period of resistance, and
when the imposition of taxes, and the compulsion
on boys to go to school, caused many Suluks to
settle on the coast of North Borneo, they were
received with welcome. They were exempted
from payment of poll-tax, their children were not
compelled to attend school, and they all led a
carefree existence. Order was kept by the
gunboat Petrel of the sort that William Cowie
approved. She was built to his design in Hong
Kong, had enough speed to overtake any sailing
craft, sported one cannon on her deck, and carried
a copper ram below her water line to ram hostile
boats without damage to -herself.
. Governor Treacher in early days selected the
channel between Bum Bum Island and the main-
land as a home for these sea-going gypsies. He
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called it Semporna, a Malay word meaning
“perfection”. Blockhouses were built of ironwood
and small garrisons of police were posted at
Tambisan, Tunku and Semporna.” With s. y.
Petrel at sea there was no further trouble except
an occasional raid.

Thus Port Victoria had become a back water.
No longer did Labuan pay honours to H.M. ships.
The Admiral Commanding the China Fleet
landed year by year at Sandakan, where his
twenty-one guns boomed in salute of the Sabah
Jack, and where the Chartered Company’s guns
boomed in reply.

Labuan felt isolated. They recalled their cere-
monial past. In the early days of the island, much
had been done for them, but now they had to do
more for themselves.

I 1896 the discontented people of Labuan sent
a petition to London. After six years of Chartered
Company rale they clamoured for a change and
they prayed for an enquiry into the administration.

The Chartered Company had sent one of their
best men to administer the island from early in
1895. This man was Captain Raffles Flint, a
descendant of the famous Sir Stamford Raffles,
but even this popular official failed as a peacema-
ker As a result of these complaints Sir Charles
Mitchell, the Governor of Singapore and High
Commissionet for Borneo, arrived in Labuan with
his Secretary Claude Severn in H.M. S. Porpoise
Finding only a District Officer in Charge they
hurried on to Sandakan and returned with
Leicester P. Beaufort, the Governor. Pending the
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Qandak

arrival of the distinguished party from
the District Officer in Labuan whitewashed his
Court House in token of the purity of the justice
which he administered and all the people stood
on their toes in expectation. But the whitewash
looked a shade too obvious and Sir Charles decid-"
ed to hold his enquiry at Government House
instead. Governor Beaufort was at hand ready
to answer questions about the revenue, the expen-
diture and trade of the Colony. Complainants
were invited to attend. One petitioner, who
awaited the hearing of his own complaints, des-
cribed the procedure as bluff.

“Blarney! blarney!” he bawled till called to
order. The hearing was adjourned.

Next morning the hearing continued and the
outraged petitioner had to listen to questions
about blue hooks and the Chartered Company's
omission to print the Royal Arms on the Labuan
Official Gazette.  Other questions were asked
about the use of North Borneo currency notes in
the island. The outraged petioner could not
contain himself and broke in again.

“All that is a lot of frivolous humbugging
nonsense,” he cried. “Some petitioners have
stuffed their petitions with it. Nobody else cares
three straws and these things do no harm to
anybody.” -

it was some time before the petitioner could
get himself heard on his own points. His comp-
Taints were that roads were neglected and almost
impassable; that magistrates were incompetent
though not dishonest and that many cases were
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worthy of the High Commissioner’s attention. - °

The High Commissioner heard and dismissed
two cases after two days of enquiry. =~ Regarding
the other cases which the petitioner wished to
bring to his notice, the High Commissioner 1old
Claude Severn to write saying that the High
Commissioner thanked the petitioner for offering
to prepare more additional charges, but he was
not prepared to open any more affairs,

So the enquiry ended. :

Though the islanders were dissatisfied there
was never any question about their loyalty to the
Crown.

The Jubilee was celebrated on the fiftieth ann-
iversary of the cession. On 24th December 1896 °
‘p telegram was sent by, the cable laid two years
earlier to the Secretary of State expressing loyalty
to the Queen. H. M. S. Pigue lay in harbour for
the celebration and Leicester Beaufort gave a hall
at Government House which was attended by a
large and brilliant assembly, dancing being Kept
up with great animation until the early hours of
Christmas morning.

The submarine cable put Labuan on the map
again. The Eastern Extension Company, (now
merged into Cable & Wireless Ltd } laid the sub-
marine cable between Singapore and Hongkong
via Labuan, and the Eastern Extension soon
became the most important business in the island
eclipsing the coal company. The European staff

“ with their families numbered about twenty per-
sons in all. The Eastern Extension did things
«well. .The Manager’s house and the mess were
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on high ground near the present air field, and

their tennis lawns and shady gardens vied with

those of Government House, whose gates were

. lower down. Rival heights of flagstaffs were the
talk of the day and each tried to out-top the other,
Social contests of the time are amusingly described
in a book “Mr. Podd of Borneo,” which won the
Daily Mail prize of the year. Peter Blundell, the
author was an assistant in the Island Trading
Company which shipped cutch from Brunei, and
as his business often required his presence in
Labuan, he had opportunity to watch the scene
in Labuan with amusement. Other books followed,
and for a time Labuan basked in a radiance it
never knew before, and its social life earned a
world reputation for fun. But the fun often turn-
ed to feud. One of the officials bred Siamese cats
He was very fond of them. A visitor staying in
his bungalow noticed at lunch.time that two
cooked fowls were brought on the table, one for
the host and his guest, and the other to be carved
and partitioned to the cats.

The cats, as cats will, spent their nights in
romantic adventure. Their trysting ground was
the garden of another official who vented his

wrath on the cats.- He strongly objected to cats
howling and youling in his garden by night. He
loaded his gun and shot three of them.

“How was I to know,” he exclaimed, “that they
were the other man’s cats? Don’t Siamese cats
how! the same as other cats?”

The feud between these two officials lasted for
years, It affected the social life of the island. If

SRR,
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some body. went to play croquet, a fashionable
game of the day, at the house of one, he was un-
welcome at the house of the other. The only
friend of both was the Doctor. When para
rubber came to the East, Labuan received a very
few seeds as a great prize in 1897. One seed was
planted in old Government House grounds and
another seed was planted near Callaghan Road.
Both did well and Labuan developed a small
rubber industry. Wherever William Cowie went,
he urged people to plant rubber. Everybody
including Governors and prisoners must plant
rubber. The prisoners soon got exemption from
this job. Popular clameur stopped it. William
Cowie had not foreseen that if the Chartered
Company used prisoners from rubber estates to
plant rubber trees on Crown land, the Govern-
ment would be competing unfairly with the
planters. The Governor walked about Labuan
with his pocket full of rubber seeds and poked
them into hedges along roadsides, as Admiral
Colliugwood did with acorns in England.

To those days belong some of the stories of
prison life. Prisoners were drafted from other
places to help in public works and they looked
upon a sentence of imprisonment in Labuan as a
period of enforced work for the Government.
Masok Sign, meaning to enter into a contract,
became the common phrase te enlist in the police
force or to serve a sentence of imprisonment.

A prisoner was posted for duty as a gardener
in an official’s bungalow. Returning to gaol late
one evening, he found the gaol door locked
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against him, He hammered on the door, and the
warder opened the door to admit him.

“What have I done wrong that I should be
locked out like this?” asked the prisoner.

A prisoner was condemned to. wear irons. He
complained that his leg-irons kept falling off.

““See one of the rivets has fallen out and I have
had to tie it with string.. Give me another set of
chains. I am afraid I may lose the Company’s
property.” .

Labudn came into prominence on the out-
break of war between Russia and Japan about
1900 because Victeria was a convenient port at
which British shipmasters intending to break the
blockade could fill their burkers with coal. In
Labuan the sealed orders carried by the master
of the ship were opened and the crews learned
the desperate nature of the voyage onward.
Japan had a strangle hold on Russia, and their
blockade of Vladivostock was efficient. To run

. the blockade through the Japanese cordon of
warships was a dangerous business. The sea-
men refused to take the risk.

The Resident in charge of Labuan at the time
was Walter Hastings and no better official for
the job at the time could have been appointed.
He was a son of Admiral Hastings, of Crimean
war days. He learned, he said, all the ropes
as a boy when laid across his father’s knee.
He knew all the etiquette too He could discip-
line seamen and they would obey him
magistrate ashore, he became port Vice-Admiral
afloat, asserting that by an-old regulation he was
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entitled to this' dignity. Other officials’ eyes
glowed with envy when they watched the array
of flags and pennants flown by Walter Hastings
on duty. He was a “Pasha”, and insisted that .
he be treated with the hignity due to a holder
of that title. His fater, Admiral ‘Hastings, had
been created Pasha for services rendered to the
Turks at the time of the Crimean War, and as
the title was hereditary Walter Hastings claimed
it as his own. In Labuan the title did not seem
out of place. Walter Hastings ordered oars to
be tossed in naval style when occasion demanded,
and flew the Union rather than the Sabah jack.

Walter Hastings knew his job. He could
hearten irresolute seamen and ship after ship
cleared from Victoria with bunkers full of Labuan
coal, The crews cheered as they raised anchor
and put to sea 10 run British cargoes through
blockading squadrons. High authority affected
to disdain that sort of thing, but blockade run-
ning was good for coal, good for the cable
station, and again pointed to Labuan’s destiny as
a strategic base in time of war

With the turn of the century bicycles appeared
in Labuan. Though few in unmber, regulations
must be obeyed.

The Resident, about to leave the island for a
week, called his J. Ps to Judges’ Chambers and
admonished them to hold petty sessions regularly.

The two magistrates were Dr. Cleverton and
Datoh Roberts, both well known men and bosom
friends. They went to see the Resident off and
_ did not leave the ship.till a late hour. When they
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mounted their bicycles a police constable stopped
them. “Your names, please”, he said officiously.
“You have no lights,” They gave their names.

Next day they presided on the bench . and
disposed of two or three c¢ases and then to their
horror: the Sergeant called out, “Next case,
Cleverton, Cle-ver-ton, Cleverton!” Dr. Clever-
ton realised he was now for trial, so he left the
bench. and entered the dock. “Here, Your
Honour!”

The Sergeant charged him with riding a
bicycle without lights He pleaded guilty and
and his brother J. P. fined him five dollars. He
bowed to the Bench and resumed his seat on it.

It was then the turn of Datoh Roberts. His
name was called. He entered the dock, pleaded

- guilty and expected the fine would be the same.
Not so, for Dr. Cleverton had more t0 say.

“Cases of this kind are becoming too common.
This is the second case before the court this
morning. The fine will be ten dollars.” That
was the last cstse and the two old fellows left
the court jokingly arm in arm.

Then the day of motor vehicles dawned.
Labuan was a jay-walker’s paradise. N

There were only two motor cars on the island
and though there were several miles of roads,
these two came into collision, head on, in broad
daylight. The two magisirates who tried the
case. knew little abodt motors, these being the
only two they had ever scen. However their
judgment was very sensible. Each owner would
pay the damage done to the other’s vehicle.
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A growing sense of the importance of Labs
as a strategic centre led the British Governmen
take the island back from the administration
the Chartered Company. As a coaling statioj
and cable station it was coming into prominenci
Moreover the failing strength of Sultan Haghi
Jalil-ul-Alam (1885-1906) had been watched f
many years and changes in Brunei were imminent,
The time for the Colony to revert from the
Chartered Company to the Colonial Office was
now at hand. This was due not “in answer to
the frequently and strongly expressed desire of the
colonists,” as Sir Hugh Clifford mistakenly pu
It was due rather to the demands of imperial
policy and the unsatisfactory conditions in Brunei.
The Sultanate was degenerating fast. Its
population dwindled and many were leaving the
Sultanate to settle in Sarawak or North Borneo,:
where work was easily had. Successive High
Commissioners had given warning to the Colonial
Office that the very existence of the Sultanate
was drawing to a close. In 1904 a Commission
had reported upon the conditions then prevailing
in Brunei, and as a result of this and other
reports the transfer of Labuan back to the
Colonial Office was determined on. By Order-in-
Council the island became part of the Straits
Settlements on Ist January 1906. It was to servi
as a stepping-stone to Brunei.

he transfer was well timed, and events soon
showed the wisdom of the official view. The first
Resident under the Straits Settlements admis
istration was M. 8. H. MeArthur,
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“In that same year 1906, Sultan Hashim' died,
and Resident McArthur, proclaimed the succession
of the new Sultan, Mahomed Jemalul Alam IL.
The Resident concluded a treaty with the new
Sultan who consented to accept the advice of a
British Resident, agreed that a Resident should
be posted to the Sultanate and that a system of
Government similar to that of the Malay States
should be adopted. Meanwhile Resident MoArthur
continued to watch the situation from Labuan.
Soon afterward a Residency was built in Brunei
and Brunei was administered spart from Labuan
with direct reference to the High Commissioner
at Singapore. The island entered on a quiet and
‘uneventful period. It still enjoyed the privileges
of a free port, and there were no duties other
than a light excise duty on petrol, spirits and
tobacco. This period under the generous govern. .
ment of Singapore proved to be the island’s
nearest approach to paradise. Never was the
Colonial Office ‘or the Chartered Company so
generous as Singapore.

On 1st December 1912 the status of Labuan
was confirmed as one of the Straits Settlements
and the island ranked with Penang, Malacca and
other Straits Settlements, )

These changes raised expectations of trade
that were not realised in spite of development of
oil fields on the mainland. The island boasted,
however, that it imported more cigarettes for
consumption per head of the population than any
other place in the world. No importer in Labuan
ever hung his head at the imputation that he




254 LABUAN ‘STORY

imported cigarettes and matches not so much for
his own customers on the island as for smuggling
to the mainland. The expenditure vote when the

" Japanese burst in was $200,000 a year, mostly
supplied by the sister settlement of Singapore.
The population was over 4000 in number.

CHAPTER 9
WAR

The Resident in charge of Labuan when the
Japanese declared war in December 1941 was
A H.P. Humphrey. He had a few departmental
officers to assist him. From early in December
1941 the people in Labuan watched the campaign
in Malaya with anxiety and realised that though
the troops fought gallantly, they had little or no
support against Japanese bombers. The loss of
the big ships Prince of Wales and Repulse increas-
ed despondency. Without naval or air defence
from the west, the position was hopeless.

The troops detailed to carry out demolitions at
. the oil fields in Miri completed their task and
left for Kuching, and on 16th December Japanese
forces landed at Seria and went by rosd to Kuala
Belait. On Christmas Day 1941 the troops left
Kuching and withdrew southwards, and all

. British territory in Borneo lay open to the enemy.

... The Japanese arrived in Labuan on the first
8y of the new year. . There was no resistance.
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‘ The Resident received the enemy at the Cable

Offices on the plateau and was himself interned.

On 3rd January 1942 the Japanese took formal
possession of Labuan Most of the treasury
notes had been sent away for destruction and
insufficient time remained to destroy the rest. It
had been intended to burn them near the
disused coal mines in the north of the island, but
time was short and the packets of notes were sent
by boat to the mainland and were destroyed in
Beaufort a day or two later, just in time before
the Japanese reached Beaufort also.

The Japanese renamed the island and called it
Pulau Maida, after the name of the Commander-
in-chief of their armies in Borneo. General Prince
Maida was killed soon in an air crash on the coast
of Borneo and the Japanese searched the area for
several days to recover the body without success,

The Japanese restored Labuan to the Sultanate
of Brunei during their occupation, and the Sultan
thus recovered for three and a half years rule
over the island which his ancestors had ceded
nearly a hundred years ago.

The Japanese overthrew the granite slab, which
commemorated the cession, and its companion
slab, which commemorated the visit of the Prince
of Wales, and in their place set up an obelisk of
soft ‘stone telling of their own exploits. This
obelisk stood until in its turn it was overthrown
and the other two set up again.

The Japanese set about the development of
Brunei Bay at the expense of ‘Labuan’s central
position and built no less than five piers at

3
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Tanjong Sapu on Muara Island running out int
deep water. The piers were built of soft woo
and had a short life, but they showed the vulner
able position of Labuan as an entrepot.

News of the war trickled slowly through to
the people of Labuan. They heard of the fall of
Singapore on 15th February 1942 from the
Japanese commander. The Philippines together
with the American bases at Guam and Wake
Islands fell soon after. In February the Japanese
defeated an allied fleet in the battle of the Java
Sea under the Dutch Admiral Dorman, and
invaded Jaya and New Guinea. The enemy spread
the news of their successes, but the tide of enemy
success in eastern waters had reached its height
and began to turn. In March 1942 Genera!
McArthur lefr the Philippines and set up his
headquarters in Australia. He took charge of all
allied forces in the south-west Pacific and people
in Labuan heard of the first success in the batiled
of Coral Sea.

In New Guinea the Japanese failed to make
progress.

At Guadalcanal in the Solomon Islands, the
Americans seized the Japanese airfield and base.

At the battle of Bismarck Sea in March 1943
the American air force sank a whole Japanese
convoy and not an enemy ship survived. News
of these battles drifted along the coasts thanks to
the common Malayan dialect which is used by
all seagoing people in these seas. Labuan people
irepeated the stories which they heard of how
lapanese sailors and soldiers, smothered in oil,
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perished by thousands along the coast of New
Guinea and their stories are substantially correct.

The island people understood that seapower
was returning and they took heart.

Slowly the American and Australian troops
cleared the enemy out of New Guinea, fighting
through some of the worst jungle-clad and
mountainous country in the world.

News of the continued success inflamed the
fighting spirit in Jesselton, and on 10th October
1943, Double Tenth as it is called, a national day
of the Chinese, the Kinabalu Guerrillas attacked
and killed some fifty Japanese. In the reprisals
whicH followed about two thousand people in the
neighbourhood of Jesselton lost their lives. Of
the captives large numbers were sent to Labuan

* and there paraded in chains before the eyes of
their compatriots. The traders faced, day after
day, the dreary and dreadful prospect of watching
their manacled friends drag their limbs through
the streets till death released them.

The spectacle added to the horror caused by
the chief gaoler in Labuan. The prison tortures
were execrable. The gaoler, a Malay, treated all
races alike. His cruelty earned him the nickname
of KingKong during the enemy occupation and
a sentence of ten years imprisonment in a British
gaol after it.

General MacArther’s strategy was brilliant.
It gave the allies a chain of island bases enabl-
ing them to carry out a successful invasion of the
Philippines and of the southern islands of Japan
without wasting power away from the main route.
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One of these island bases was Morotai. It lay.
midway between the western tip of New Guine:
and the Philippines. It is one of the Halmahirs,
Group, and provided an excellent anchorage
From Morotai an attack was mounted north
wards through the Philippines and when success
was assured, a second attack was mounted west-
watrds to recover Labuan from the enemy.

Strategy pointed to early recapture of Labuan
because of the importance of recovering supplies
of oil, rubber and timber from Borneo and because-
of the necessity of capturing a base from which
to help to retake Singapore.

The Pacific war moved swiftly to its climax.
On 1st May 1945 a brigade of the 9th Australian
Division, supported by American and Australian
airforces landed at Tarakan on the east coast of
Borneo. The capture of Okinawa Island, a
southern Japanese Island, the largest and most
prolonged operation of the Pacific war, was
almost complete by the beginning of June, while
further south the liberation of the East Indies
was proceeding.

The time to strike at Labvan had arrived The
mastery of the air and sea, and superiority of
equipment were ours. Cruisers, destroyers, rocket
and mortar ships with powerful air cover slung
down on Labuan an aggregate of high explosive
three times greater than at Tarakan. General
MacArthur was present on the beach and deserib-

“ed the whole operation of recapturing Labuan
and the shore of Brunei Bay as flawless, both in
timing and execution.
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Regarding the taking of Labuan he declared,
“Rarely is such a great strategic prize obtained
at such low cost”. Major General G.F. Wootten
commanded the Ninth Australian Division which
mounted the attack.

The operation was known as Oboe Six. The
convoy of a hundred ships with twenty five
thousand men aboard assembled in Morotai Island
early in June. The distance from Morotai in the
Halmahera group to Labuan is 920 miles, and a
large sheet of water between two islands afforded
a good anchorage for the fleet of supply ships,
the transports and their escort. The ships were
of all kinds. There were the Liberty ships built
by the Americans for carrying cargoes and there
were Landing ships capable of forcing themselves
up the beaches ard landing men and vehicles
from ramps let down from the bows.

Some of the ships left Morotai on Sunday, 3rd
June, going slowly ahead, followed by the main
fleet which left at noon on Monday. The
combined convoy sailed northwards towards
Zamboanga, thence through the channel between
Palawan and Balabac Islands and headed for the
south China Sea. -

To watch such a convoy from the air is an
inspiring sight. The ships seem to move so slowly.
The formation is so accurate. The white wakes
of the ships stretch so {ar on divergent lines over
the calm, blue and motionless sea. During the
following Saturday night, the convoy lay out in
the China Sea west of Labuan and early on
Sunday morning stood in towards Labuan,
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approaching the south east point of the islg
It brought with it the support of the America
and British navies and air forces. There we:
less than twenty British officers in an arm

twenty British Officers was an expert in his own.
way and there were some who knew every part of
the coast and most of the interior.

The Ninth Australian division had fought in
the Middle East and in New Guinea No. allied
troops knew their enemy better than these Aus-
tralians who had met them in the jungle This
division had memories of the loss of the eighth
division at Singapore three years before and were
determined to avenge them. The troops had
been encamped in Morotai for two or more
months outside the defence perimeter of that island
and in touch with the Japanese who still occupied
the hills. The Ninth was fighting fit and one of
the most famous of the fighting divisions in the
Imperial armies. It had won fame at Tobruk.

The tenth of June 1945 will live in the memory
of the people of Labuan. It was at half past nine
o’clock on a Sunday morning that troops of the
Ninth Australian division landed on the beach of
Labuan and began the deliverance. of the people
from their Japanese masters.

hat Sunday was calm. The seas all round
the coasts of Borneo are usually calm in June, but
the officers were anxious lest a low swell might
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come in with the rising tide from the west and
impede the troops as they moved ashore to the
attack.  So the landing was confined to the
beaches inside Victoria Harbour and a landing
which had been contemplated on the outer beach
beyond Ramsey Point was not attempted.

The scene was peaceful and there was no surf
when with startling suddenness the naval bombard-
ment opened. “For goodness sake leave some
part of the island standing”, said one officer to &
naval gunnery officer, “‘I have got to land there!”

The high tide, one of the highest of the
year, occurred shortly after mine o’clock and the
landing-ships beached themselves close in. The
troops who led the assault stormed ashore. The
intense bombardment hatl brought almost every-
thing in the town level with the ground. Only
the Rest House, half the Clock Tower, and a few
walls were left standing. Trees were shattered
and blackened with the blast. Every roof was
knocked off, and a few days later one could stand
watching a bulldozer pass over the town scraping
up the brick dust for use on the air strip.

The Japanese withdrew as the troops raced
shore-wards. They put up their main defence
along the far side of the canal about half a mile
from the beach. Burned out of this, they retr-
eated further north and formed pockets of defence
in the scrub on the west side of old Government
House. There at Kampong Java a few hundred
dug themselves in. The site consists of a low
ridge about fifty feet high, protected by old
Government House on one side and provided
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with_ a clear view and field of fire towards the .

air strip. The other sides had thick cover under
fruit trees and a dozen houses in the kampong
gave accomodation. Water of a sort was avail-
able in the valley. In this orchard of coconut
palms and jack-fruit, of guava, mangoes and
mangosteen, they dug their rifle pits and machine-
gun posts and lay invisible from air overhead.
Almost the whole garrison of Kampong Java
perished. Over two hundred bodies were counted
and buried. They were mostly burned to death
by napam bombs. These were dropped from the
air through the thick cover of the trees and they
burst and scattered flame on contact with the
ground. They were made of naphtha, phosphor-
ous; petrol and rubben with other inflammable
stuff which ran, leaked and spread everywhere,
trickling into pits and shell holes and burning
everything it touched.

Meanwhile what remained of the civilian.
population was collecting in a compound near
the old golf course near the beach. It was a flat
area surrounded by a light wire fence. A hospi-
tal and store took shape almost immediately from
the debris of attaps, corrugated iron and timber
scattered about everywhere. Arrows painted on
trees and set up on posts guided the population
to the spot.

The landing ships disgorged supplies upon the
;beach and stocks of enemy padi and rice appeared
mysteriously from all sides. People who were
ost naked clothed themselves from piles of
uniforms and wore Australian jungle green
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with the greatest satisfaction. An old Australiar
sunhat was venerated like a halo.

The behaviour of the population was not all it
should have been on that Sunday morning and
following days. Army headquarters on Morotai
in those first days received a telegram asking
how best the divisional troops could deal with a
truculent civilian mob, who professed they were
British subjects. The Civil Affairs Officers could
not be everywhere at once and some of the
combatant Australian troops had come into
conflict with the Labuan Chinese. When a
similar state of affairs had arisen a few days
before at Tarakan, in Dutch territory, the Aus-
tralian combatant troops were armed with sticks
in sufficient numbers to quell the riot, but those
were Dutch Subjects.

“Batons and clubs!”? shouted an angry staff
officer fisting the table with one hand and arraig-
ning me with the other. “No,” I replied, “the
Chinese are second to none in looting and they
are only trying to get back their own. Remember
too these are British subjects!?” The gallant staff
officer was relieved to learn that there were peaple
who were bigger looters than the Ninth Division
and could share the blame. We changed the
conversation. .

On that Sunday morning in Labuan there was
1o service in the English Church. The Church of
England had two sites, one beyond old Govern-
ment House hill about a mile away from the

beach, and the other near the town. The Church
on the hill had been demelished some years before
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and its concrete cruciform floor made an excel
ent bakery for the troops. The other was in t
line of battle. The Priest, a Chinese, lived nea
by and he had removed the valuable Churc
plate for safely to his house. The bombardment.
forced him and his family to seek shelter els

where, and when he returned after ihe battle, he
found his house destroyed and everything looted.
Church plate which had survived three years of
enemy occupation disappeared that first Sunday
morning, .

At the other end of the town was a Chinese
temple. A Chinese priest was in charge and he
would have fled during the bombardment, but
that he was too ill to move. The tiled roof fell
in, and when the troops found him they took him
to their hearts. They camped in the tepikong
amongst the ruins beneath the ugly faces of the
heathen gods and nursed the priest back to
health, stuffing him daily with sausages and milk
They called him Charley.

Everyone on the island must have known that
the assault was imminent Leaflets had been
dropped warning the inhabitants in the central and
northern part of the island to keep clear of the
" Japanese and to stay where they were, but calling
former civil servants to join the army. These
orders had been drafted with full conciousness of
the dangers which would be involved in carrying
them out. The mens’ lives might be forfeited at
ce and they would have to make their way
rough both the Japanese and the Australian
; Thge clerks, dressers, demarcators, inter-
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preters and police were urgently needed and they
responded ‘to the call. It was inevitable that
many civilians would lose their lives in such a
rain of bombs, bullets and shells, and about fifty
civilians unhappily lost their lives in the bombard-
ment. A typical case was that of a son of a
former civil servant. He sat at a distance from
his house watching the scene, when a shell hit
his house killing all his relatives in it. He joined
a volunteer labour force in the town and made
no complaint. N

The troops extended the narrow perimeter as
fast as they could in the face of the fire put up
by about five hundred Japanese defenders, but it
was not fast enough fo satisfy the demands for
space behind them. Hundreds of vehicles were
coming ashore and the airforce landed a thou-
sand tons of machinery to repair the airficld.
The crews were expert in the task of unloading
ships with speed, for they had done this kind of
work elsewhere on other beaches. The conges-
tion grew and the light coral roads sufficient for
the island’s normal needs were crushed into mud
under the strain put upon them.

Conditions permitted this crowding, because all
enemy air strength had been systematically
reduced before the assault. Air suprematy over
the harbour and the beach was absolute, otherwise
such a fleet of hips and such a mass of material
could not have been collected in face of the
enemy. For weeks before, every Japanese base
within range of Labuan was blanketed " with
bombs. The airplanes on them were destroyed.
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The airstrips Wwere pounded day and night
force the enemy to give up hope of even keepin
them in repair. No Japanese airplane con
leave the ground within range of Labuan. .

The Labuan airfield was pitted with shell hole
but it was essential to seize it at once and put
into order with the help of powerful machine:
designed for the purpose. Airplanes overhea
must make a landing and the attack on the main-
land must be developed. So the airfield was the
first objective. .

The Japanese, like everybody else on the island,
knew that the attack was coming, but they were
in no condition to put up a stiff resistance. This
was partly due to the many long forced marches
which they made when the allies delivered feint
attacks elsewhere. The allies commanded the
sea routes round the Bornmeo coasts, so the
Japanese must move overiand. A march from
Weston to Sandakan tock a month and from
Jesselton to Tawau took six weeks, Some prison-
ers said they had recently marched to Sandakan
at the time of a feint attack, and when they
reached that town, they were immediately march
ed backagain They were exhausted. Many had
fallen sick. Many villages on the route were in
ruins by bombing from allied planes. They often
slept in the jungle. Much equipment had been
abandoned. Hospital tents in the Padas Gorge
~above Beaufort were still crowded with sick
stragglers. Those that marched through were
no condition to fight, when the real assault
.. A few approached with white flags or
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surrender-leaflets to give themselves up, and
others hid grenades in their clothing and blew
both themselves and their captors to pieces.
Those wishing to surrender had to take off their
clothes and walk forward naked with their hands
upraised. There were over five thousand Japanese
troops in Jesselton, but the railway had been
destroyed - and they could not reinforce the
defenders in Labuan.

Tt must have been thirsty work in Labuan on
that Sunday morning. At sea level the air is
oppressive and there must have been many dry
throats. The water supply was a serious difficulty.
The reservoir at the back of Government House -
hill had not been damaged, but at.the town end
the pipes and tanks were destroyed. The water
catchment area was pitted and holed with craters,
which were full of muddy water and drained into
the reservoir. Some fierce fighting developed in
that area and with two or three hundred Japanese
corpses lying in the blazing sun, the reservoir
water was obviously unfit for use.

Bore holes were sunk at once, but it was
known that holes on the level would meet foul
water. Vast quantities of chlorine were used.
Three scoops of chlorine to a given quantity of
water is a fairly large dose, but at Labuan ten

. scoops of chlorine were used at first and it was
long before this could be reduced to four.

No liquor was brought in that Sunday morning.
The army had to wait a month, which must have
seemed to some the longest thirst they had ever

known. When at last a ship brought in 48,000
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bottles of beer, the consignment allows
bottle to each of thirty thousand men, -and
rest of the bottles were put aside to await
arrival of more to make up another ration..
In spite of it all, and 2s a tribute to the o
whelming attack, there was only one casualty.,
the landing. Semeone slipped and broke his ley.
As fighting in the central part of the islang
developed, casualties begin to come in, but of i
hundreds of Australian graves on the cliffs g
Labuan, only a fraction was incurred in the
attack that morning,
Labuan people have an sffection for the sea
To the sea they look for their livelihood and from
the sea came their salvation. If the relief had
not come on the 10th June few might have been
left to welcome the relieving army. The Japanese
were organising a massacre and even the eleventh
might have been too late.
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Major General Wootten assumed control of all
tergitory taken back from the enemy, proclaimed
martial law, and cancelied all orders and regul-
ations issued by the Japanese during their occup-
ation. The old treaty of cession revived and
Labuan ‘again became a British Colony-under
military admini Jap stone of
Victory was overthrown and the two granite
slabs, recovered from the refuse dump, were re-
erected.

ration, he
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four-inch guns, saluted the commemoration
one hundred years of history.

Labuan, if it has not fulfilled every hop
expected of it in half a dozen spheres, has ny
wholly failed in any one of them. More aircral
and ships pass in and out of Labuan than in an
out of any other port in Borneo.

Chinese towkeys with their quaint imagery an
cute but callous outlook compare Labuan with
crab whose claws are fastened on the trade i
rivers round Brunei Bay. Cut his claws an
the crab will die.

Labuan lost its position as a free port whe
it was joined to the territory of North Borne
to form one colony with it. The crab let
great advantage slip from his pincers, but ther
is no knowing on what picking he may yet lay hi
claws for Labuan after ten years lapse is again
free port.

* L4 "



APPENDIX

A list of early Governors of Labm

ame
Sir James Brooke
John Scott
George Warren Edwardes
Jeremiah Thomas F\tzgerald Callaghan
John Pope-Hennessy
Henry E. Bulwer
H. J. Ussher
Charles Cameron Lee

1881 1889 Lieutenant Governors were appointed:—

Date
1848
1870
1881
1909
1917
1932
1938
1649

Hugh Low, A. S. Hamilton, and
William Hood Treacher.

A list of Sultans of Brunei since 1807
Date of

Name
Mohamed Khan Zul Alam
Mohamed Alam, known as Rajah Api
Omar Ali Saifuddin II
Abdul Mumin
Hashim Jalil-ul-Alam
Mohamed Jemal-ul-Alam -
Ahmed Tajudin
Omar Ali Salfuddm 3

A listof Angllcnn Bishops of Labuan
N Di

ame iocese

francis McDougall Labuan & Sarawak
Walter Chambers  Singapore, Labuan & Sarawak
Frederick Hose Singapore, Labuan & Sarawak
Robert Mounsey Labuan & Sarawak

Logie Danson Labuan & Sarawak
Noel Hudson Labuan & Sarawak
Francis Hollis Labuan & Sarawak
Nigel Cornwell Bornee

Two recent Books, recordmngaxt of the history of Labuan are:~

Nineteenth-Century

orneo, by Graham Irwin,
Donald Moore, Singapore, 1955.

james Brooke of Sarawak, by Emily Hahn,

2005

Barker, London, 1953.




	LABUAN STORY- MEMOIRS OF A SMALL ISLAND
	CONTENTS
	CHAPTER 1- THEN AND NOW
	CHAPTER 2- POLICY AND PIRACY
	CHAPTER 3- ANNEXATION
	CHAPTER 4- THE FIRST GOVERNOR
	CHAPTER 5- ASHORE AND AFLOAT
	CHAPTER 6- COALING DAYS
	CHAPTER 7- SAIL AND STEAM
	CHAPTER 8- CHARTERED COMPANY
	CHAPTER 9- WAR
	APPENDIX

